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AT A GLANCE

KEY FINANCIAL INDICATORS

THE GROUP

NAV

157c
ROE (AVG)

20.2%
GEARING

0.6%

UNBUNDLED FROM 
ASTRAPAK LIMITED 

AND LISTED ON ALT-X 

70c

24 MAY 17 28 FEB 18

165c

24 . 05 . 2017

MARKET SEGMENTS O P E R A T ING I N

3 MANUFACTURING SITES 
ACROSS SOUTH AFRICA

R A N D F O N T E I N

 D U R B A N

 C A P E  T O W N

FOOD DAIRYPRODUCE

 REVENUE

 R 504 478 503
 CASH GENERATED BY OPERATIONS 
 (POST WORKING CAPITAL)

 R 42 788 354
 EBITDA (12.9% MARGIN)

 R    65 290 918
 EPS & HEPS OF

 29.5cents/share

AGRICULTURE CONSTRUCTION

FOOD SAFETY 
ACCREDITED

INCL: BRITISH RETAIL CONSORTIUM 
(“BRC”) AND FOOD SAFETY SYSTEM 

CERTIFICATION (“FSSC”)

STATE OF THE ART
TECHNOLOGY

LEVEL 2 B-BBEE 
ACCREDITED
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CORPORATE EVENTS

KEY NON-FINANCIAL INDICATORS

MANAGEMENT 
ACQUIRED

>10%
EQUITY INTEREST 

ON OPEN MARKET

NEW CHAIRMAN 
AND INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

APPOINTED OCTOBER 2017

GRANT THORNTON 
APPOINTED AS EXTERNAL AUDITORS DECEMBER 2017

REPURCHASED

17.6m
SHARES 

FOR R 4.1m

DECLARED

R 75m
DIVIDEND PRIOR 
TO UNBUNDLING

UNBUNDLED 
AND LISTED ON

ALT-X 
24 MAY 2017

MANUFACTURED CAPITAL
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE OF 

R 26 252 834 
TO EXPAND PRODUCTION FACILITIES 

AND INCREASE CAPACITY WITH FURTHER 

R 33 316 000 
APPROVED FOR 2019 FINANCIAL YEAR

TECHNOLOGY FOCUSED ON 
IMPROVING CUSTOMER YIELDS, 

REDUCING CONSUMPTION OF NATURAL RESOURCES 
AND REDUCING WASTE

INTELLECTUAL 
CAPITAL

R 6.4m INVESTED 
IN TRAINING AND LEADERSHIPS

ATTENDANCE OF 

INTERNATIONAL EXHIBITIONS 
AND TRADE SHOWS 

BY TECHNICAL REPRESENTATIVES

TECHNOLOGY ARRANGEMENT 
FOR KEY MARKET SEGMENT

PREFERRED 
DEVELOPMENT PARTNER 
STATUS WITH POLYMER SUPPLIER

NATURAL
CAPITAL

9 104 TONS OF POLYMER CONVERTED: 

 

ELECTRICITY CONSUMPTION: 

 

TONS OF CO2e AT 47 882 TONS: 

 

RECYCLED WASTE: 

 

WATER CONSUMPTION OF 10 954KL: 

 

SOCIAL
CAPITAL

R 0.6m CONTRIBUTED 
TO ENTERPRISE 

DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMMES

R 0.9m CONTRIBUTED 
TO SUPPLIER 

DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

R 0.7m CONTRIBUTED 
TO SOCIAL ECONOMIC 

DEVELOPMENT INITIATIVES

R 0.8m INVESTED 
INTO EXTERNAL TRAINING 

OF DISABLED NON-EMPLOYEES

HUMAN CAPITAL

500
EMPLOYEES

R 80 204 019
TOTAL EMPLOYEE COST

42.9% 
BLACK

28.6% 
BLACK FEMALE REPRESENTATION ON BOARD RESPECTIVELY

R 6 400 000
INVESTED IN TRAINING AND LEADERSHIPS
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The Integrated Annual Report for the financial year ended 
28 February 2018 (“the Report”) represents the Master 
Plastics Group’s (“Master Plastics”, “the Company” or “the 
Group”) primary communication with its shareholders. The 
Report balances financial information and non-financial 
information disclosures to allow all stakeholders to better 
understand the business of Master Plastics.

SCOPE AND BOUNDARIES

The Report presents a holistic review of the Group’s financial 
and non-financial performance for the financial year ended 
28 February 2018. In the Report we provide a concise outline 
of the material activities of the Group and our intention is to 
provide information that will enable shareholders, potential 
investors and all stakeholders to make decisions based 
on value being created or influenced by Master Plastics, 
as well as our social and environmental impacts.

Operational activities are commented on in the broader 
context of the plastic industry and the macroeconomic 
climate. The Report further discusses Master Plastics’ 
strategy, risks and opportunities. 

MATERIALITY

In the interest of focused and concise reporting, the 
contents of this Report are based on our determined 
material matters. We define material matters as those 
issues which have the potential to significantly impact 
stakeholder value. These issues therefore have the 
potential to materially impact the strategy, governance, 
performance and prospect of the business. The process 
of determining these matters is discussed on page 11 of 
this Report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND ASSURANCE

Risk is assessed based on identifying material risk 
items that have the potential of impeding the Group’s 
performance against the six forms of capitals (financial, 
manufactured, human, intellectual, natural and social 
capital). A selection of material non-financial disclosures 
included in the Report has been reviewed by subject matter 
experts to ensure the reliability of the disclosures made. The 
co-ordination, integration and alignment of assurance 
activities remain under review. The Board of Directors 
of Master Plastics (“the Board”), supported by the Audit 

Committee, ensures an effective control environment which 
supports the integrity of the information provided. The inter-
relationship between the Group’s enterprise risk management 
processes, internal audit initiatives, external audit activities 
and management assurance interventions by specialist 
and subject matter experts further enforces comprehensive 
management assurance processes and reporting.

The Group’s external auditors, Grant Thornton, have 
provided assurance on the annual financial statements 
and expressed an unqualified audit opinion.

COMPLIANCE AND ALIGNMENT

This Report (excluding the annual financial statements) was 
prepared in compliance with the South African Companies 
Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended (“the Companies Act”), 
the Listings Requirements of the JSE (“the JSE Listings 
Requirements”), best practice guidelines as recommended 
by the King Report on Corporate Governance in South 
Africa (“King IV”) and incorporating certain reporting 
principles from the International Integrated Reporting 
Council’s IR Framework (“IR Framework”) and the Global 
Reporting Initiative’s GRI G4 Guidelines, which have been 
used for guidance around methodology. 

The annual financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the Companies Act, International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) of the 
International Accounting Standards Board, SAICA 
Financial Reporting Guide as issued by the Accounting 
Practices Committee and the interpretations issued by 
the IFRS Interpretations Committee. The consolidated 
and separate annual financial statements were 
prepared under the direction and supervision of the 
Chief Financial Officer, Salome Ratlhagane CA(SA). 

APPROVAL BY THE BOARD

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure the 
integrity of this Report. The Audit and Risk Committees, 
which have an oversight responsibility for the Report, 
recommended the Report for approval by the Board. 
The Board confirms it has collectively assessed the 
content of this Report and is of the opinion that it 
addresses all material matters and fairly presents the 
Group’s integrated performance. The Board has therefore 
approved the release of the Report.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

THABO MOKGATLHA 

Independent Non-Executive Chairman

MANLEY DIEDLOFF

Chief Executive Officer
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WHO WE ARE
CORPORATE PROFILE

Master Plastics is a group of companies involved in the manufacture and provision of various products and solutions to 
customers operating in the agricultural, food, produce, dairy and general industrial markets. Its offering extends beyond 
traditional plastic products, also being a participant in the supply and design of undercover farming nets and structures, 
and geotextile fibres for concrete reinforcement. 

The Group’s vision is to be recognised as a niche player operating in growth market sectors and to deliver above average 
returns. Its mission is to create value by meeting and exceeding customer requirements in producing and supplying 
innovative and technologically advanced products and solutions on-time, in-full and to a specified standard.

The Group continues to explore opportunities to better service its chosen end markets and deliver against a broader range 
of its customers’ requirements.

GROUP STRUCTURE

MASTER PLASTICS LIMITED
(INCORPORATING TRADING DIVISIONS OF PENINSULA PACKAGING, PLUSNET-GEOTEX & BUSSING ROAD AND LEA GLEN PROPERTIES)

MICAWBER 451
(PTY) LIMITED

(DORMANT ENTITY)

MICAWBER 430
(PTY) LIMITED

(DORMANT ENTITY)

BARRIER FILM 
CONVERTERS
(PTY) LIMITED

100% 100%100%

OUR OPERATIONS

An overview of the three operations that constitutes the Group is set out below: 

ESTABLISHED IN 

1994
SPECIALISES IN THE 

MANUFACTURE AND SUPPLY OF

extruded films and a wide variety of bags such 
as wicket, side seal, bottom seal and spine seal 

bags - both plain and printed - for use in the food 
and grocery, fruit and fresh produce, bread, milk and 
industrial markets. A growing market sector for the 
business has been the supply of FFS (form, fill and 

seal) on reel to its customer base.

137
PERMANENT EMPLOYEES 

with casual employees utilised 
during peak season only

GLOBAL ACCREDITATIONS

BRC accredited and Supplier Ethical Data Exchange 
(“Sedex”) approved

Benefits from an experienced management, 
production and sales team with key technical skills

PENINSULA PACKAGING

ESTABLISHED IN 

2002 
As a start-up project

SPECIALISES IN THE 
MANUFACTURE AND SUPPLY OF

(A) Barrier type flexible packaging (plain and printed) 
including lamination films (barrier and non-barrier);

(B) Multi-layer barrier film for food grade applications 
as well as plain and printed film for industrial use;

(C) Flexible thermo-formable barrier base 
and lidding (plain and printed);

(D) Block bottom valve bags for the
 fertiliser and chemical industries;

(E) Vacuum bags and vacuum tubing;
(F) Cheese maturation bags; and

(G) Industrial film such as industrial skin packaging.

42
PERMANENT EMPLOYEES

GLOBAL ACCREDITATIONS

ISO 22000/PAS 223/FDA accreditation for 
supply of United States Food and Drug Administration 

(“FDA”) approved packaging materials

Benefits from an experienced management, 
production and sales team with key technical skills

BARRIER FILM CONVERTERS

ESTABLISHED IN 

1995 
SPECIALISES IN THE 

MANUFACTURE AND SUPPLY OF

(A) agricultural nets for purposes 
of undercover farming;

(B) commercial nets to be used 
in various applications; and

(C) geotextile fibres for reinforcement 
of concrete structures and rope 

as an outlet for scrap from 
production processes.

Further incorporates a projects division, 
which deals with the design, 

construction and supply of shade houses 
and under-cover farming structures 

for the agricultural industry.

316
PERMANENT EMPLOYEES

Benefits from an experienced management, 
production and sales team with key technical skills

PLUSNET-GEOTEX
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OUR PEOPLE

Master Plastics recognises that the success of our business is inextricably linked to our human capital. The sourcing, training 
development and retention of our employees is therefore a key priority for the Group, and for our vision. 

EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT

Management is focused on creating a culture of continuous learning within the organisation and on making Master Plastics a 
workplace of choice for our people. This requires significant commitment from the Group’s leadership, and a meaningful time 
investment from employees themselves. The systems that support this process need to be functioning well and our human 
resources department must be responsive to various issues that may threaten to undermine our objectives. 

Master Plastics employs 500 people in three provinces of South Africa. A breakdown of employees per occupational level 
and region appears below:

REGION

KWAZULU-NATAL

36
MALE

6
FEMALE

WESTERN CAPE

81
MALE

56
FEMALE

KWAZULU-NATAL

217
MALE

104
FEMALE

AFRICAN INDIAN COLOURED NON-BLACK

OCCUPATIONAL LEVELS MALE FEMALE MALE FEMALE MALE FEMALE MALE FEMALE TOTAL

Employees with Disabilities 5 9 - - - - - - 14

Executive Management - 1 - - - - 1 - 2

Other Executive Management - 1 - - - - - - 1

Senior Management - - - - - - 3 - 3

Middle Management - - 3 1 3 1 12 4 24

Junior Management 18 3 3 1 28 7 22 8 90

Other, Semi-Skilled & Unskilled 193 92 9 1 36 38 3 8 380

211 97 15 3 67 46 41 20 500

42

137

321

TOTAL

500
334
MALE

166
FEMALE
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WHAT WE DO
STRATEGY AND VALUE CREATION

Master Plastics is a converter of input materials into 
products that are used for packaging, shading and 
certain agricultural and construction applications.

The Group’s vision is to be recognised as a niche player 
operating in growth market sectors and delivering above 
average returns. Its mission is to create medium- and 
long-term value for key stakeholders by meeting and 
exceeding their expectations and requirements. We 
aim to supply innovative and technologically advanced 
products and solutions on-time, in-full and to a specified 
standard, whilst addressing and mitigating impacts in 
our extended value chain. 

Our business model is based on sourcing and converting 
inputs, including energy, labour and different types of 
plastic raw materials into finished products for sale to 
clients in various industries. 

Our investors and shareholders have a long-term outlook, 
and our strategy is therefore directed at long-term value 
creation for investors, and for other key stakeholder groups 
associated with the business. There has been an increasing 
demand from various stakeholders for a greater degree 
of insight into the non-financial impacts of companies, 
which has led the Group to implement several practices 
related to sustainability and integrated reporting. Many 
of these practices are reflected in this Report which aims 
to provide an insight into the environmental and social 
impacts arising from our activities, and the actions we 
take to enhance, avoid or mitigate these impacts. 

Value is created through an organisation’s business 
model, which takes inputs in the shape of different 
forms of capital and transforms them through business 
activities and interactions to produce outputs and 
outcomes that, over the short-, medium- and long-
term, create or erode value for the organisation, its 
stakeholders, society and the environment.

BUSINESS MODEL

In terms of the six capitals mode of the IR Framework, 
Master Plastics’ business model can be represented 
as making use of inputs of various capitals, including 
manufactured (plant and machinery), social (stakeholder 
engagement), human (employee time) and intellectual 
(innovation) capital, in order to convert natural capital 
(energy and raw materials) into finished products or 
outputs, the sale of which will enhance the Company’s stock 
of financial capital (revenue, profits, shareholder value).

The outcomes resulting from our activities, or from the use 
of our products, can be positive or negative. Our products 
have positive impacts and outcomes for those that are 
using them, in terms of increased levels of health and 
safety and shelf life, reduced requirements for storage 
space and water, and reduced emissions for users. 
There are certain negative impacts associated with our 
industry, which include emissions from operations, energy 
and biodiversity impacts from raw materials extraction 
and processing, and pollution. Many of these impacts are 
out of our direct control, and yet we see them as important 
to influence in our extended value chain. 

FINANCIAL
Funding 
Equity

MANUFACTURED
Machinery and equipment

Production facilities

INTELLECTUAL
Knowledge, skills and know-how

IP Networks

HUMAN
Labour

SOCIAL
Stakeholder engagement

NATURAL
Materials
Resources

FINANCIAL
Financial returns 

 

MANUFACTURED
Packaging solutions

Agricultural solutions
Increased consumer yields
Storage space reductions

INTELLECTUAL
Skills

Knowledge
IP

HUMAN
Employment
Job creation

SOCIAL
Community upliftment

NATURAL
Carbon emissions from operations

Litter/Pollution
Chemical and insecticide avoidance

Carbon emissions and water reduction from use

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

Raw materials sourcing
Conversion
Extrusion

Production
Distribution

OUTPUTS

Flexible packaging
Shade netting

Ropes and twines
Geotextile fibres

Construction material
Waste

Recycling programmes

INPUTS

INPUTS

OUTCOMES

OUTCOMES
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Master Plastics relies heavily on its ability to maintain 
the highest standards in key strategic areas. We are 
committed to ensuring that these drivers of competitive 
advantage are managed well and directed at long-term 
value creation. These key areas are:

• Sourcing minimum stocks of quality raw materials 
 at competitive rates.
• Attracting, developing and retaining a talented 
 and knowledgeable workforce.
• Installing and maintaining cutting edge equipment 
 and machinery.
• Responding to key stakeholders’ concerns 
 authentically and in line with our long-term strategy. 

We have ten strategic objectives that provide a 
framework for our strategy. These objectives are 
regularly aligned with our purpose and vision and with 
our materiality profile – this ensures that we remain 
focused and relevant. We believe that these objectives 
will facilitate organic growth, unlock returns on invested 
capital and position us well within our chosen market 
segments. Our materiality process incorporates an 
environmental scan for risks and market trends, and we 
make adjustments to our strategic objectives accordingly.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

1. To be a focused group of companies specialising 
 in the manufacturing and supply of innovative 
 products and services.
2. To increase market share in fast-growing and 
 defensive segments of the market.
3. To continuously manage asset utilisation to target 
 cost savings, productivity and waste improvements.
4. To provide rapid, flexible and effective customer service.
5. To develop and leverage strategic partnerships with 
 suppliers and customers.
6. To prioritise innovation through a stakeholder 
 engagement process.
7. To expand locally and internationally in our 
 traditional core businesses. 
8. To boost growth through value-added acquisitions 
 and partnerships.
9. To be a preferred employer within industry. 
10. To be a good corporate citizen.

A recent stakeholder engagement survey, which 
targeted a selection of customers and suppliers, 
has provided us with some assurance that we are 
managing our response to stakeholder concerns 
well. This is important in the context of our long-term 
strategy, which is strongly linked to our ability to work 
well with key stakeholders.

Capital investments into the business are aimed at 
sustaining our competitive advantage and the creation 
of long-term value.

Financial capital allows us to target acquisitions and 
pursue capital investments and provides us with the 
ability to respond to new markets and consumer 
requirements quickly.

Natural capital inputs are constantly being reviewed and 
re-engineered against the long-term strategy. Master 
Plastics aims to remain ahead of industry and consumer 
requirements as they evolve within the global and local 
context. This means that we are continuously reviewing 
new raw material inputs that are lighter, stronger and 
more fit for purpose. We are also increasing levels of 
recycled content where possible – although opportunities 
for this are currently limited – and using impacts in the 
extended value chain to drive innovation in the business. 
Innovation is key to our ability to remain relevant and is a 
product of intellectual capital investments into the business. 

Manufactured capital investments ensure that we 
generate our products efficiently and on time. Cutting 
edge machinery enables us to reduce production waste 
emissions and to produce lighter stronger products. 

The most critical issues affecting our ability to deliver 
sustainable value for stakeholders relate to raw 
materials, skills and consumer perceptions.

Raw materials quality and availability is and has always 
been a key issue in the business and we remain focused 
on managing stock levels against targets and engaging 
frequently with suppliers. We assess trends in materials 
and secure our competitiveness by ensuring that we 
are a priority customer with key local and international 
materials suppliers.

Developing and retaining skills in the business (human 
capital) is an important enabler of our strategy. 
We require a skilled workforce to deliver our value 
proposition and this means ensuring that we are up to 
date on international trends. Training and exposure to 
new technologies and materials is a key focus. 

Consumer awareness and activism plays an increasing 
role in our intention to remain ahead of the issues 
surrounding plastic waste and pollution in the natural 
environment. Our ability to control consumer waste is 
limited, however this issue has the potential to affect 
our industry adversely. Apart from playing a role in the 
development of the recycling (and circular) economy, 
we are committed to educating consumers and 
managing perceptions.
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OUR VALUE CHAIN 

Over time, many manufacturing operations have been 
guilty of viewing value creation within the boundary of 
direct control. In other words, performance management 
has been measured by the achievements and impact 
of a company’s activities, being from the arrival of raw 
materials to the delivery of finished products to the 
wholesalers (from gate to gate). 

The Master Plastics operations have for many years been 
proudly committed to the principles of sustainability, 
which have included those relating to acknowledging, 
and where possible, influencing the impacts and 
activities in the Group’s extended value chain. 

Our ability to control the impacts in the plastics industry, 
such as pollution, is limited. However, we are constantly 
looking to increase our influence over these issues by 
incorporating practices such as:

• The use of sustainability and reporting practices to 
 understand the potential impacts on our extended 
 value chain. 
• Conducting research, which accurately contextualises 
 the issues in our local environment.
• Identifying ways in which the erosion of value can 
 be mitigated.
• Sharing information and lobbying where necessary.
• Making operational decisions that are aligned with 
 long-term value creation for key stakeholders.

NATURAL CAPITAL

The extraction phase of our value chain has major 
environmental impacts, if left unmitigated. Plastic raw 
materials are largely oil or coal based, and processes in this 
phase have a high carbon emission impact. Our ability to 
control these impacts is primarily a function of:

• product and material innovation, where we can 
 collaborate with suppliers to develop lighter, stronger 
 materials and products; and 
• sourcing more recycled materials and promoting 
 a circular economy. 

Key to the achievement of these objectives is stakeholder 
engagement, which is a major focus area for the business.

Our ability to control natural capital impacts within our 
own operation’s increases, but it is no less challenging. 
Due to the use of oil or coal based raw materials, our 
own Scope 3 carbon emissions are relatively high. This 
means that any interventions that result in the relative 
reduction of virgin raw materials per product unit should 
continuously be explored. Products that can be made 

with the same strength features, using less raw materials 
will have the effect of lowering our carbon footprint, 
as will the use of recycled raw materials. One of the 
challenges is the availability of food grade recycled raw 
materials in South Africa, and we are constantly working 
with stakeholders to address this. Reducing our own 
waste in the next few years is another objective that will 
reduce our emissions and reduce the harmful effects 
relating to landfill impacts in South Africa. In this last 
cycle we have seen great results from production and 
waste efficiency programmes, and we are on schedule as 
far as internal targets are concerned.

The issue that has perhaps received the most media 
coverage of late is that of end-use consumer pollution, and 
particularly, plastic pollution in our oceans - this should 
be a major concern for all of us. South Africa does not 
manifest the same symptoms of plastic pollution as some 
of the global regions that are driving these perceptions, 
and our country has in fact been a progressive example for 
other regions in terms of private initiatives around recycling 
and the circular economy. It is important for us to manage 
these perceptions in the local context whilst maintaining 
our commitment to making a difference wherever we can.

F
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SOCIAL CAPITAL

Our products add tremendous value to those that use 
them, and these positive impacts are often not realised 
by the consumer. Our products reduce environmental 
impacts, reduce food waste and reduce water and energy 
requirements for consumers. We work with wholesalers, 
agents and licensees to innovate towards value creation.

Negative impacts in the social context, such as litter, 
are also mostly beyond our direct control. Here we are 
embarking on initiatives that will drive awareness and 
actions by all players in the industry value chain to 
change mindsets and behaviour.

HUMAN CAPITAL

We employ and train many people in our operations 
and we take pride in their personal and career path 
development. Our high employee retention rates are 
testimony to our focus on employee value proposition 
and this is a material matter for the Company.

MANUFACTURED AND INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL 

Master Plastics strives to be a leading example in the 
markets and segments in which we operate. Our focus 
on innovation and quality is a major contributor to this 
achievement. By staying abreast of global trends and 
technologies, and by acquiring and maintaining the best 
equipment in our industry, we can produce products that 
perform with a lower impact. Our team is highly qualified, 
and we retain the most valuable skills and experience to 
ensure that our value proposition is continuously relevant. 

OUR SUPPLY CHAIN

Raw material quality and availability is an important 
issue in our industry, and this means that the 
management of our supply chain must be of the highest 
standards. Our ability to deliver on time and in full, and to 
create and add value for stakeholders in that the supply 
chain, is fundamental to our offering. 

The Master Plastics supply chain is built on key pillars 
that collectively provide a platform for value creation, for 
customers and suppliers:

• Good relationships
• Transparency and collaboration
• Sustainability
• Systems
• Metrics
• Communication

RISK AND MATERIALITY

HOW WE MANAGE RISK

The Board has delegated to executive management 
the responsibility of implementing and executing the 
Board’s risk strategy by means of risk management 
plans, systems and processes. A risk management plan 
and policy has been developed and communicated 
throughout the Group, to ensure that an appropriate 
risk control framework is maintained, and that risk is 
integrated into the day-to-day activities of the Group. 

The committee expresses an annual opinion and 
monitors the Group’s level of risk tolerance. Risks are 
prioritised, ranked and rated through the Barn-Owl 
technology platform, to focus management’s responses 
and interventions. A systematic, documented, formal 
assessment of the risks affecting the Group is conducted 
on an ongoing basis, and detailed reports and risk registers 
are reviewed and presented at least twice per year. 

Key risks are reported to the Risk Committee and, where 
necessary, escalated to the Board. As an example, the 
Risk Committee will be responsible for reviews regarding 
the adequacy of systems and controls, interest rate 
and liquidity risks, market risk, legislative risk, corporate 
governance and reputation risks, credit risk, exchange 
rate exposure, investment risk, insurable losses, as well 
as insurance risks, business continuity risk and financial 
risk. As recommended by King IV, the Risk Committee also 
ensures that an effective IT internal control framework 
exists, that the IT strategy is integrated and aligned with 
the Group’s strategy and business processes, and that IT 
risks are addressed appropriately. 

The Group has not taken any undue risk in the pursuit 
of reward and has suffered no material losses during 
the review period as a result of any unusual or undue 
risk taken. Given the processes and measures described 
above, the Risk Committee is of the view, and has 
accordingly provided assurance to the Board, that risk 
is managed and controlled prudently and effectively 
throughout the Group. 

MATERIALITY

Master Plastics engages in ongoing materiality 
determination processes. The materiality process seeks 
to establish the relative importance of key environmental, 
social and governance issues for the organisation and its 
stakeholders, within the South African context. 

Material issues are determined and interrogated by 
senior management, and in consultation with external 
consultants where deemed necessary, and are based on 
inputs received from various operational structures, as 
well as certain key stakeholders, where relevant.  
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A stakeholder survey was commissioned to establish 
issues and levels of concern by key stakeholders and the 
results were fed into the materiality process. Issues are 
mapped and cross referenced using relative valuations 
for Likelihood, Concern and Impact for the Group and 
key stakeholder groups. This process also helps to inform 
Report content.

Our most recent materiality process incorporated various 
workshop exercises that were aimed at integrating 
materiality and strategy, and developing our reporting 
process. The following process was followed and 
summary reached:

MATERIALITY MAPPING
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STAKEHOLDER EXPECTATIONS

• Material issues were mapped against strategic 
 objectives, and an additional strategic objective was 
 added as a result. 
• The performance management approach to each 
 strategic objective was examined and 
 recommendations made for performance indicators 
 where applicable.
• Our accountability matrix for material issues 
 was re-assessed using the RACI methodology. 
 This provided clarity for senior executives and 
 operational management. 
• The management approach to each material 
 issue was unpacked, and risk-management, policy, 
 measurement and evaluation practices were reviewed.
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WHAT WE STRIVE FOR
OUR VALUES

Our values represent the compass for our actions and serve to anchor every aspect of our business in a set of commonly-
held beliefs and commitments.

OUR VALUE SYSTEM

LEADERSHIP INTEGRITY ACCOUNTABILITY
DIVERSITY 

AND 
RESPECT

QUALITY
AND

EXCELLENCE
TEAMWORK

ETHICS AND STANDARDS

From the Board down, we demand adherence to the highest standard of ethical behaviour, both within and outside 
of the business environment. Respect for human rights is the general underlying principle guiding all engagements. 
Our policies and procedures embody the qualities of effective ethical leadership and engagement, through integrity, 
competence, responsibility, accountability, fairness and transparency. We have a comprehensive Code of Conduct 
which has been issued to all employees and against which we measure ethical compliance. We promote a diversified 
workplace and strive to achieve excellence in what we do.

Given the markets in which we operate, the Group is subject to regular third-party review processes and validations. 
Ethical audits by major customers and certification processes with regards to its ISO, BRC, FSSC and FDA accreditations 
demands that the Group always adhere to ethical and best practices in all its business processes. The Group remains fully 
accredited and possesses all the relevant accreditations and licenses necessary to conduct its business.

INDUSTRY INVOLVEMENT

The Group is an active member of the Plastics Convertors Association of South Africa and Plastics | SA. Together with 
these industry associations, the Group plays an active role in the growth and development of the South African industry 
and strives to address plastics-related issues, influence role-players and make plastic the material of choice, whilst 
simultaneously educating on plastic and its true impact on the environment, in respect of which many misconceptions 
exist. Details of the various initiatives administered by these industry associations can be found on their respective 
websites www.plasticsinfo.co.za and www.pcasa.co.za.
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LEADERSHIP AND STAKEHOLDERS
CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

The year under review represented our first full 
financial year of trading as the Master Plastics Group 
of companies. The Group unbundled and listed on the 
Alt-X Exchange of the JSE on 24 May 2017. The year has 
been dominated by efforts to establish a platform for 
success and ensuring that those essential disciplines 
necessary are well-defined and embedded in the 
culture of the organisation. 

As a Board, we are very pleased to report that all goals and 
targets set for this maiden year – both of a financial and 
non-financial nature – have been achieved and the Group 
and its stakeholders can rest assured that a sustainable 
asset base and business model has been delivered.  

Against this backdrop, I am pleased to deliver to you our 
2018 Integrated Annual Report.

OUR INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT

We have made a commitment to continually improve our 
integrated reporting and have made certain refinements, 
thus enhancing this year’s Report to present a more 
holistic view of the Group, operations, and those material 
matters that impact the business. 

We believe the Report will enable our stakeholders to 
better understand some of the key socio-economic, 
governance and environmental trends and factors that 
may affect the Group now and in the future, and to 
appreciate the impact of our operations from a more 
balanced perspective.

ECONOMIC AND OPERATING ENVIRONMENTS

The economic environment again proved challenging. 
Consumer spending, which has a material impact on the 
business of Master Plastics, remained weak as consumers 
faced rising inflation, interest rates and tax hikes – all 
adversely impacting disposable income. Unemployment 
rates continued to remain high and extreme weather 
conditions, both locally and abroad, directly and 
indirectly impacted the economy and operations. Of 
further concern was the political dynamic in South Africa 
and the related volatility of the Rand. 

Some optimism was seen towards the end of the 
financial year due to an improvement in the currency 
exchange rate and a more positive overall outlook 
following certain political events and outcomes in our 
country. Time will tell whether these will translate into 
a more buoyant economy over the next 12 months and 
the Board and executives of the Company continue 
to monitor and evolve the business plan to be well 
positioned for this. 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The economic conditions referred to above provided a 
challenging trading environment during the past year. 
Despite this, our Group performed well and produced 
strong results, with a headline earnings per share of 
29.51 cents being reported, a very satisfactory 24.5% 
higher than the Pre-Listing Statement forecast of 
23.68 cents. The Board is pleased with the performance of 
the Group during the year. 

Further details on our strategy and overall performance 
are provided in the relevant sections of the Report.

GOVERNANCE AND LEADERSHIP

The Group remains committed to very high standards 
of corporate governance, with accountability and 
transparency being the key guiding principles in all 
decision-making processes. As is outlined more fully in the 
Corporate Governance Report on page 26, management 
and the Board are guided by the principles contained in 
King IV and the JSE Listings Requirements.

On behalf of the Board I would also like to take this 
opportunity to thank Phumzile Langeni, our previous 
Chairperson who resigned during the year, for her 
contribution to the Group. We also welcomed Sibongile 
Masinga to the Board as an Independent Non-Executive 
Director and chairperson of the Audit Committee and 
wish her all the best.

PROSPECTS

Despite the muted growth prospects of the South African 
economy in the year ahead, the Board remains of the 
view that the Group is well-poised for success in the 
future, with clear strategies in place under the direction 
of sound leadership.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board I would like to thank 
management, employees, suppliers, customers and all 
other stakeholders for their contributions to a successful 
year. I wish to also thank my fellow Directors for their 
valuable insight, guidance and contribution.

THABO MOKGATLHA 

Independent Non-Executive Chairman
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PLASTICS, THE ENVIRONMENT 
AND A CIRCULAR ECONOMY

The way in which we conduct business and participate 
in the economy continues to evolve and is doing so at an 
ever-increasing rate. Our stakeholders demand that we 
remain at least aware of developing trends and consider 
these in the context of our business model and strategic 
objectives, ensuring the delivery of a resilient and 
sustainable business model. Although financial returns 
remain the most critical metric, stakeholders wish to see 
these achieved in a sustainable and environmentally 
friendly manner which preserves and protects natural 
resources and maximises resource efficiency.

The latest global catchphrase is undoubtedly a “circular 
economy”. The circular economy is seen to represent 
an alternative, more sustainable model to that of the 
traditional linear economy. The linear model follows the 
path of produce, use and then dispose into the waste 
stream. A circular economy, in contrast, requires that 
resources are kept in use for as long as possible, that 
maximum value is extracted from them whilst in use and 
that we then look to recover and regenerate products 
and materials at the end of their life. 

Plastic possesses certain unique characteristics which 
have enabled it to contribute to a more resource efficient 
future in support of a circular economy. Against the 
backdrop of millions of tons of plastic waste that ends 
up in the oceans every year, the contribution of plastics 
in the circular economy is, however, often ignored. Plastic 
has numerous applications that has helped tackle 
several challenges in society, to name but a few:

• light and innovative materials that have replaced 
 other mediums such as steel and glass, thereby 
 reducing carbon emissions and fuel consumption 
 during production and transportation;
• high performance insulation materials resulting in 
 saving of electricity and fuel bills;
• in packaging, plastics have assisted by helping to 
 ensure food safety, extended shelf life and in limiting 
 food waste; and
• in agriculture, introducing products that enhance 
 food quality increases production yields per hectare, 
 reduces water usage and protects crops against 
 extreme weather conditions.

Plastic makes a significant contribution to a circular 
economy when its entire life cycle is considered. However, 
we cannot ignore that the way in which plastic is 

often discarded fails to maximise the value that can 
potentially be extracted, and damages the image of 
the medium. This is, however, not something that can 
be addressed by us in isolation and will require much 
greater co-operation, commitment and investment by 
all key players in this complex value chain, including the 
producers of polymers, technology providers, converters, 
recyclers, retailers and consumers. We are seeing several 
trends developing overseas and these are migrating to 
our shores a lot quicker than in the past given that we 
operate in a global economy with multi-nationals driving 
our markets towards internationally adopted standards. 
These include the:

• review of input materials used to produce products;
• review of the way in which plastic products are 
 designed, produced and decorated;
• reduction of single-use plastic items;
• increase in recycled content;
• development of markets for recycled plastics to 
 increase the drive to recycle; and
• increase of biodegradable and compostable plastic 
 that does not cause harm to the ecosystem.

Plastic waste, and most critically the littering thereof into 
the environment, needs to be addressed. However, this 
is a complex problem given social trends and individual 
behavioural patterns such as on-the-go consumption of 
food and drink which favours the use of single-use plastics. 
Single use plastics are found to represent more than 50% 
of litter found in our oceans and the problem is expected 
to continue to grow if the initiatives introduced to curb and 
reduce plastic waste and littering are not successful. 

As a Group, we will continue to engage actively on all 
fronts to ensure that we stay abreast of all developments 
and that we are also seen to be contributing and doing 
the right things, which include:

• engaging with polymer and technology suppliers 
 to ensure that we remain informed of the nature and 
 impact of any new developments in their industries, 
 as well as any new research and development 
 initiatives and alternate product offerings to be 
 considered in our production processes in support of 
 waste and recycling initiatives;
• actively engaging with customers to review the way 
 their products are designed, produced and 
 decorated, giving due consideration to potential 
 opportunities for down-gauging and the use of 
 alternate input materials to improve or increase the 
 recyclability of their products;

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT: 
INDUSTRY, STRATEGY AND PERFORMANCE
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• participate as an active member of the various 
 industry bodies to contribute to clean up and 
 education initiatives, specifically in respect of littering 
 and recycling; and
• staying informed about international trends, 
 development and proposed legislation.

We believe that through an active stance and by playing 
these roles, this can result in new opportunities for 
innovation, growth, investment and job creation in the 
Group and the economy.

“WE GROW” INITIATIVE AND TRANSFORMATION

As a Group we appreciate and understand the role we 
play and the impact we have in our community. During 
the financial year, the Group launched our “We Grow” 
programme, which is directed both internally (staff 
well-being, training and development, upskilling) and 
externally (corporate and social responsibility). We are 
already planning for 2019 and will look to be involved in 
an expanded number of initiatives and programmes that 
will impact and improve the lives of our employees and 
the communities within which we operate. 

During the year, a total amount of R 8.5 million was spent 
on an array of initiatives which included:

• R 0.6 million on Enterprise Development initiatives.
• R 0.7 million on Socio Economic Development initiatives.
• R 0.9 million on Supplier Development initiatives.
• R 6.0 million on learnerships, training and 
 development initiatives internally.
• R 0.8 million on training and development initiatives 
 for disabled people externally.

In support of small and black-owned businesses, the 
Group allocated R 52.5 million or 24.1% of its discretionary 
procurement spend to Exempt Micro Enterprises and 
Qualifying Small Enterprises during the year. This 
represented a 160% increase in these areas when 
compared to the prior year. 

The Group completed its first B-BBEE audit under the 
revised DTI codes in May 2017, shortly after its unbundling. 
Recognising its impact and responsibility in the local 
economy, and by redirecting its spend, and driving 
contributing initiatives, the Group achieved a Level 2 rating 
on 24 May 2018. We are extremely proud of this achievement 
and the value this will add to our stakeholders.

FINANCIAL AND CORPORATE PERSPECTIVE

The results for the financial year are reported to the 
market with a great sense of pride in the achievements 
and contributions of all of those who participated in and 

supported the Group during its first full year of trading. 
We commenced the year with a clear strategic plan and 
a new identity faced with delivering against our detailed 
plans presented at the time of our listing. We are pleased 
to say that on the whole the team has delivered. 

The reported results may leave the impression that this 
was a year during which tailwinds were enjoyed by the 
Group, but this was not the case and it was only achieved 
through a combination of diligence and focused 
effort from the business, its people, the Board and 
management to ensure that the business delivered on 
the commitments and forecasts made to stakeholders. 
Many lessons were learnt by the business and much 
personal development and growth experienced by the 
team across the board. 

Key challenges faced by the Group during the financial 
year included several recurring themes that have simply 
become par-for-the-course in local industry: 

• The exchange rate – the severe impact of which 
 was hidden by its strengthening towards the end 
 of the financial year. 
• Polymer pricing and availability – due to import 
 parity pricing policies, supply interruption following 
 major storms in the US, unplanned downtime from 
 the major local supplier and subsequent storms 
 in Durban harbour which delayed shipments for 
 extended periods.
• Increases in interest rates – dampening an already 
 depressed economy.
• The ever-increasing cost of living reducing purchasing 
 power of consumers. 
• Environmental factors – whether storms or drought 
 – impacting negatively on outputs of customers, 
 specifically those directly or indirectly involved in 
 agriculture and/or food production.
• Political dynamics – impacting capital investment 
 decision-making of key customers, most notably in 
 the agricultural sector.

Relationships in all areas of the supply chain – with 
both polymer suppliers and end customers – were 
strained due to extended polymer shortages, and we 
must commend all these stakeholders and their local 
representatives for recognising the severity of the issues 
and working together with our teams to make the best 
out of a situation that was potentially very damaging to 
all parties. Normality, in terms of the supply situation at 
least, has returned to the markets.

Extreme weather conditions – be it drought or storms 
– also impacted severely on the customer base and 
especially in the fruit and fresh produce markets.  
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In areas like the Western Cape we saw crop yields 
and related product exports decline by between 20% 
to 30% in a variety of categories. Despite this trend 
we have seen our Cape Town operation experiencing 
volume growth by increasing its share of the reduced 
market through innovation and significantly improved 
customer satisfaction ratings. The extreme weather 
patterns – which are now the norm – are causing 
farming organisations to embrace more scientific 
farming methods which includes undercover farming 
methodologies. This positive impact has been seen in 
our Plusnet-Geotex operation which manufactures and 
supplies agricultural nets and provides a full turnkey 
construction service to customers. We continue to 
invest in this market to benefit from this trend and to 
ensure that we can meet the forecasted demand of our 
customer base over the next few years.

Faced with these old “enemies”, out to erode value, there 
were several factors that enabled the Group to exceed 
both expectations and financial forecasts, being:

• The resilience of the business and the will and drive 
 of management and the people to succeed despite 
 adverse external market conditions.
• The successful execution on numerous strategies 
 directly associated with the vision to be recognised 
 as a niche player operating in defensive and 
 growth market sectors capable of delivering 
 above average returns.

• Staying true to our mission to create value by 
 meeting and exceeding customer requirements in 
 producing and supplying innovative and 
 technologically advanced products on-time, in-full 
 and to a specified standard.
• A strong focus on operational performance 
 measurement, productivity and waste improvements.
• Effective capital and maintenance expenditure. 
• The continued support and appreciation of all 
 stakeholders who have all continued to embrace 
 Master Plastics and share in the excitement of the 
 journey we are experiencing.

We continue to focus on minimising waste, optimising 
utilisation and product mix, and maximising productivity 
and financial returns across our business. Our capital 
investment model, which also supports the afore-
mentioned focus areas, is fully aligned with our business 
strategies as we seek to invest in niche and/or growing 
market sectors where we have some form of security of 
returns and can therefore invest with a degree of comfort. 
As previously stated, we are investing into the food, fresh 
produce and agricultural market sectors as we see a 
growing appetite for the value-added product offerings 
we are capable of delivering and despite the adverse 
factors influencing these markets in the short-term, 
they remain resilient with the growth prospects in the 
medium-term remaining sound.

AUDITED 
FINANCIAL 

YEAR ENDED
28 FEB 2018

PRE-LISTING 
STATEMENT 

FORECAST 
FOR THE 

FINANCIAL 
YEAR ENDED

28 FEB 2018

AUDITED 
TWO-MONTH 

PERIOD 
ENDED

28 FEB 2017

Revenue (R’000) 504 479 503 139 9 347

Normalised Earnings/(Loss) 
Before Interest, Taxation, Depreciation and Amortisation (R’000) 65 291 54 795 (664)
Basic Earnings / (Loss) per share (cents) 29.46 23.68 (13.9)

Headline Earnings/(Loss) per share (cents) 29.51 23.68 (13.9)

Cash generated from/(utilised by) operations 
before working capital changes (R’000) 66 041 (664)
Capital expenditure (R’000) 26 252 1 118

Net Tangible Asset Value per share (cents) 157 168

Ordinary shares in issue (number) 117 535 232 135 131 250

Gearing ratio (%) 0.6 -35.8

Return on Average Capital Employed (%) 20.2 -0.7

The following key financial highlights were reported for the year ended 28 February 2018:
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From a corporate perspective, it was a busy year, with 
the following representing the key events in respect of 
the Group:

• Declared a R 75.0 million dividend to its then parent, 
 Astrapak Limited, prior to the unbundling.
• Unbundled from parent group and listed on the 
 Alt-X Exchange of the JSE on 24 May 2017.
• Repurchased a total of 17.6 million shares at a total 
 consideration of R 4.1 million. 3.5 million of these 
 shares were repurchased in the open market at 
 an average price of R 1.12 per share. The balance was 
 acquired from Astrapak Limited and the Astrapak 
 Share Option Scheme at 1 cent per share as per the 
 unbundling agreements between the parties.
• Management acquired >10% equity interest in the 
 open market.
• A new Chairman and a new Independent 
 Non-Executive Director was appointed to the Board 
 on 13 October 2017.
• Grant Thornton was appointed as external auditors 
 effective 19 December 2017.
• Approved a facility and capacity expansion 
 programme for the Plusnet-Geotex operation to be 
 effected during the first half of the 2019 financial year.

CUSTOMER PERSPECTIVE

Our focus since listing has been to maintain and 
improve our relationships with existing customers and 
suppliers. We believe this will provide the platform 
for organic growth and for the development of new 
markets and offerings. We have managed to gain 
several new customers during the year and have 
further entrenched existing relationships with suppliers. 

Feedback received from our stakeholder engagement 
process indicates that we are progressing well in meeting 
both our customer-centred and supply chain objectives, 
which will underwrite our future growth.

Our customer-centred objectives are:

• to provide rapid, flexible and effective customer 
 service; and
• to develop and leverage strategic partnerships with 
 suppliers and customers.

Our supply chain remains a key strength area of the 
business and we have maintained and exceeded all 
targets relating to these objectives.

We believe that the drivers of customer value are linked to:

• our ability to trade responsibly and ethically;
• to deliver on-time, in-full and to a specified 
 standard; and
• to be responsive, innovative and knowledgeable.

PROCESS PERSPECTIVE

Our initial attention in the early part of the year was 
focused on building a platform and systems from 
which strategic initiatives can be executed. Without 
solid foundations our strategy cannot be achieved. Our 
results illustrate the benefit of this approach, and the 
efficiencies that we have managed to achieve are a key 
contributor to our success this year. As is the case with 
our other stated objectives, the operational objectives 
are also linked to our remuneration policies through our 
short-term incentive programmes as this is a key area 
for the business in enabling it to deliver on several of 
its other strategic objectives. We are pleased with the 
achievements of the businesses and all material targets 
set for the various businesses were achieved. 

Our operational objectives are: 

• to continuously manage asset allocation and 
 utilisation, to target cost savings, productivity 
 and waste improvements;
• to be a preferred employer within the industry; and
• to be a good corporate citizen.

There are many important processes in our business and 
collectively these contribute meaningfully to our ability 
to create value. Excellence in following process areas is 
what we strive for:

• Manufacturing
• Procurement and supply chain
• Sales and marketing
• Capital allocation and management 
• Quality management
• Materials (asset) control
• Skills development
• Budgeting
• Reporting/IT Systems
• Communications
• Research and development 
• Remuneration

LEARNING AND GROWTH PERSPECTIVE

Our focus remains on retaining, developing and 
improving skills in the organisation and targeting 
organic growth. The results of this focus has been good, 
as we now look to further innovate and develop into new 
segments and markets. 

Our objective in this regard is to prioritise innovation 
through stakeholder engagement processes.
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MANLEY DIEDLOFF

Chief Executive Officer

To achieve our objectives and to deliver value, we will 
need to drive information management in the business 
through measurement and reporting, and identify and 
close gaps relating to skills, knowledge, execution and 
culture. We have been very good in this area and as 
indicated earlier in the Report, we launched the “We Grow” 
programme during the year. Part of this programme is 
directly related to learning and growth objectives within our 
business and the goal of enhancing the quality of life of 
our employees whilst advancing our business.

Developing our brand and reputation will become 
increasingly important as an enabler of growth.

LOOKING AHEAD

There is generally positive sentiment in the country in 
respect of future economic growth, and we expect that 
this will likely influence the medium- to long-term outlook, 
whilst the short-term status quo remains. Whilst the 
stronger exchange rate in the early part of the financial 
year had resulted in a reversal of some of the substantial 
polymer price increases experienced at the end of last 
year, this has already been offset by the increase in the 
dollar denominated oil price over the last few months 
and the return to a weaker currency. We envision that the 
local polymer prices will continue to increase over the 
next few months, exerting further pressure on customers 
and consumers, once again testing our strategies and 
processes in respect of managing price movements. 
The uncertainty around land expropriation policies has 
undoubtedly delayed capital investment into several 
sectors, most specifically agriculture, and we expect 
this to continue until clarification in this regard is 
provided by government. 

We have invested into specific market sectors and 
will look towards these investments making a positive 
contribution to the Group during the new financial year. 
We will continue to remain prudent with capital to ensure 
that funding is only applied to investments and projects 
that are expected to provide satisfactory returns over a 
reasonable period. The Group remains positive on the 
outlook for its chosen market sectors throughout the 
business cycle and will continue to assess quality growth 
opportunities in these more defensive markets.

CONCLUSION AND APPRECIATION

As we navigate these ever-changing and at times very 
volatile markets, we remain focused on executing and 
delivering on our core business strategies to ensure that 
we build a more efficient and resilient business that will 
create value for and benefit all our stakeholders. 

Our people, suppliers, customers, shareholders and 
partners are all key contributors on this journey and I 
thank them all for their commitment and loyal support.

I wish to extend my appreciation to my management 
teams, the employees, advisors and the Non-Executive 
Directors for their guidance and support during the year.
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THABO MOKGATLHA (43)

CRAIG MCDOUGALL (65)

QUALIFICATIONS

Hons BCompt (CTA), CA(SA)

NATIONALITY

South African

FUNCTION

Independent Non-Executive Director
Chairman of Board of Directors

DATE OF APPOINTMENT

13 April 2017

QUALIFICATIONS

BA, HDPM

NATIONALITY

South African

FUNCTION

Independent 
Non-Executive Director

DATE OF APPOINTMENT

13 April 2017

Thabo Mokgatlha previously served as an Independent 
Non-Executive Director on the Astrapak Board. He was 
also previously Head of Treasury and Business of the 
Royal Bafokeng Nation, Financial Director of Royal 
Bafokeng Resources Management Services Proprietary 
Limited and a Non-Executive Director of Royal Bafokeng 
Holdings Proprietary Limited. He joined the Implats 
board in February 2003 as a nominee of the Royal 
Bafokeng Nation. He is an Independent Non-Executive 
Director and member of the audit committees of Hyprop 
Investments Limited, York Timbers Limited, 4AX Limited 
and Nutritional Holdings Limited.

Craig McDougall previously served as an Independent 
Non-Executive Director on the Astrapak Board. He 
gained extensive operational management experience 
at SABMiller, where he served for 29 years in numerous 
management and Executive roles including Managing 
Director of operating companies - including start-up 
operations in Africa and Europe and Operations Director 
for Africa and Asia. He also served on many boards of 
SAB Miller companies and associate companies as an 
Executive Director, and retired from SABMiller in 2009. 
He is currently a management consultant working in 
a variety of capacities including coaching/mentoring; 
formulating and implementing business plans/strategies 
and interim management.

Sibongile Masinga is one of the founding members of the 
Afropulse Group. Prior to this she was the chief operating 
officer and head of Corporate Advisory at Quartile 
Capital. She has held various positions in financial 
services including at DBSA and Gensec. She also gained 
merchant banking experience with Hill Samuel in London. 
She currently serves on the following boards: National 
Student Financial Aid Scheme and Itumeleng Petra 
Diamonds Employee Trust. She also sits on applicable 
sub-committees. Bongi was a Non-Executive Director 
of Mvelaserve prior to the purchase of Mvelaserve by 
Bidvest on whose Board she now also serves.

Günter Steffens previously served as an Independent 
Non-Executive Director on the Astrapak Board. After 
taking banking exams in Germany, he worked for banks 
in Canada, Switzerland and France. Dresdner Bank AG 
transferred him to London to establish the bank’s office 
there. As General Manager he ran Dresdner Bank in 
London for 25 years and subsequently managed their 
business as Geographic Head for South and southern 
Africa in Johannesburg. He retired in 2002 and is now 
a Non-Executive Director on numerous listed and 
unlisted companies in South Africa and Germany.

SIBONGILE MASINGA (51)

GÜNTER STEFFENS (80)

THE BOARD

QUALIFICATIONS

B Comm (Acc), USA-SA Leadership 
and Enterpreneurship Programme 
(Wharton School of Business)
NATIONALITY

South African
FUNCTION

Independent 
Non-Executive Director
DATE OF APPOINTMENT

13 October 2017

QUALIFICATIONS

OBE

NATIONALITY

German

FUNCTION

Independent 
Non-Executive Director

DATE OF APPOINTMENT

13 April 2017
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PAUL BOTHA (55)

QUALIFICATIONS

BA LLB, Dip Company Law 
and Dip Tax

NATIONALITY

South African

FUNCTION

Non-Independent 
Non-Executive Director

DATE OF APPOINTMENT

13 April 2017

Paul Botha is Chief Executive Officer and co-founder of 
Metier Private Equity Proprietary Limited (“Metier”) and 
a principal of the Lereko Metier Capital Growth Fund. He 
is an attorney and notary public having been in private 
practice since 1986. In 1998, he established an advisory 
division for Brait and was its Chief Executive Officer until 
2003. Previously, he was a senior commercial law partner in 
the Johannesburg practice of Fasken Martineau (previously 
named Bell Dewar & Hall), where he specialised in mergers 
and acquisitions and cross-border work across a number 
of industries. Paul has an outstanding record in executing 
corporate transactions of which the majority have involved 
private equity transactions and the entrepreneurial 
multidisciplinary assignments which 
Metier targets.

Manley Diedloff previously served as Group Managing 
Director and Chief Financial Officer of Astrapak Limited. 
He completed his articles with Fisher Hoffman & Stride 
in December 1994. He was then employed as a financial 
manager with Bupa Health Services in the United 
Kingdom before joining HSBC Bank plc as internal audit 
manager. Upon his return to South Africa, he joined 
Grinaker Construction as an accountant and after three 
years moved to Astrapak as Group Accountant.

Salome Ratlhagane previously served as Group Financial 
Manager and Company Secretary of Astrapak. She 
completed her articles with Deloitte (Johannesburg) 
and qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 2011. After 
completing her articles, she went on a secondment to 
Stamford, Connecticut, USA where she was exposed to 
various financial services clients. On her return to South 
Africa, she took up an accountant position at MultiChoice 
Africa before joining Astrapak in March 2013 as an 
assistant Group Financial Manager. In August 2014, she 
was promoted to Group Financial Manager of Astrapak. 
She was further appointed as Astrapak’s Company 
Secretary on 18 December 2015.

Peter Rowse is a CFA® charterholder and a Principal 
at Metier in its Capital Growth Funds. He joined Metier 
in 2010 and has led investments in the education, 
healthcare, manufacturing, industrial services, non-
banking financial services and consumer retail sectors. 
Peter also plays a coverage role for Metier across Sub-
Saharan Africa, focusing on the West Africa region, where 
he has assessed several transactions. 

MANLEY DIEDLOFF (48)

SALOME RATLHAGANE (33) PETER ROWSE (31)

QUALIFICATIONS

B Comm (Acc)

NATIONALITY

South African

FUNCTION

Executive Director - 
Chief Executive Officer

DATE OF APPOINTMENT

28 November 2016

QUALIFICATIONS

Hons B Comm (Acc), CA (SA)

NATIONALITY

South African

FUNCTION

Executive Director - Chief FInancial 
Officer & Company Secretary

DATE OF APPOINTMENT

13 April 2017

QUALIFICATIONS

B Comm (Financial Analysis) Hons, 
CFA (SA)

NATIONALITY

South African

FUNCTION

Alternate Director to P Botha

DATE OF APPOINTMENT

11 September 2017
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KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Using integrated and sustainability reporting methodologies, Master Plastics identifies key stakeholder groups that 
are important for the Group, and for whom the Group is important. Our approach incorporates workshops with key 
executives and management and uses outputs from the materiality process. The process includes an examination of 
our engagement with key stakeholders, including issues arising from those engagements and our responses examined 
against interests, expectations and objectives. 

KEY STAKEHOLDER GROUPS

Our key stakeholder groups include customers, distributors and wholesalers, suppliers, employees, trade unions, non-
governmental organisations, financiers, investors and our professional membership associations.

BOARD CLASSIFICATION

4
INDEPENDENT 

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

1
NON-INDEPENDENT 

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

2
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

BOARD RACE

3
BLACK DIRECTORS

4
NON-BLACK DIRECTORS

77

BOARD GENDER AND RACE

2
BLACK 

FEMALE DIRECTORS

1
BLACK

MALE DIRECTORS

4
NON-BLACK DIRECTORS

7

MASTER PLASTICS KEY STAKEHOLDER GROUPS
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GROUP STAKEHOLDERS NATURE OF ENGAGEMENT WHAT MATTERS

INVESTORS
current and future

Investor meetings and presentations
Annual General Meeting
SENS
Integrated Annual Report
Press releases

Business strategy and plans
Group performance and sustainability
Financial measures
Compliance and regulatory requirements
Remuneration practices

CUSTOMERS
current and future

Customer meetings
Site visits
Workshops
Communications: Advertising, marketing
and brochures
Product Development forums

Innovation
Sustainability and growth
Product and service offerings
Cost drivers and mitigation

EMPLOYEES, TRADE UNIONS 
AND ASSOCIATIONS

Contracts
Regular meetings at various levels
Training and skills 
development programmes
Performance appraisals
Workplace climate surveys
Employment Equity forums
Roadshows

Code of conduct, values and ethics
Health and safety
Compliance and risk
Transformation
Training and advancement
Business performance and plans
Remuneration

SUPPLIERS AND 
SERVICE PROVIDERS

Supplier meetings
Site visits
Workshops

Sustainability of supply
Innovation
Product services and development
Cost and payment structures

LOCAL COMMUNITIES Communications: Advertising, marketing 
and brochures
Regional visits
Contributions

Impact of Group on community
Job opportunities
Development and support initiatives

INDUSTRY BODIES Industry body days and roadshows
Press releases
Communications: Advertising, marketing 
and brochures

State of industry
Regulators and legislation
Labour matters
Environmental matters
Government engagements

FINANCIERS Agreed reporting
Regular meetings
Integrated Annual Report

Business plan and strategies
Solvency and liquidity
Capital management
Risk management
Adherence to covenants 

AGENTS AND 
LICENSE HOLDERS

Communications: Advertising, marketing 
and brochures
Product development and technology 
sharing workshops
Site visits in both directions

Product and market development
State of markets
Technology developments
Customer reviews
Supplier reviews

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 

Master Plastics interacts with a range of internal and external stakeholder groups that are influenced by or able to 
influence our business and practices. Our approach is based on the principle of ongoing communication, stakeholder 
feedback and responsiveness. Driven by our senior management, we regularly engage with stakeholders through written 
and verbal communication channels, organised events, one-on-one meetings, industry events, and surveys to ensure 
that stakeholders receive information that is relevant to their interests and concerns. The following table provides a 
summary of Master Plastics’ key stakeholder groups, the manner of engagement with each group, and some of the typical 
discussion issues and outcomes.
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OUR APPROACH TO GOVERNANCE AND KING IV

Good governance remains a business imperative and the Board fully endorses the principles and values of good corporate 
governance contained in King IV, which was published on 1 November 2016 and effective in respect of all financial years 
commencing on or after 1 April 2017. The Board is committed to transparency, ethical leadership and accountability. The 
Board understands that the six capitals – being financial, manufactured, intellectual, human, social and natural – are 
interconnected and direct the Group’s operations in such a way that performance is assured in all aspects.

OUR GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

T Mokgatlha* (Chairman)
P Botha^

C McDougall*
S Masinga*
G Steffens*

P Rowse (alternate)~

* Independent Non-Executive Director     ^ Non-Independent Non-Executive Director     ~ Alternate to P Botha

C McDougall* (Chairman)
T Mokgatlha*

M Diedloff

S Masinga* (Chairman - Audit)
G Steffens* (Chairman - Risk)

C McDougall*

P Botha (Chairman - Remunerations)
T Mokgatlha* (Chairman - Nominations)

G Steffens*

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

M Diedloff (CEO)
S Ratlhagane (CFO & Company Secretary)

MASTER PLASTICS BOARD OF DIRECTORS

AUDIT & RISK
COMMITTEES

SOCIAL & ETHICS
COMMITTEES

REMUNERATION & NOMINATIONS
COMMITTEES

OUR BOARD AND COMMITTEES

Our Board comprises Directors who bring a wealth of knowledge and experience to the Group. The Board is well 
balanced and able to discharge their duties and responsibilities. The following governance principles apply to the Board 
and align with and provide further insights to the Group’s compliance in respect of all the principles of King IV:

GOVERNANCE

MATTER CONSIDERED COMPANY APPLICATION

BOARD COMPOSITION The Group is headed by an effective unitary Board that both leads and controls the Group. The Board 
is satisfied that an appropriate balance of power and authority is maintained such that no individual 
possesses sole decision-making authority and that no individual or block of individuals dominates the 
Board’s deliberations or its decision-making. In this way the interests of all stakeholders are protected. 

CATEGORIES OF DIRECTORS The Board consists of 4 Independent Non-Executive Directors, 1 Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 
and 2 Executive Directors. The King IV guidelines were applied in testing independence and categories 
most applicable to each Director.

SKILLS SETS AND DUTIES The Board can be described as a well-balanced and ethical Board, with Non-Executive Directors bringing 
balance and valuable insights to Board deliberations. All Directors understand their fiduciary duties and 
are aware of their duty to act in the best interest of the Company. The Board consists of Directors with the 
appropriate balance of skills, experience and knowledge to enable them to discharge their duties and 
responsibilities, which includes revising the Group’s strategic direction, monitoring performance against 
plans and budgets, assessing levels of compliance with relevant legislation, considering governance 
structures and reviewing competitor activity and best practise both locally and internationally. The Board 
regularly receives sound advice on a timely basis that enables it to remain ahead of the evolution of 
corporate governance processes.

TERMS OF OFFICE Non-Executive Directors have no fixed term of office. The 2 Executive Directors both have employment 
contracts with the Group with a 3 month or shorter notice period from either party. Neither of the Executive 
Directors have an employment contract exceeding 3 years.
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MATTER CONSIDERED COMPANY APPLICATION

ROTATION OF DIRECTORS The Memorandum of Incorporation provides for the rotation and re-election of Directors, in that one third 
of the Company’s Non-Executive Directors retire at each Annual General Meeting. Should they be willing 
to continue to serve on the Board, the Directors are then re-elected through an ordinary resolution. The 
following Directors are up for rotation as Directors and have made themselves available for re-election as 
per the Notice of Annual General Meeting included in this Report:

* P Botha – Non-Independent Non-Executive Director
* C McDougall – Independent Non-Executive Director

SEPARATION OF DUTIES: 
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The role of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer remains separate. The roles and functions are 
formalised, and each has specific defined set of duties to prevent any overlap of obligations and 
responsibilities, and to avoid any potential conflict of function.

COMPANY SECRETARY Salome Ratlhagane, in addition to her role as Chief Financial Officer, also holds the position of Company 
Secretary. This is enabled by the Group initially consisting of only 2 statutory entities and a strong financial 
management complement in underlying operations. The Group and Board satisfied itself that she has 
both the necessary support, capacity and skills required to fulfil both roles for the foreseeable future. This 
arrangement will be reviewed in time as necessary.

DIVERSITY POLICY The Group has a policy on and supports the objectives of both race and gender diversity at Board level and 
recognises that a board that reflects the demographics of the country more accurately in this area has a 
critical role to play in transformation. The Board currently has 3 black Directors and 2 black female Directors.

PERSONAL FINANCIAL 
INTEREST OF DIRECTORS

The Group maintains a full list of the personal financial interests of Directors and they are afforded the 
opportunity to update these declarations at each quarterly Board meeting or at any time in between 
Board meetings. During the reporting period, the Group considered any potential conflicts of interest 
caused by any commercial relationships or outside interests of Directors and found no reason to believe 
that these would influence the fiduciary responsibilities, or time and attention, which Directors need to 
devote to the Group or its affairs. No Director had any significant interest in any contract or arrangements 
entered by the Group or its subsidiaries.

SUCCESSION PLANNING 
AND INDUCTION

The Group has a policy detailing the procedures for appointments to the Board and a formal and 
transparent process is followed. Appointments are considered by the Board as a whole, assisted by the 
Nominations and Remunerations Committees. The Group’s induction programme is aimed at introducing 
new Directors to every aspect of the business and providing them with insights as to their rights and 
obligations. These would include an introduction to the business operations, the overall strategy, their 
rights and obligations from a King IV, JSE Listings Requirements, and Companies Act perspective. Specific 
development needs are also addressed where identified.

BOARD AND 
SUB-COMMITTEE 
EVALUATIONS

King IV recommends that an evaluation of the Board and committees be conducted annually. The last 
evaluation was conducted prior to the unbundling from the Astrapak Group during the 2018 year. All 
Directors, the Board and sub-committees were found to have executed their responsibilities in keeping 
with the expectations of the Group and recommendations of King IV. The Group will accordingly, during 
2019, conduct the annual evaluation necessary in accordance with King IV. 

MEETINGS, AGENDAS 
AND INFORMATION 
REQUIREMENTS

The Board aims to meet at least quarterly and more frequently if circumstances dictate. Meetings are 
conducted in terms of formal and structured agendas, set by the Chairman in consultation with the Chief 
Executive Officer and Company Secretary, ensuring that all substantive matters requiring the Board’s 
attention are included. All Directors are afforded the opportunity to add matters to the agenda, and 
Non-Executive Directors ensure the Chairman promotes proper deliberation of all key strategic issues at 
meetings, including the governance of IT risk and sustainability matters. Board papers are circulated well 
in advance to allow sufficient time to review and formulate any questions or deal with any additional 
information requirements. Directors are supplied with comprehensive and accurate information that 
enables them to effectively discharge their responsibilities. Agendas for Board and sub-committee 
meetings are reviewed regularly for relevance and effectiveness. All Directors have unrestricted access 
to Group information of any nature. Non-Executive Directors have unrestricted access to all members 
of management, but there remains a very clear division between the responsibilities of the Board and 
management. Non-Executive Directors are also mandated to meet separately from Executive Directors as 
and when required.

INDEPENDENT 
PROFESSIONAL ADVICE

In terms of the Board Charter and the terms of reference of all sub-committees, all Directors and 
committee members are entitled, at the Group’s expense and by following a proper prescribed procedure, 
to seek independent professional advice to assist them in executing their duties in a prudent manner. No 
Directors requested to seek such advice during the year.
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MATTER CONSIDERED COMPANY APPLICATION

STAKEHOLDERS The Board has identified the Group’s key stakeholders and encourages shareholders to attend annual 
general meetings.

COMMUNICATION 
WITH THE BOARD

Apart from the Group’s Annual General Meeting and the various associated practices as determined by 
the Companies Act and other irrelevant legislation, several mechanisms exist for communication between 
the Group’s stakeholders and the Board. This includes engagement via the Company Secretary, the 
Master Plastic’s website and Tip-offs Anonymous. Any information or requests received via any of these 
mechanisms is reported either directly to the Board or via the Audit and Risk Committees, depending 
on the nature thereof, and in the case of the latter is required to be resolved to the satisfaction of the 
committee. No information or tip-offs of any material nature were received during the reporting period. 

BOARD DELEGATION 
TO SUB-COMMITTEES

While the Board remains accountable and responsible for the performance and affairs of the Group, the 
Board has the additional assistance of five permanent sub-committees which have been appointed to 
assist the Board in discharging its duties and obligations, namely the Audit Committee, Risk Committee, 
Nominations and Remuneration Committee, Social and Ethics Committee and Capex Committee. All 
the committees have defined terms of reference in place. In addition to these five committees, ad hoc 
sub-committees are created from time-to-time to assist with specific subject matters. The Board has the 
power at any time to remove a Director from the Board in accordance with the provisions of the Group’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation, the Companies Act and, in the instance of Non-Executive Directors, their 
letters of appointment. A Director’s membership on the sub-committee will automatically and immediately 
terminate when his or her directorship is terminated.

Each sub-committee of the Board has a clear mandate and operates in accordance with its own specific written terms 
of reference, as adopted by the relevant committee and approved by the Board. Committee meetings are conducted in 
accordance with formal and structured agendas, ensuring that pertinent matters receive the required attention. Agendas 
and the content of committee papers are regularly reviewed for effectiveness and relevance and members have the 
opportunity at each meeting to add matters to the agenda. The terms of reference provide that Board committees may 
seek independent outside professional advice when deemed necessary at the cost of the Company and subject to a 
proper process being followed. The minutes of sub-committee meetings are included in the Board papers and the content 
of the meetings summarised by the chairman of each sub-committee in a Report at each Board meeting. The charters of 
both the Board and committees are reviewed annually.

The committee members all possess the requisite experience and skills to fulfil their obligations. Notwithstanding this, 
whenever necessary, the committees or its members can obtain advice from independent experts in fields of expertise 
to assist in carrying out their duties. Specifically, in the case of the Audit Committee, the committee members possess the 
requisite experience in the fields of finance, risk, audit, compliance, banking and corporate governance and consequently 
have the necessary qualifications, skills and experience to fulfil their obligations as members of the Audit Committee.

The table below details committee memberships and summarises the main duties and responsibilities of each committee:

COMMITTEE AND
COMMITTEE COMPOSITION MAIN RESPONSIBILITIES

AUDIT 
COMMITTEE

S Masinga* (Chair)
C McDougall*
G Steffens*

Together with the Risk Committee, forms an integral part of the Group’s overall compliance and risk 
management process.

Reports internally to the Board on its statutory duties as well as other duties assigned to them 
by the Board and reports to shareholders on the extent to which they carried out their statutory 
oversight in respect of external auditors, the appropriateness of the financial statements, the 
accounting practices as well as the effectiveness of internal financial controls and the integrity of 
the Report. 

All Non-Executive Directors have an open invitation to attend meetings, whilst Executive Directors 
and a delegation from the independent external auditors, internal audit, risk management and 
subject matter experts all attend by invitation as required.

The Chairman can meet with internal and external audit without the presence of management.
Details of the duties performed by the Audit Committee is provided in the Audit Committee Report 
contained on page 48 of the annual financial statements.
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COMMITTEE AND
COMMITTEE COMPOSITION MAIN RESPONSIBILITIES

REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE

P Botha^ (Chair)
T Mokhatlha*
G Steffens*

Assists the Board in determining and implementing the Group’s remuneration philosophy and to review 
and approve the remuneration and employment terms of Directors and senior Group executives.

Primary objective is to ensure Directors and executives are remunerated fairly and responsibly, to 
ensure retention of services and alignment of interests with those of shareholders.

Ensures alignment between the Group’s strategy and remuneration policies, and ensures that the 
Company will attract, retain and motivate talented executives.

Benchmarks remuneration both within and outside the Group.

In consultation with Chairman of the Board sets the forward-looking remuneration of 
Non-Executive Directors.

Details of further duties performed by and the activities of the Remuneration Committee is 
provided in the Remuneration Report contained on page 34 of this Report.

NOMINATIONS 
COMMITTEE

TV Mokgatlha* (Chair)
P Botha^
G Steffens*

Drives succession planning in the Group.

Responsible for the establishment of the processes and criteria to identify Board candidates.

Assesses the make-up and competency of the Board and makes recommendations to the 
Board aimed at enhancing the Board skill-set or experience. 

Screens potential candidates and advises the Board regarding the appointment of individuals 
that are best able to discharge their responsibilities as Directors.

Considers Chair and members’ terms in office, as well as a need for balancing continuity with 
fresh perspectives. 

RISK
COMMITTEE

G Steffens* (Chair)
C McDougall*
S Masinga*

Monitors risk management in the Group.

Assists the Board with risk analysis and management responsibilities.

Ensures processes are in place to enable complete, timely, relevant and accurate risk disclosures.

Expresses annual opinion and monitors level of risk tolerance.

Reviews adequacy of systems and controls, interest rate and liquidity risks, market risk, legislative 
risk, corporate governance and reputation risks, credit risk, exchange rate exposure, investment risk, 
insurable losses, insurance risks, business continuity risk and financial risk.

Monitors effectiveness of IT internal control framework and that IT strategy integrated and aligned 
with Group strategy and business processes and that IT risks addressed appropriately. 

SOCIAL AND ETHICS 
COMMITTEE

C McDougall* (Chair)
T Mokgatlha*
M Diedloff+

Central to the execution of several of the Group’s sustainability initiatives, particularly as these 
relate to issues of employee relations, social responsibility and community engagements.

Monitors levels of compliance with regulatory requirements, as well as within voluntary social, 
ethical and best practice codes.

Promotes good corporate citizenship in areas such as promotion of equality, prevention of unfair 
discrimination and the reduction of corruption.

Promotes a corporate culture that celebrates diversity, embraces transformation and encourages 
broader economic participation.

Development of a skills-based personnel profile that is both inclusive and representative of 
national demographics.

Measures and assesses progress in employment Equity and B-BBEE.

CAPEX 
COMMITTEE

C McDougall* (Chair)
P Rowse~
M Diedloff+

Assesses capital investment applications before these are presented to the Board.

Ensures the Group manages capital expenditure in accordance with budgets and strategic plans.

Reviews and enforces capital expenditure authority limits.

Reviews and recommends changes to the Group’s return on investment requirements and hurdle rates.

Ensures post capex assessments completed and variances analysed.

Reviews the Group’s available capital financing facilities to ensure sufficient to fund 
capex requirements.

*  Independent Non-Executive Director
^ Non-Independent Non-Executive Director
~ Alternate Director
+ Executive Director
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MEMBER BOARD AUDIT 
COMMITTEE

RISK 
COMMITTEE

REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE

SOCIAL & ETHICS 
COMMITTEE

CAPEX 
COMMITTEE

NOMINATIONS 
COMMITTEE

  A B A B A B A B A B A B A B

P Langeni* 2 3 0 1

T Mokgatlha 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2

B Masinga** 2 2 2 2 2 2

G Steffens 4 4 3 4 3 4 2 3 1 1

C McDougall 4 4 4 4 4 4 2 2 1 1

P Botha 4*** 4 3 3 1 1

M Diedloff 4 4 4 4 4 4 2 3 2 2 1 1

S Ratlhagane 4 4 4 4 4 4

* Resigned 2 October 2017. ** Appointed 12 October 2017. *** P Botha was represented by P Rowse (his appointed alternate) at one 
meeting he could not attend.
Column A indicates the number of meetings attended during the period the Director was a member of the Board or committee. 
Column B indicates the number of meetings held during the period the Director was a member of the Board or committee.

ATTENDANCE

The table below records the number of meetings held and the attendance of such meetings by various committee members:

COMPLIANCE REPORT

KING IV

During the reporting period the Board refined policies and processes to further align the Company with the principles 
and practices of King IV and to ensure continued compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements in this regard. The 
Board, in its capacity as custodian of the Company’s corporate governance, is committed to upholding the principles of 
responsibility, accountability, fairness, and transparency further enunciated in King IV.

In accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements for Alt-X listed companies, the Group has applied and herewith reports 
on principles 6 to 10 of King IV with regards to governance structures and delegation:

KING IV PRINCIPLE NO. & 
PRINCIPLE DESCRIPTION APPLICATION BY THE GROUP

 6 The governing body 
should serve as
the focal point 
and custodian of 
corporate governance 
in the organisation.

The Board has an approved charter and terms of reference which it reviews annually. It sets out the 
Board’s governance responsibilities, including its role, responsibilities, membership requirements and 
procedural conduct. Through appointed sub-committees, the Board implements and monitors the 
governance practices within the Group. The Board, its sub-committees or any Director may obtain 
independent, external professional advice at the Group’s expense concerning matters within the scope of 
their duties and the directors may request documentation from and set up meetings with management 
as and when required. The appropriate governance framework and the necessary policies, procedures 
and processes are in place to ensure all entities in the Group adhere to Group requirements and 
governance standards. The Group’s governance framework and corporate governance practices are 
disclosed further in this Report. 

7 The governing body 
should comprise the 
appropriate balance 
of knowledge, skills, 
experience, diversity 
and independence 
for it to discharge 
its governance role 
and responsibilities 
objectively and 
effectively.

The capacity of each Director has been categorised as defined in King IV and the JSE Listings 
Requirements, also taking into consideration other considerations as outlined in the Board charter. All 
Non-Executive Directors have been determined by the Board to be independent directors, except for 
P Botha who has been categorised as a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director. The Board comprises 
a majority of Non-Executive Directors, consisting of 4 Independent Non-Executive Directors, 1 Non-
Independent Non-Executive Director and 2 Executive Directors, namely the Chief Executive Officer

 
and 

the Chief Financial Officer. In terms of the Group’s Memorandum of Incorporation, one-third of Non-
Executive Directors must retire at every Annual General Meeting, but are eligible for re-election. When 
considering the appointment or re-election of Directors, the Board, with the support of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committees, considers the knowledge, skills, experience and resources required 
for conducting the business as well as considering its size, diversity and demographics to ensure its 
effectiveness. There is a clear distinction between the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer 
and these positions are held by separate individuals.
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KING IV PRINCIPLE NO. & 
PRINCIPLE DESCRIPTION APPLICATION BY THE GROUP

7 (continued) The Board previously adopted a policy on the promotion of gender diversity at Board level, and has now 
amended such policy to accommodate changes in the JSE Listings Requirements on the promotion of race 
diversity. The process for appointment and election of directors is set out in the Group’s Memorandum of 
Incorporation. The Nomination and Remuneration Committees assist with the process of identifying suitable 
candidates to be proposed for appointment to the Board and election by the shareholders, taking into 
consideration the annual review of the Board’s effectiveness, which includes, amongst others, its composition. 
All facets of diversity, including the gender and race diversity policy, is considered in assessing and determining 
the optimal composition of the Board, which should be balanced appropriately and enable the Board to 
discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively. Measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, 
appropriate for the Group, have been determined. The race targets became effective 1 June 2018: 50% of 
the Board should be black and a minimum of 25% should be black women. Factors considered in ensuring 
appropriate gender and race targets included the current composition and expected changes in the Board 
going forward, the B-BBEE codes of good practice, as well as the Group’s employment equity plan. The current 
composition of the Board, it’s race and gender composition can be found on page 24 of the Report.

Newly appointed Directors are inducted in the Group’s business, Board matters, their duties and governance 
responsibilities as Directors under the guidance of the Company Secretary, in accordance with each Director’s 
specific needs. Directors are given the opportunity to visit plants and operations and receive briefings on new 
legal developments and changes in the risk and general business environment on an on-going basis. The 
succession plan of Directors is reviewed annually by the Nomination and Remunerations Committees and 
includes the identification, mentorship and development of future candidates.

8 The governing body 
should ensure that 
its arrangements for 
delegation within 
its own structures 
promote independent 
judgement and assist 
with balance of power 
and the effective 
discharge of its duties.

Committees have been established to assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities. The delegation by the 
Board of its responsibilities to these Committees does not constitute a discharge of the Board’s accountability. 
The Committees of the Board comprise the Audit Committee, the Risk Committee, the Nominations 
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Social and Ethics Committee and the Capex Committee.

The Committees are appropriately constituted, and members are appointed by the Board, except for the 
Audit Committee whose members are nominated by the Board and elected by shareholders. The Board 
establishes the committees and determines its membership and further appoints the Chairman of each 
committee, considering factors such as diversity and skills and the need to create an even spread of 
power and authority.

External advisors, Executive Directors and members of management attend Committee meetings by 
invitation. The Committees play an important role in enhancing high standards of governance and 
achieving increased effectiveness within the Group. Formal terms of reference are established and 
approved for each Committee, which are reviewed annually. The Board considers the allocation of roles 
and associated responsibilities and the composition of membership across Committees holistically. The 
Board applies its collective mind to the information, opinions, recommendations, reports and statements 
presented by the chairman of a Committee.

9 The governing body 
should ensure that the 
evaluation of its own 
performance and that 
of its committees, its 
chair and its individual 
members, support 
continued improvement 
in its performance 
and effectiveness.

The Nomination Committee evaluates the effectiveness and performance of the Board, its Committees 
and the individual directors annually. The Chairman of the Board, through the Committee and assisted 
by the Company Secretary, leads the evaluation process. Prior to its unbundling, the evaluation was 
facilitated as part of the process conducted by Astrapak Limited, the then parent of Master Plastics. The 
outputs from such review process was incorporated in the various charters and engagements held with 
Directors and various sub-committee Chairmen to enhance the performance and effectiveness of the Board, its 
sub-committees, Directors and Chairman of each committee including that of the Board.

The Board further considers other commitments of the Directors and whether each Director has sufficient 
time to fulfil the responsibilities as a Director and to ensure they can still execute their job effectively and 
are free from any conflicts that cannot be managed satisfactorily. 

10 The governing body 
should ensure that 
the appointment 
of, and delegation 
to management 
contribute to role 
clarity and the 
effective exercise 
of authority and 
responsibilities.

The role and function of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is specified in writing and his performance is 
evaluated by the Board against the criteria specified on an annual basis. The Board, with the assistance 
of the Nominations Committee, is responsible for ensuring that succession plans are in place for the 
position of CEO. The CEO delegates certain daily tasks to operational management and serves as a link 
between operational management and the Board. The CEO is the highest executive decision-making 
authority of the Group and delegated with authority from and accountable to the Board for the successful 
implementation of the Group strategy and the overall management and performance of the Group, 
consistent with the primary aim of enhancing long-term shareholder value. The CEO is not a member of 
the Remuneration, Audit, Risk or Nomination Committees, but attends any meeting, or part thereof, by 
invitation if needed to contribute pertinent insights and information. The CEO is a member of the Social 
and Ethics Committee of the Group.

Salome Ratlhagane, in addition to her role as Chief Financial Officer, also holds the position of Company 
Secretary. This in enabled by the Group initially consisting of only 2 statutory entities and a strong financial 
management complement in underlying operations. The Group satisfied itself that she has both the 
necessary support, capacity and skills required to fulfil both roles for the foreseeable future. This arrangement 
will be reviewed in time as necessary. The Company Secretary has a direct channel of communication to 
the Chairman, while maintaining an arm’s-length relationship with the Board and the directors as far as 
reasonably possible. The role and responsibilities of the Company Secretary are described in the Board charter.
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The Group has considered all 17 of the principles of King 
IV and concluded that, except for principle 17 that does 
not have application, the Group is compliant to King IV 
in all material aspects. Support of this conclusion can be 
found in the Report where across the various sections 
further information of policies, procedures and structures 
adopted and applied by the Group is provided.

CODE OF CONDUCT AND 
BUSINESS ETHICS POLICY

The Group is committed to the highest ethical standards 
of business conduct, in line with the Group’s values. All 
employees are accordingly expected to maintain the 
highest standards of integrity and ethics in their dealings 
with suppliers, customers, business partners, stakeholders, 
government and society at large. The Group does not 
tolerate any form of corruption, violation of law or 
unethical business practices.

All of the Group’s employees are required to adhere to the 
Code of Conduct and Business Ethics Policy of the Group. 
The objective of the policy is to promote and support the 
application of the Company’s values in all dealings of 
management, employees or representatives of the Group, 
with all stakeholders, whether internal or external.

The Code of Conduct and Business Ethics Policy is 
intended to provide guidance to employees regarding 
ethical standards related to all aspects of the Group’s 
operations, including corrupt and anti-competitive 
behaviour, confidentiality of information, remuneration 
and incentive practices, electronic communication, 
substance abuse and various other relevant issues.

Responsibility for the implementation of the Code of 
Conduct and Business Ethics Policy lies with the Board’s 
Social and Ethics Committee. In this regard, the committee, 
on an ongoing basis monitors the performance of the 
Group and its employees against these documents. It 
will also on a periodic basis review the provisions of 
the documents, to ensure that they remain an accurate 
representation of the values of the Group.

LEGAL COMPLIANCE

The Board’s Risk Committee closely and proactively 
monitors the Group’s compliance with applicable 
legislation and regulations. The Group has an appropriate 
compliance framework in place and is fully compliant, 
or working towards full compliance, with all the material 
provisions of applicable laws and regulations.

STRATEGIC BUSINESS GOALS

The Board closely monitors strategy achievement and is 
intensely aware of the changing dynamics of the industry 
and the economy, to ensure that the Group adapts 
timeously to benefit from changing circumstances. The 
Board regularly reviews the Group’s strategic intent for 
the medium- and long-term.

EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES

The Group and its employees aim to be professional in 
all their business dealings and strive to enhance the 
Group’s reputation in the business community. The Group 
endeavours to form solid and lasting relationships with 
customers and suppliers.

The Group continues to pursue its employment 
equity objectives and invests in the development of 
its employees and rewards their performance. Every 
employee is expected to interact in a professional 
manner with other employees and to respect the cultural, 
religious and ethnic diversity within the workplace.

The Group respects the values, culture and beliefs 
of the communities in which it operates and 
undertakes to consult with the communities on 
matters that affect them.

The Group believes in the importance of a clean and 
healthy work environment for the well-being of its 
employees. All Group companies strive to achieve the 
highest safety and environmental standards.

INSIDER TRADING, CLOSED PERIODS 
AND SECURITIES TRADING CODE

No employee or Director or officer of the Group may deal, 
directly or indirectly, in the Group’s ordinary shares based 
on unpublished price-sensitive information regarding the 
business or affairs of the Group.

The Group generally enters a closed period twice a 
year and these are strictly adhered to. Closed periods 
commence at the end of each reporting period, namely 
28/29 February and 31 August of each year, and end 
once the results have been disclosed to the market for 
the relevant reporting period. Closed periods are also 
observed prior to corporate actions as required by the 
JSE Listings Requirements.

The Board Charter contains a dealing code that 
regulates dealings in the Group’s shares. Executives 
and Non-Executive Directors are required to obtain 
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written approval from the Chairman of the Board 
prior to dealing in any Group securities. Records of all 
transactions and approvals in respect of Executive 
and Non-Executive Directors are maintained by the 
Company Secretary and all Directors’ dealings are 
timeously declared on SENS. Any changes in Directors’ 
shareholdings are reported at each Board meeting and 
annually disclosed in the integrated annual report.

PRICE-SENSITIVE INFORMATION

In accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements on 
price-sensitive information, the Group has adopted 
various policies dealing with the following issues:

• The determination of price-sensitive information.
• Discussions with the press, institutions and shareholders.
• Closed periods during which no Director or affected 
 employee is permitted to trade in the Company’s shares.

FINANCIAL CONTROL AND REPORTING

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that Group 
companies maintain adequate records and report 
accurately and reliably on the financial position, activities 
and results of the Group. Financial reporting procedures are 
applied in the Group at all levels to meet this responsibility.

Financial and other information is constantly 
reviewed and remedial action taken where necessary. 
Improvements in the quality of reported information 
are continuously effected through the replacement or 
upgrading of information systems.

The Group’s annual financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with IFRS. Appropriate accounting policies 
are consistently applied, unless an accounting policy 
requires revision or there is a requirement to adopt new 
accounting standards, in which case proper disclosure 
is made. Reasonable and prudent judgements and 
estimates are made to properly disclose the Group’s 
financial status, and these are reviewed by the external 
auditors and the Audit Committee.

PRINCIPAL INTERNAL FINANCIAL 
CONTROL PROCEDURES

The Board holds overall responsibility for ensuring that 
the Group maintains a system of internal financial control 
that provides reasonable, but not necessarily absolute, 
assurance regarding the reliability of the financial 
information used within the business and for publication, 
and ensures that assets are safeguarded.

Prudent financial controls and procedures are in 
place, including controls involving the segregation of 
incompatible duties and controls relating to the security 
of assets. The operations and effectiveness of internal 
financial controls are maintained and reviewed on a 
regular basis.

Procedures for seeking and obtaining approval for 
financial transactions are contained in the Group’s levels 
of authority document and are applied diligently across 
the Group’s finance operations.

The Group operates a comprehensive annual planning 
and budgeting process, with the annual budget being 
approved by the Board. The financial reporting system 
compares results with plans, budgets and previous years’ 
results, to identify deviations on a daily and monthly 
basis. Reports include regular cash flow statements, 
income statements and balance sheets projected for 
12 months ahead which are used, among others, to 
determine future funding needs.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Board is assisted by a suitably qualified, competent 
and experienced Company Secretary. The Company 
Secretary is a Director and has been empowered 
to effectively fulfil her responsibilities. The Company 
Secretary provides guidance as required to the Board 
collectively, and to each Director individually, regarding 
the discharge of their responsibilities.

Among other responsibilities, the Company Secretary 
advises the Board regarding appropriate procedures 
for the management of meetings and ensures that a 
prudent corporate governance framework is maintained 
throughout the organisation. The Company Secretary 
also assists with the evaluation of Board members and 
facilitates the induction of the new Directors into the Group.

Based on the outcome of a formal assessment 
conducted by the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and 
Audit Committee Chairman, the Board is of the opinion 
that the Company Secretary, who is a qualified Chartered 
Accountant, possesses the competence, knowledge 
and experience to carry out the duties of a Company 
Secretary of a public company, and is an effective 
steward of the Group’s corporate governance framework. 
The Chairman holds regular meetings with the Company 
Secretary and assesses her performance and provides 
guidance where necessary.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS

In a SENS announcement on 19 December 2017 and 
in accordance with paragraph 3.78 of the JSE Listings 
Requirements, the Company advised shareholders of 
a change in external auditors and the appointment 
of Grant Thornton as external auditors in the place of 
Deloitte and Touche for the financial year ended  
28 February 2018. The change in external auditors was 
initiated by the Company to align the cost structure to 
the size of the Company following the unbundling of 
Master Plastics from Astrapak Limited in May 2017.

LISTINGS REQUIREMENTS COMPLIANCE

In terms of paragraph 3.19 and 3.21 (a) of the JSE Listings 
Requirements, the Group is required to submit an Annual 
Compliance Certificate to the JSE confirming that the 
Group has complied with the JSE Listings Requirements 
over the past financial year. The Company Secretary has 
prepared the Annual Compliance Certificate, which will 
be submitted to the JSE together with the Report.

BROAD BASED BLACK
ECONOMIC EMPOWERMENT

The Group has received a Level 2 – Empowering Supplier 
Accreditation during its most recent accreditation. The 
Group has met all the requirements in terms of section 
13(G)(2) of the B-BBEE Act 53 of 2003, as amended. A copy 
of the relevant compliance report, Form B-BBEE 1, can be 
found on the website of the company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND MATERIAL ISSUES

The Group’s approach to risk and material issues has 
been detailed on page 11 of this Report.

The Group has an embedded enterprise risk model to 
identify and assess existing and emerging risks and 
associated opportunities where effective risk management 
can be turned into potential competitive advantage to the 
benefit of the Group. The Group’s risk profile is determined 
by reviewing operational risk registers, discussing and 
assessing risk profiles with management and experts, 
considering the current and future business and regulatory 
environment, engagement with stakeholder groups 
and reviewing topical local and global developments. 
All potential risks are timeously brought to the Board’s 
attention. Risk assessment is a standing agenda item for 
Board meetings and Risk Committee meetings are held at 
least quarterly. The Board is responsible for the governance 
of risk and setting of risk tolerance levels, whilst the process 
of risk management is delegated to management. The 
risk environment is ever-changing, compelling each 
level of management, from the Board downwards, to 
continuously appraise their risk environments to ensure 
that significant risks are timeously identified.

A Group-wide system of internal control has been 
established to manage significant risks. This provides 
reasonable assurance that the Group’s business 
objectives will be met. A system of management, 
self-assessment and third-party review or assurance 
processes has been implemented and is continually 
refined to ensure key risk areas are assessed and 
controlled. Risks are further controlled and managed 
by Group policies that limit exposure in specific areas 
such as finance, IT, treasury, human resources, sales 
and marketing, operations and supply chain, quality 
assurance, innovation and major projects, health and 
safety, as well as through external insurance.

A consolidated risk register is in place that details 
specific risk exposures and related values at risk, control 
standards, critical success factors and key risk indicators 
for all identified key risks. The Group’s risk is classified into 
the following categories:

• Customer
• Financial risk (debtors, general and treasury)
• Human capital
• Innovation
• IT and commercial
• Major projects
• Operational
• Regulatory
• Strategic
• Sustainability
• Transformation

To the extent applicable, each of the identified risks 
within these categories have controls and focused 
mitigation plans, with these risks and mitigation plans 
regularly monitored and adjusted as required. The risks 
are presented to the Board in the form of “heatmap 
matrixes” together with the detailed registers.

The detailed controls and mitigation plans are also 
tabled at operational levels for continuous updating.

REMUNERATION REPORT

INTRODUCTION

Remuneration Committee membership, meeting 
attendance and the duties and responsibilities of 
this committee are summarised on page 29 in the 
governance section of this Report.

The guiding principle of the Group’s remuneration 
policy is to promote the delivery of strategic objectives, 
encourage individual performance and reward 
sustainable value creation. The philosophy emphasises 
the role of employees in building sustainable value 
through fair and balanced remuneration structures. 
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The success of the Group will depend on its ability to 
attract and retain talented, experienced and motivated 
individuals who can execute on the strategy to achieve 
our vision and mission. We use both long-term and short-
term incentives in support of this goal.

Throughout the Group we attempt to compensate 
individuals fairly for a specific role, with due regard to 
their skills and performance. The compensation of most 
of our unionised employees is determined collectively 
or based on sector norms. We strive to maintain positive 
day-to-day working relationships with all our employees 
and to balance the right to industrial action with the 
rights of the Group to conduct its activities within the 
framework of ruling legislation.

At the 2017 Annual General Meeting, 88.61% of shareholders 
voted in favour of the Group’s remuneration policy. Although 
this represented a non-binding advisory note, the 
Board continues to consider any views expressed by 
shareholders in its deliberations and remains committed 
to responsible conduct, sound governance and 
transparency regarding executive remuneration. 

In keeping with recommended practices contained in 
King IV, the committee has elected to table both the 
remuneration policy and the implementation report of 
the Group for approval by shareholders by separate non-
binding advisory votes at the Annual General Meeting on 
15 August 2018.

The committee is committed to shareholder engagement 
on remuneration matters where appropriate and will take 
the following steps if 25% or more of total votes exercised by 
shareholders at the upcoming Annual General Meeting are 
against the remuneration policy or implementation report: 

• the Company will issue a SENS announcement 
 inviting dissenting shareholders to note their specific 
 concerns and to engage with the Company; and  

• the Company will consider these concerns and report 
 on the outcome of this engagement, and measures 
 taken, in its next integrated annual report.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group’s employees are key to its success and 
remuneration represents a significant component of the 
Group’s total operating costs. The Group’s remuneration 
policy seeks to attract and retain quality employees at 
all levels and accordingly remuneration is structured to 
be competitive and relevant. Remuneration policies are 
considered and reviewed on a regular basis.

The Remuneration Committee seeks to achieve an 
appropriate balance between the fixed, flexible and long-
term elements of overall remuneration. The Committee 
considers each element relative to the market, the 
performance of the employee and the Group and the 
requirements and strategic objectives of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed and 
considered the level of executive remuneration in relation 
to the profitability of the Group. As stated in this Report, 
it is the objective of the Group to attract and retain the 
appropriate levels of knowledge, experience and skill 
necessary to enable the Group to deliver on its strategic 
objectives and to further remunerate employees in line 
with the market. Given that this is a newly established 
Group with the stated objective to grow both organically 
and by way of acquisitions, the Remuneration Committee 
acknowledges that the executives possess a specific skill 
set necessary to contribute significantly and enable the 
Group to deliver on these stated objectives. The growth 
should be delivered with minimal increase in executive 
remuneration which will accordingly result in the ratio of 
executive remuneration to the profitability of the Group 
normalising over a period.

Elements of Remuneration for salaried employees, 
including Executive Directors, are summarised as follows:

TOTAL
REMUNERATION

TOTAL FIXED REMUNERATION
(COST-TO-COMPANY)

TOTAL FLEXIBLE REMUNERATION 
(SHORT-TERM INCENTIVES - PERFORMANCE BASED)

BASIC SALARY BENEFITS

LONG-TERM INCENTIVES
(SHARE APPRECIATION RIGHTS)
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TOTAL FLEXIBLE REMUNERATION
(Short-term incentives) (“STIs”)

ELEMENT POLICY IMPLEMENTATION PARTICIPATION

Short-Term 
Incentives – 
Executives

STIs represent a cash-settled bonus that is 
determined in terms of an outperformance 
bonus scheme, which rewards executives for 
outperformance of the EBITDA profitability 
target set annually for the Group, which also 
considers the maximum STI amount payable.

The maximum STI is determined as a 
percentage of the basic salary of the Executive.

The STI amount is only paid if the Group EBITDA 
profitability target is achieved.

STI scheme, its participants and attributable 
values can be amended on an annual basis at the 
sole discretion of the Remuneration Committee to 
align with the strategic objectives or requirements 
of the Group, specific company or division.

For the 2018 financial year the percentages 
of basic salary allocated were 50% and 20% 
for the CEO and CFO respectively. For the 2019 
financial year the percentage for the CFO has 
been increased to 25%.

Executives 
(CEO and CFO)

TOTAL FIXED REMUNERATION

ELEMENT POLICY IMPLEMENTATION PARTICIPATION

Basic Salary Provide a market-related level of base 
consideration with due regard for the role and 
skills required.

Benchmarked against industry norms and 
adjustments based on employee’s experience, 
qualifications and nature of work.

Represents a cost-to-company basis, 
meaning also includes benefits.

Paid monthly in cash.

Reviewed annually on 1 March with due 
consideration given to market conditions, 
inflation, Group, company and individual 
performance.

Participation in short-term and long-term 
incentive schemes is in addition to the 
CTC package.

All salaried 
employees 
including Executive 
Directors.

Benefit Funds 
(Provident Fund)

Membership of the Group Provident Fund 
is compulsory.

Contributions are made from the employee’s 
basic salary.

Total contribution including life, disability and 
funeral cover is 14.5% of the qualifying salary.

The Group Provident Fund is administered by 
Sygnia Asset Management and is a defined 
contribution fund.

All salaried 
employees 
including Executive 
Directors.

Benefit Funds 
(Medical Aid)

Membership of a medical scheme 
is compulsory.

Contributions are made from the basic salary 
and is employee dependent.

Most employees belong to a medical scheme 
administered by Discovery.

All salaried 
employees 
including Executive 
Directors.

Other benefits 
and conditions of 
employment

All other conditions of employment are comparable to those offered by similar companies. 
No special or extraordinary conditions are applicable to any employees including executives. 
No post-retirement obligations exist.
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TOTAL FLEXIBLE REMUNERATION
(Short-term incentives) (“STIs”)

ELEMENT POLICY IMPLEMENTATION PARTICIPATION

Short-Term 
Incentives – 
operational 
participants

STIs represent cash bonuses where 
maximum STI to be earned is determined 
as a percentage of the basic salary of the 
employee, where such percentage will 
take due consideration of the role of the 
employee within the relevant organisation. 
These percentages vary between 10% and 
20% of the basic salary. STIs are used as an 
instrument to reward short-term performance 
and achievement of certain key elements of 
the business plan to lay a platform for the 
meeting of longer term strategic objectives. 

STI scheme, its participants and attributable 
values can be amended on an annual basis 
at the sole discretion of the Remuneration 
Committee to align with the strategic 
objectives or requirements of the Group or 
specific company.

STI values and targets to be achieved by 
operations in which participants are employed 
are broken into quarters during a financial year.

60% of STIs earned in a quarter are paid in 
the month following the end of the relevant 
measured quarter with the balance of 40% 
carried forward to the end of the financial year, 
only to be paid in the event of the relevant 
company in which the participant is employed 
– and against which the target has been set – 
achieving its EBITDA target for the full financial 
year. No interest is earned on such amounts.

All participants have exposure to both financial 
and operational performance metrics, although 
the weighting allocated for each will vary 
dependent on the role of the participant and 
his or her potential contribution in each area.

The General Manager of each operation has 
an element of their STI allocated to an overall 
Group EBITDA target.

All salaried 
employees’ junior 
management 
upwards at 
operational level.

STI Targets The targets for each applicable metric are in accordance with the Board-approved one-year business plan or budget for 
each operation and the consolidated Group. The measures are reviewed annually to ensure they remain appropriate and 
gives due consideration to the economy and performance expectations. The targets are directly related to the budget 
and accordingly considered sensitive and potential forward-looking information, and for these reasons are not disclosed.

The Remuneration Committee has considered all financial and non-financial metrics achieved, the status of each, 
and the necessary to be achieved in respect of the business going forward to deliver on its strategic objectives. The 
committee is comfortable that at this time both these categories of metrics are adequately covered in terms of the 
STI incentive scheme and job descriptions at the appropriate levels within the organisation. Given the performance 
history and the key improvement areas identified within the underlying businesses, the committee determined that 
for FY18 and at least FY19 it would adopt STI targets as follows:

• at executive level an EBITDA related target;
• at operational level a combination of financial and operational related targets, weighted to reflect the 
 importance of each underlying measure.

EBITDA is for the short-term deemed an appropriate measure on the basis that to achieve the stated EBITDA number the 
Executives would have to ensure that several underlying and key strategic objectives are delivered or at least maintained 
- of both a financial and non-financial nature - at both corporate and operational level. It is further a proxy for cash 
generation and is set at a level that will ensure that the Group will deliver on its internal return of average net operating 
asset targets given the invested capital base. Although it may be a single measure the Remuneration Committee is 
accordingly of the view that it addresses several key metrics necessary to ensure the sustainability of the business. The 
Remuneration Committee envisages that after FY19 it will introduce more specific non-financial targets as may be appropriate.

LONG-TERM INCENTIVES
(Share Appreciation Rights) (“SARs”)

ELEMENT POLICY IMPLEMENTATION PARTICIPATION

Share 
Appreciation
Rights

SARs are issued at the sole discretion of the Remuneration 
Committee to the extent necessary to achieve alignment between 
management and shareholder interests and are focused on the 
creation of a sustainable business and long-term value.

Participation in the SARs scheme is based on criteria such as 
strategic objectives, performance and retention drivers.

SARs are cash-settled with the value calculated as the difference 
between the exercise price and the grant price. The vesting 
and exercise of the SARs can be subject to certain performance 
conditions, a minimum share price being achieved by the exercise 
date and the participant remaining in the employment of the 
Group for the vesting period.

The performance conditions and SARs terms are determined by the 
Remuneration Committee in respect of each new grant.

During the financial 
year, SARs were issued 
on 8 August 2017 and 
28 February 2018. Further 
detail with regards to the 
terms associated with 
these issues appear in the 
implementation section of 
this remuneration report. 

Executives and 
senior management 
with significant 
managerial or other 
responsibility.

Non-Executive 
Directors may not 
be awarded SARs.
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Elements of remuneration of hourly paid employees are summarised as follows:

ELEMENT POLICY

Basic Salary Level of remuneration (hourly rate) is set and adjusted annually in line with a combination of agreements signed 
with non-unionised employees, various unions and collective bargaining agreements negotiated at an industry 
level with unions.

The Group aims to remunerate employees fairly and in line with sound business and remuneration principles and 
within the scope and guidelines of ruling legislation such as the Basic Conditions of Employment Act.

The Group invests a significant amount of resources and funding to training and upskilling of employees, resulting 
in improved remuneration for successful employees. 

Overtime, shift and 
other allowances

Dependent on the requirements of the business and the roles and responsibilities, employees are further 
remunerated in the form of additional overtime, shift and attendance allowances. These are again governed by 
ruling legislation and agreements entered with the employees and/or unions at various levels.

Other benefits Hourly paid employees can belong to bargaining council medical aid schemes and provident funds or company-
provided benefit funds where specifically provided.

Short-term 
incentives

The cash-based bonuses are determined annually in line with agreements and represent a combination of 
discretionary and guaranteed bonuses. Depending on the requirements of the businesses’ certain performance 
conditions – such as output, quality and attendance – will be attached to these bonuses.

Long-term 
incentives

No long-term incentives apply.

The Group is currently in the process of preparing for the introduction of the National Minimum Wage in terms of which it 
is envisaged that a minimum wage will be paid by all South African businesses. The implementation hereof, should the 
existing anticipated level of R 3 500.00 be prescribed, will not have a material impact on the Group as it is only in isolated 
cases that employees are currently remunerated below this level.

Non-Executive Directors contribute significantly to the Group’s strategic direction and on the advice of the Remuneration 
Committee, the Board considers and makes recommendation to shareholders regarding Non-Executive Director’s fees 
payable. Remuneration for Non-Executive Directors comprises a base fee and they do not receive any other benefits and do 
not participate in any STIs or any long-term incentive schemes. Master Plastics reimburses reasonable travel, subsistence 
and accommodation expenses to attend meetings for the Group.

The Remuneration Committee reviews fees annually, recommendations are made, and the Board proposes any amendments 
to the fees for approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. The Group’s policy is to remunerate Non-Executive 
Directors fairly and competitively for their services. There are no other service agreements of any nature between the 
Group and Non-Executive Directors and no provisions or agreements for the payment of any sums of money on the 
termination of the relationship between the Group and the Non-Executive Directors for any reason whatsoever in the future.
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BASIC
SALARY

R ‘000
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FIXED
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R ‘000
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REMUNER-
ATION***

R ‘000
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FIXED 

AND 
FLEXIBLE 
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ATION
R ‘000

SHARE- 
BASED 
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SHARE 

OPTIONS
R ‘000

CASH- 
SETTLED 

SHARE
 APPRECIATION 

RIGHTS 
EXPENSE

R ‘000

TOTAL
REMUNER-

ATION
R ‘000

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

2018

M Diedloff 2 982 160 549 3 682 1 841 5 523 - 691 6 214

S Ratlhagane 913 - 170 1 083 162 1 245 - 75 1 320

3 895 160 710 4 765 2 003 6 768 - 766 7 534

2017*

M Diedloff** 2 787 160 505 3 452 3 751 7 203 140 377 7 720

S Ratlhagane 854 - 155 1 009 144 1 153 - - 1 153

3 641 160 660 4 461 3 895 8 356 140 377 8 873

*  All remuneration paid to the Executive Directors in the 2017 financial year was paid by the relevant Astrapak 
 subsidiary company in which the Executive Directors were employed prior to the unbundling.

**  Includes payments of R 1.369 million made in terms of retention agreement concluded with Astrapak Limited.
*** The amount has been raised as an accrual as at 28 February 2018 and was paid in May 2018.
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 REMUNER-
ATION
R ‘000

TOTAL 
FLEXIBLE

 REMUNER-
ATION***

R ‘000

TOTAL 
FIXED 

AND 
FLEXIBLE 

REMUNER-
ATION
R ‘000

EXPENSE IN 
RESPECT OF 
RETENTION, 

RELOCATION 
AND RESTRAINT 

OF TRADE 
AGREEMENT 
(ONCE-OFF)

CASH- 
SETTLED 

SHARE
 APPRECIATION 

RIGHTS 
EXPENSE

R ‘000

TOTAL
REMUNER-

ATION
R ‘000

PRESCRIBED OFFICERS*

2018

Officer A 1 438 168 327 1 933 123 2 056 - 151 2 207

Officer B 1 296 - 305 1 601 51 1 652 - 151 1 803

Officer C 1 079 108 145 1 332 244 1 576 - 75 1 651

3 813  276 777 4 866 418 5 284 - 377 5 661

2017

Officer A 1 340 168 297 1 805 410 2 215 500 - 2 715

Officer B** 1 769 - 309 2 078 223 2 301 - - 2 301

Officer C 906  108 125 1 139  217 1 356 - - 1 356

4 015 276 731 5 022 850 5 872 500 - 6 372

* The prescribed officers also include the three highest paid employees.
**  Basic salary includes a leave encashment amount of R 0.57 million which is non-recurring.
*** A portion of this amount has been raised as an accrual as at 28 February 2018 and was paid in March 2018.

IMPLEMENTATION REPORT

The remuneration of Executive Directors and prescribed officers consists of fixed (basic salary and benefits), flexible (STIs) 
and long-term incentive (SARs) components. Executive Directors do not receive Director fees. Prescribed officers were 
determined in terms of section 66(10) of the Companies Act and further described in section 38 of the regulations thereto. 
Their remuneration is disclosed in terms of the Companies Act, section 36(4)(a). 

The table presented below summarises the total remuneration paid to Executive Directors and prescribed officers during 
the year.
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Performance against STI targets were as follows:

• A Executive level, the Group EBITDA profitability target of R 56.981 million was exceeded and STIs earned in full;
• At Prescribed Officer A level, based on the various performance metrics and weightings, 34% of STIs were earned;
• At Prescribed Officer B level, based on the various performance metrics and weightings, 18% of STIs were earned;
• At Prescribed Officer C level, based on the various performance metrics and weightings, 91% of STIs were earned.

The Group introduced the cash-settled Share Appreciation Rights Scheme for key senior employees during the year and 
SARs were issued on 8 August 2017 and 28 February 2018 to selected participants. The SARs Scheme will allow Executive 
Directors and certain senior management to earn a long-term incentive amount calculated based on the increase in 
Master Plastics’ share price between the grant date and the vesting and exercise of such rights. All awards in terms of the 
SARs Scheme are to be cash-settled. The vesting of the SARs is subject to specific conditions, including a minimum share 
price of R 1.67 and R 2.00 respectively and the continued employment of the participant. SARs are granted for a period of 
five years, with varying vesting periods. The Share Appreciation Rights liability as at 28 February 2018 was R 1.218 million.

The following SARs issues occurred on 8 August 2017 and 28 February 2018 and terms associated therewith are 
highlighted below:

In terms of IFRS 2, liabilities relating to cash-settled share-based payments are adjusted to the fair value at financial 
position date. The estimated fair value of the SARs at the financial position date was calculated using the Black-Scholes 
model as set out below:

NAME SARs
GRANTED

SAR 
AWARD 
PRICE

MINIMUM 
SHARE PRICE 

VESTING 
CONDITION

SHARE PRICE 
AT DATE OF 

GRANT

DATE OF 
GRANT

SAR EXPIRY 
DATE  SAR VESTING 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

M Diedloff  5 000 000 1.36 1.67 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22 Yr 3 Grant Anniversary 100% 

S Ratlhagane     250 000 1.00 1.67 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22 Yr 1 Grant Anniversary 40%                                
Yr 2 Grant Anniversary 40%                               
Yr 3 Grant Anniversary 20%100 000 1.60 2.00 1.65 28 Feb 18 28 Feb 23

PRESCRIBED OFFICERS AND OTHER EMPLOYEES

Officer A  500 000 1.00 1.67 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22

Yr 1 Grant Anniversary 40%                                
Yr 2 Grant Anniversary 40%                               
Yr 3 Grant Anniversary 20%

200 000 1.60 2.00 1.65 28 Feb 18 28 Feb 23

Officer B     500 000 1.00 1.67 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22

200 000 1.60 2.00 1.65 28 Feb 18 28 Feb 23

Officer C     250 000 1.00 1.67 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22

150 000 1.60 2.00 1.65 28 Feb 18 28 Feb 23

Other employees     250 000 1.00 2.00 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22

Other employees 600 000 1.60 2.00 1.65 28 Feb 18 28 Feb 23

   8 000 000            

DATE OF SAR GRANT 8 AUG 2017
(CEO SARs)

8 AUG 2017 28 FEB 2018

Number of SARs granted 5 000 000 1 750 000 1 250 000

SAR award price (cents) 136 100 160

Share price at grant date (cents) 98 98 165

Share price at financial position date (cents) 165 165 165

Expected volatility expressed as % 49.36% 49.36% 49.36%

Expected life in years 5 5 5

Risk-free rate of return based vesting periods (%) 6.59% - 6.73% 6.59% - 6.73% 6.59% - 6.73%

Expected dividend yield (%) - - -

Fair Value per SAR in cents at measurement date 71.08 77.44 51.32

An amount of R 1.218 million has been expensed during the financial year in respect of these SARs.
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* The fees paid in the comparative year were paid to the Non-Executive Directors by Astrapak Limited, the then 
 holding company of the Group, for services rendered as Non-Executive Directors of the Astrapak Group of companies.
** Resigned 2 October 2017.
*** Paid to Metier Investment and Advisory Services Proprietary Limited and its subsidiaries.
**** Appointed 13 October 2017.

On advice of the Remuneration Committee, the Board has recommended for approval by shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting to be held on 15 August 2018, an increase in the annual fees payable to Non-Executive Directors for the 
period 1 March 2018 to 28 February 2019 of 5.0%. This will result in Non-Executive Director remuneration as follows: 

28 FEBRUARY 2018 28 FEBRUARY 2017*

P Langeni** 76 000 369 000

PC Botha*** 107 000 275 000

GZ Steffens 107 000 403 000

C McDougall 107 000 387 000

TV Mokgatlha 143 000 397 000

S Masinga**** 59 000 -

Non-Executive Director remuneration for the financial year ending 28 February 2018 was agreed at the Annual General 
Meeting of the Group held on 29 September 2017 and the Non-Executive Directors were remunerated accordingly for the 
pro-rata portion of the financial year that they held their respective positions. 

PROPOSED FEES
R

EXISTING FEES
R

Chairman 210 000 200 000

Member of the Board 131 250 125 000
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GENERAL INFORMATION

NATURE OF BUSINESS  Master Plastics Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (jointly referred to 
AND PRINCIPLE ACTIVITIES herein as “Master Plastics” or the “Group”) are manufacturers and distributors of
  an extensive range of plastic packaging and agricultural products. The Group 
  manufactures and operates principally in South Africa.

DIRECTORS *P Langeni1 (Appointed 13 April 2017 and resigned 2 October 2017)    
  PC Botha2  (Appointed 13 April 2017)
  GZ Steffens1  (Appointed 13 April 2017)
  C McDougall1  (Appointed 13 April 2017)
  TV Mokgatlha1  (Appointed 13 April 2017)
  M Diedloff3  (Appointed 28 November 2016) 
  *S Ratlhagane3  (Appointed 13 April 2017)
  *S Masinga1  (Appointed 13 October 2017)

  *Female Director
  1 - refers to Independent Non-Executive Director
  ² - refers to Non-Independent Non-Executive Director
  ³ - refers to Executive Director 

REGISTERED OFFICE 3rd Floor, 1410 Eglin Office Park, 14 Eglin Road, Sunninghill, Sandton, Johannesburg, 2001

BUSINESS ADDRESS 3rd Floor, 1410 Eglin Office Park, 14 Eglin Road, Sunninghill, Sandton, Johannesburg, 2001

POSTAL ADDRESS PO Box 75769, Gardenview, 2047

BANKERS Nedbank Group Limited

AUDITOR Grant Thornton Johannesburg Partnership (Chartered Accountants)

GROUP SECRETARY Salome Ratlhagane (Appointed 13 April 2017) 

COMPANY REGISTRATION NUMBER 2016/323930/06

The consolidated and separate financial statements were audited in compliance with section 29(1)(e)(i)(aa) of the 
Companies Act of South Africa and were prepared by Salome Ratlhagane (CA) SA (Chief Financial Officer) under the 
supervision of Manley Diedloff (Group Chief Executive Officer).
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The Directors of the Company are responsible for the 
maintenance of adequate accounting records and the 
preparation and integrity of the financial statements and 
related information. The financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act of South 
Africa, International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
of the International Accounting Standards Board, the 
Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the 
Financial Reporting Standards Council, SAICA Financial 
Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices 
Committee, the JSE Listings Requirements and the 
Interpretations issued by IFRS Interpretations Committee.

The Company’s independent auditors, Grant Thornton, 
have audited the financial statements and their 
unmodified report appears on page 44.

The Directors are also responsible for the systems 
of internal control. These are designed to provide 
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance as to the 

SECRETARIAL CERTIFICATION

In accordance with section 88(2) (e) of the Companies Act of South Africa, it is hereby certified that to the best of my 
knowledge the Company has lodged with the Register of Companies all such returns as are required by a public 
Company in terms of the Act and such returns are true and correct for the financial period ended 28 February 2018.

reliability of the financial statements, and to adequately 
safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of assets, 
and to prevent and detect material misstatement and 
loss. The systems are implemented and monitored 
by suitably trained personnel with an appropriate 
segregation of authority and duties. Nothing has come 
to the attention of the Directors to indicate that any 
material breakdown in the functioning of these controls, 
procedures and systems has occurred during the year 
under review.

The consolidated and separate financial statements 
are prepared on a going-concern basis. Nothing has 
come to the attention of the Directors to indicate that 
the Company will not remain a going concern for the 
foreseeable future. 

The financial statements set out on pages 49 to 92 were 
approved by the Board of Directors and are signed on 
their behalf by:

MANLEY DIEDLOFF
30 April 2018

SALOME RATLHAGANE 
30 April 2018

SALOME RATLHAGANE 
Company Secretary
30 April 2018

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated and separate 
financial statements of Master Plastics Limited (“the 
Group”) set out on pages 49 to 92, which comprise the 
statements of financial position as at 28 February 2018,
and the statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, the statements of changes in 
equity and the statements of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated and separate financial position of the 
Group as at 28 February 2018, and its consolidated and 
separate financial performance and consolidated and 
separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS 
OF MASTER PLASTICS LIMITED

KEY AUDIT MATTER HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED 
THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – 
VALUATION CONSIDERATIONS

The Group and Company has a significant investment in property, 
plant and equipment as set out in note 3 (Group) and note 1 
(Company) to the financial statements.  Plant and machinery used 
in the manufacturing process represents 88% (Group) and 86% 
(Company) of the total carrying value.  We accordingly focused 
our audit attention on this category.

The valuation of assets has been identified as a key audit matter, 
due to the following elements having a significant impact on the 
valuation process: 

• Reassessing the residual values and useful lives assigned 
 to assets on an annual basis; in accordance with IAS 16 
 Property, plant and equipment; and Identification of 
 impairment indicators, and where identified, impairment 
 testing in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

WE PERFORMED THE FOLLOWING AUDIT 
PROCEDURES AMONGST OTHERS:

• Reviewed management’s reassessment of useful lives and 
 residual values and performed reasonability tests by 
 comparing this to historic profits and losses made on 
 retirement or sale of assets at the end of their useful lives, 
 current average usage periods and current market 
 conditions. Where this comparison resulted in management’s 
 assessments of useful lives and/or residual values appearing 
 out of line with expectation, we performed independent 
 assessments on the population to assess the materiality and
 sensitivity of these inputs;
• We assessed whether useful lives were reasonable by 
 comparing a sample of management’s assessment 
 of useful lives to external written representations from 
 equipment manufacturers. 
• Recalculated the depreciation charge per asset category 
 and compared this to the amount recorded in the 
 accounting records; 
• Using our understanding of events and conditions 
 occurring within the Group entities, we determined whether 
 any impairment considerations may exist. We compared this 
 assessment to those performed by management.  
• We assessed the adequacy of the Group’s and Company’s 
 disclosure of property, plant and equipment.

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with 
the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors Code 
of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA 
Code) and other independence requirements applicable 
to performing audits of financial statements in South 
Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance 
with other ethical requirements applicable to performing 
audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with 
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A and 
B). We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated 
and separate financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.

The following key audit matter relates to the 
consolidated and separate financial statements. 
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OTHER INFORMATION

The Directors are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the Directors’ Report, the 
Audit Committee’s Report and the Company Secretary’s 
Certificate as required by the Companies Act of South 
Africa, which we obtained prior to the date of this report, 
and the Integrated Annual Report, which is expected to 
be made available to us after that date.  Other information 
does not include the consolidated and separate 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial 
statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated and separate financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 
we have performed on the other information obtained 
prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard. 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS 
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of 
the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal 
control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated and separate financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial 
statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing 
the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate 
the Group and/or the Company or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND 
SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated and separate 
financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated and separate financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
 of the consolidated and separate financial 
 statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
 and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
 risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
 appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
 risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
 resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
 from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
 intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
 override of internal control. 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
 to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
 are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
 purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
 of the Group’s and the Company’s internal control. 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
 used and the reasonableness of accounting 
 estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors. 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors of 
 the going concern basis of accounting and based 
 on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
 uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
 that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and 
 the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
 are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
 to the related disclosures in the consolidated and 
 separate financial statements or, if such disclosures 
 are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
 conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
 obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
 However, future events or conditions may cause the 
 Group and/or the Company to cease to continue as 
 a going concern. 
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GRANT THORNTON

Registered Auditors

Practice Number: 903485E

R M Huiskamp

Partner

Registered Auditor

Chartered Accountant (SA)

30 April 2018

@Grant Thornton

Wanderers Office Park

52 Corlett Drive

Illovo

2196

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
 content of the consolidated and separate financial 
 statements, including the disclosures, and whether 
 the consolidated and separate financial statements 
 represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
 manner that achieves fair presentation. 
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
 regarding the financial information of the entities 
 or business activities within the Group to express 
 an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
 We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
 and performance of the Group audit. We remain 
 solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Directors with a statement that 
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them 

all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we 
determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 
such communication. 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND 
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government 
Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we 
report that this is Grant Thornton Johannesburg’s first 
year as auditor of Master Plastics Limited.
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 TRADING RESULTS 2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

Revenue 504 479 9 347

Profit/(loss) before taxation 48 815 (808)

Profit/(loss) attributable to 
ordinary shareholders 36 355 (582)

Earnings/(loss) per ordinary share 
(cents) 29.46 (13.9)

Headline earnings/(loss) 
per ordinary share (cents)

29.51 (13.9)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors submit their report for the year ended  
28 February 2018.

MAIN BUSINESS AND OPERATIONS

Establishment of the Master Plastics Group

In line with Astrapak Limited’s resolved strategy aimed 
at becoming a focused rigid packaging business and 
pursuant to an offer from RPC plc, the Astrapak Limited 
Board resolved to unbundle Master Plastics to its ordinary 
shareholders by way of a distribution in specie in terms of 
section 46(1)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act of South Africa and 
section 46 of the Income Tax Act. In order to give effect to 
this and prior to the implementation of the unbundling, the 
Company was incorporated, and a number of companies 
and/or assets were disposed of to the Company through a 
series of asset-for-share transactions at the end of January 
2017 and February 2017, resulting in the establishment of the 
Group. The Group had accordingly only been trading for 
1 month during the comparative period. The Company itself 
was formed during 2016. The Group was unbundled from 
Astrapak Limited and listed on the JSE Alt-X Exchange on 
24 May 2017.

Master Plastics manufactures and distributes an 
extensive range of plastic packaging and agricultural 
products. The Group has manufacturing facilities in all 
major centres of South Africa.

The operating results and state of affairs of the Group 
are set out in the attached financial statements and do 
not, in our opinion, require any further comment.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The comparative period, due to the timing of the 
establishment of the Group and the unbundling, covers 
only one month’s trading by some of the Group’s entities 
and the results are therefore not directly comparable.

SUBSIDIARIES

The list of all parties related to the Group during the year 
ended 28 February 2018 is disclosed in note 29 of the 
financial statements.

A number of special resolutions were passed by 
subsidiary companies. None of these resolutions are of 
significance to the shareholders in assessing the state of 
affairs of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The names of the Directors of the Company are listed on 
page 42 of these financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The aggregate remuneration and benefits paid to the 
Executive and Non-Executive Directors of the Group for 
the year ended 28 February 2018 are set out in note 30 of 
the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and 
equipment to the value of R 26.2 million (2017: R 1.1 million).

Plant and machinery with a cost of R 0.37 million was 
impaired to nil in the current year (2017: R nil).

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All Executive Directors and prescribed officers have 
service level agreements in place.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST

Directors’ interest in shares has been set out in the Shareholder 
Information on page 93 – Director interest in shares.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Board of Directors has considered and satisfied itself 
on the competence, qualification and experience of the 
Company Secretary.

DISTRIBUTION TO ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS

Master Plastics declared an ordinary dividend of R 75 million 
during the financial year ended 28 February 2018, (2017: R nil). 
The dividend was declared and paid to its parent company, 
Astrapak Limited, prior to the unbundling of the Group.

LITIGATION STATEMENT

In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, the Directors, whose 
names appear on page 42 of these financial statements, 
have confirmed that they are not aware of any other legal 
or arbitration proceedings, including proceedings that 
are pending or threatened, that may have or have had in 
the recent past, being at least the previous 12 months, a 
material effect on the Group’s financial position.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Directors are not aware of any matter or 
circumstance arising since the end of the financial 
period until the date of their report that would require 
adjustment to or disclosure in the financial statement.

AUTHORISED AND ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL 

Details of the authorised share capital are given in 
note 10 and note 9 to the consolidated and separate 
financial statements respectively.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit Committee has discharged all its 
responsibilities and carried out all the functions assigned 
to it in terms of section 94(7) of the Companies Act of 
South Africa and as recommended by the King IV report.

The Audit Committee has adopted formal terms of 
reference, as delegated to it by the Board, as its Audit 
Committee Charter in line with King IV.

The Audit Committee herewith confirms that it has 
discharged the functions in terms of its charter and 
ascribed to it in terms of the Companies Act of South 
Africa in the following manner:

• reviewed external audit reports on the financial 
 statements and considered the key matters noted 
 in the annual financial statements and recommended 
 the adoption thereof to the Board;
• reviewed the Board-approved internal audit and 
 risk charters;
• reviewed and approved the internal audit plan;
• assessed the independence of the internal audit 
 functions and processes;
• reviewed and approved the adopted approach to 
 risk management and the risk registers produced via 
 the risk assessment process;
• reviewed all internal audit and risk management reports;
• reviewed the internal audit and risk management
 plans and where required made recommendations  
 to the Board on remedial actions to be taken;
• evaluated the effectiveness of risk management, 
 control and various governance processes;    
• nominated Grant Thornton as auditor and noted the 
 appointment of Mr Rudi Huiskamp as the designated 
 auditor. Requested from the audit firm and consulted 
 with the audit firm on the information detailed in 
 paragraph 22.15(h) of the JSE Listings Requirements in 
 their assessment of the suitability of the appointment 
 of auditors and their designated partner, Mr Rudi 
 Huiskamp at the time of appointment.
• ensured the appointment complied with all legal and 
 regulatory requirements for appointing an auditor; 
• verified the independence of the external auditors;
• approved the auditor’s annual plan and scope of 
 work, monitored the effectiveness of the external auditor
 in terms of audit quality, expertise and independence;
• reviewed and approved audit fees and engagement 
 terms of the external auditor;  
• considered and determined the nature and extent of 
 non-audit services;  
• considered and satisfied itself that the Chief Financial 
 Officer has appropriate expertise and experience and 
 that the composition, experience and skills of the 
 finance function met the Group’s requirements; 

• ensured that appropriate financial procedures are 
 established and that those procedures are operating; 
• considered and reviewed the appropriateness of IT 
 risks and controls;
• reviewed and monitored the appropriateness of the 
 Group’s combined assurance model and ensured that 
 significant risks facing the business were adequately 
 addressed; and
• received and dealt appropriately with any complaints, 
 from within or outside the company, relating to the 
 accounting practices and internal audit of the 
 company, to the content or auditing of its financial 
 statements, or any related matter.

SIGNIFICANT MATTERS IN RELATION TO 
THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Independent Auditors Report on pages 44 to 46 
details the following key matter:

• Property, plant and equipment valuation considerations.

The committee is satisfied that this key audit matter was 
adequately and appropriately addressed in the context 
of the audit.

In the course of its reviews the Audit Committee took 
appropriate steps to ensure that the financial statements 
were prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, paragraph 8.62 of the 
JSE Listings Requirements and in the manner required 
by the Companies Act. It further considered and made 
recommendations on internal financial controls, dealt with 
any concerns or queries of matters financial, audit or risk 
related, and reviewed and considered all legal matters that 
could have a significant impact on the organisation and 
the financial results reported or to be reported.

The Audit Committee determined that, during the 
financial year under review, it had discharged its legal, 
regulatory and all other responsibilities, as might be 
defined in its charter and terms of reference. The Board 
concurs with this assessment.

S MASINGA 

30 April 2018
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NOTES 2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 3 148 216 145 759

Deferred taxation asset 4 5 309 8 648

153 525 154 407

Current assets

Inventories 5 59 962 46 260

Trade and other receivables 6 97 917 71 214

Cash and cash equivalents 11.3 15 985 94 182

Taxation asset 543 -

174 407 211 656

Assets classified as held-for-sale 8 8 985 214

Total assets 336 917 366 277

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Total equity

Share capital 10 231 323 235 404

Common control reserve (7 584) (7 584)

Retained loss (39 227) (582)

184 512 227 238

Non-current liabilities

Long-term interest-bearing debt 11.1 9 117 5 974

Long-term financial liability 12 15 528 15 528

Deferred taxation liability 4 19 412 22 257

44 057 43 759

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 13 100 289 87 393

Short-term interest-bearing debt  11.2 8 059 6 843

Taxation payable - 1 044

108 348 95 280

Total equity and liabilities 336 917 366 277

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 28 FEBRUARY 2018
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NOTES 2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

Revenue 14 504 479 9 347

Cost of sales (386 249) (7 382)

Gross profit 118 230 1 965

Distribution and selling costs (29 834) (2 453)

Administrative and other operating expenses (39 293) (421)

Profit/(loss) from operations 15 49 103 (909)

Investment income 16 1 211 103

Finance costs 16 (1 499) (2)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 48 815 (808)

Taxation (expense)/benefit 17 (12 460) 226

Profit/(loss) for the year 36 355 (582)

Other comprehensive profit/(loss) - -

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the year 36 355 (582)

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent 36 355 (582)

Earnings/(loss) per ordinary share (cents) 18 29.5 (13.9)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018

SHARE 
CAPITAL

R ‘000

RETAINED 
LOSS

R ‘000

COMMON 
CONTROL 
RESERVE*

R ‘000
TOTAL
R ‘000

Balance at incorporation - - - -

Ordinary share capital issued 235 404 - - 235 404

Common control reserve on acquisition of equity interests in subsidiaries* - - (7 584) (7 584)

Total comprehensive loss for the period - (582) - (582)

Balance at 28 February 2017 235 404 (582) (7 584) 227 238

Ordinary share capital repurchased** (4 081) - - (4 081)

Dividends paid - (75 000) - (75 000)

Total comprehensive income for the year - 36 355 - 36 355

Balance at 28 February 2018 231 323 (39 227) (7 584) 184 512

* The common control reserve arose on the acquisition of equity interest by Master Plastics in Barrier Film Converters 
 Proprietary Limited, Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited and Micawber 451 Proprietary Limited in terms of the 
 restructure detailed in note 9 and represents the differential between the net asset value acquired and the value 
 of the shares issued for such net asset value by Master Plastics, which value represented the carrying value of the 
 relevant investment in the books of its parent.
** Refer to note 10.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018

NOTES 2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash generated from operations 22 42 788 2 166

Net interest (paid)/received 22 (288) 101

Taxation paid 25 (13 553) (764)

Dividends paid (75 000) -

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities (46 053) 1 503

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of business - 93 797

Additions to property, plant and equipment 23 (13 239) (1 118)

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 300 -

Payment of contingent purchase price 13 (6 224) -

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities (19 163) 92 679

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment in interest-bearing debt 24 (8 900) -

Repurchase of ordinary shares* 10 (4 081) -

Net cash outflow from financing activities (12 981) -

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (78 197) 94 182

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 11.3 94 182 -

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 11.3 15 985 94 182

*refer to note 10.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND 
 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Master Plastics is a Group incorporated under the 
Companies Act of South Africa. The address of the 
registered office is given on page 104. The principal 
business of the Group is described in the Directors’ Report.

These financial statements are presented in South 
African Rand (R’000) as that is the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the Group operates.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The financial statements are in compliance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
of the International Accounting Standards Board, 
the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by 
the Accounting Practices Committee, the Financial 
Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial 
Reporting Standards Council, the requirements of the 
JSE Limited Listings Requirements and the Companies 
Act of South Africa.

1.1 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 
financial statements of the Master Plastics Limited Group 
and the entities controlled by the Group (its subsidiaries) 
as at 28 February each year. Control is achieved where 
the Group has the power to govern the financial and 
operating polices of an investee entity, so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities.

On acquisition of equity interests in entities under common 
control by the Group, the differential between the net asset 
value acquired and the value of the shares issued for 
such net asset value is allocated to the common control 
reserve, which represented the carrying value of the 
relevant investment in the books of its parent.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income from the effective 
date of acquisition or up to the effective date of 
disposal as appropriate.

Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed 
to the owner of the Group.

1.2 REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable and represents 
amounts receivable for goods and services provided in 
the normal course of business, net of trade discounts, 
rebates and other sales-related taxes.

Sales of goods are recognised when goods are delivered, 
and title has passed.

Contract revenues and expenses are recognised by 
reference to the stage of completion of contract activity 
where the outcome of the construction contract can be 
estimated reliably, otherwise revenue is recognised only 
to the extent of recoverable contract costs incurred.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference 
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest 
rate applicable.

1.3 OPERATING LEASES 

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged 
to income on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease.

1.4 FOREIGN CURRENCIES 

Transactions in currencies other than South African 
Rand are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing 
on the dates of the transactions. At each year end date, 
monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing 
on the year end date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the 
date when the fair value was determined. Gains and 
losses arising on translation are included in net profit 
or loss for the period, except for exchange differences 
arising on non-monetary assets and liabilities where the 
changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity.

To hedge its exposure to certain foreign exchange risks, 
the Group enters into forward contracts and options.

1.5  GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value 
when there is reasonable assurance that the grant 
will be received and all the attaching conditions will 
be complied with. Government grants are recognised 
as income over the periods necessary to match them 
with the costs they are intended to compensate on a 
systematic basis.

1.6 IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews 
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have 
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in 
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if 
any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
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amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent 
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets 
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, 
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest Group 
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and 
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates 
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating 
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) 
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating 
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its 
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset (or the cash-generating unit) in 
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

1.7 RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS 

Under defined contribution plans, the Group’s legal or 
constructive obligation is limited to the amount that 
it agrees to contribute to the fund. Consequently, the 
actuarial risk that benefits will be less than expected and
the investment risk that assets invested will be insufficient 
to meet expected benefits is borne by the employee.

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit 
schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due.

1.8 NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE

Assets that are classified as held-for-sale are measured 
in accordance with IFRS 5 “Non-current assets held-
for-sale”. Non-current assets and disposal groups are 
classified as held-for-sale if the carrying amount will be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather 
than through continuing use. 

The assets which have been classified as held-for-sale 
are available for immediate sale and management is 
committed to a plan to sell the asset. Management has 

actively marketed the assets for sale at reasonable price 
in relation to the asset’s current fair value.

1.9 TAXATION

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently 
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for 
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported 
in the statement of comprehensive income because it 
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and it further excludes items 
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability 
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement 
of financial position date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or 
recoverable on differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using 
the statement of financial position liability method.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all 
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets 
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax asset is reviewed at 
each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply in the period when the liability is 
settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or 
credited in the statement of comprehensive income.

1.10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Property, plant and equipment is accounted for at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairments. All direct costs, including finance costs 
relating to major capital projects, are capitalised up to 
the date of commissioning.

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount 
of the item if it is probable that the future economic 
benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group 
and its cost can be measured reliably. 

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of 
assets less their residual values, over their estimated 
economic useful lives, using the straight-line method. 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)
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Residual values and estimated useful lives are assessed 
and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, 
adjusted prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

1.11 INVENTORIES 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials 
and, where applicable direct labour costs and those 
overheads that have been incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is 
calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net 
realisable value represents the estimated selling price 
less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be 
incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. Inventory 
is valued using the standard costing.

The amount of any write-down of inventories, whether 
as a result of obsolescence or any other reason, to net 
realisable value are recognised as an expense in the 
year the write down occurs. The amount of any reversal 
of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase 
in the net realisable value, are recognised as a reduction 
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in 
the year in which the reversal occurs.

1.12 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

CASH-SETTLED TRANSACTIONS 

The cost of cash-settled transactions is measured initially 
at fair value at the grant date using the Black-Scholes 
model. This model takes into account the terms and 
conditions upon which the instruments were granted. 
This fair value is expensed over the period until vesting 
with recognition of a corresponding liability. The number 
of options that are expected to vest are revised at each 
reporting date and the liability is remeasured up to and 
including the settlement date with changes in fair value 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

1.13 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
on the statement of financial position when the Group 
or the Company has become a party to contractual 
provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value. The contingent consideration 
is kept at fair value. Transaction costs are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets 
and liabilities (other than financial assets and financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added 
to or deducted from the fair value of financial assets or 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. 
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition 

of financial assets or financial liabilities are recognised 
either at fair value through profit or loss or recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

Loans and receivables which comprise trade and other 
receivables and loans to group companies are measured 
at initial recognition at fair value and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated 
irrecoverable trade receivables are recognised in profit 
or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset 
should be impaired.

Other financial instruments which comprise trade and 
other payables and short-term interest-bearing debt 
are measured at initial recognition at fair value and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the net of cash on 
hand and overdrafts, demand deposits, treasury account 
and other short-term highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded 
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

1.14 JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, 
which are described above, the directors are required 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates 
and associated assumptions are based on historic 
experience and other factors that are considered to be 
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 
revised if the revision affects only that period or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

RESIDUAL VALUES 

The Group assesses residual values of property, plant and 
equipment on an annual basis. Estimation is made of 
the amount it would receive currently for the asset if the 
asset was already of the age and condition expected 
at the end of its useful life, this estimation could change 
over time and therefore impact both depreciation 
charges and the carrying values of the property, plant 
and equipment.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)
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ASSET IMPAIRMENTS

The Group evaluates its non-current assets for 
impairment annually whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the 
asset may not be recoverable. If such an indication exists, 
the recoverable amount is estimated as the higher of 
the fair value less cost of disposal and the value in use. 
Judgements regarding the existence of impairment 
indicators are based on market conditions and 
operational performance of the business. Future events 
could cause management to conclude that impairment 
indicators exist.

USEFUL LIFE

The useful life of an asset is the period over which the 
Group expects to use the asset, and not necessarily the 
asset’s economic life. Useful lives of assets are reviewed 
annually. If these change from the prior period, the 
depreciation charge is adjusted prospectively.

The Group uses the following indicators to determine 
useful lives:

• Expected usage of assets;
• Expected physical wear and tear; and 
• Technical or commercial obsolescence.

The useful lives of property, plant and equipment are  
as follows;

Leasehold improvements 5 years - 10 years
Plant and machinery 5 years - 20 years
Office equipment 3 years 
Motor vehicles 5 years

Buildings are not depreciated as the residual value is in 
excess of the carrying value.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at 
each reporting date and is adjusted to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 
Management’s judgement is required to determine the 
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, 
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable 
profits together with future tax planning strategies. 
Management also assesses budgets and forecasts.

1.15 SEGMENTAL REPORTING

The Group has reportable segments that comprise the 
structure used by the Chief Operating Decision Maker, 
this being the Group Chief Executive Officer, to make key 
operating decisions and assess performance. The Group’s 

reportable segments are operating segments that are 
differentiated by the activities that each undertakes.

The financial information of the Group’s reportable 
segments is reported to the Group Chief Executive Officer 
for purposes of making decisions about allocating 
resources to the segment and assessing its performance.
 
As the financial information reported on for the period 
ended 28 February 2017 relates only to 1 (one) month’s 
trading and is mainly attributable to the business of 
Barrier Film Converters Proprietary Limited and due to 
the timing of the transactions of which Master Plastics 
acquired the underlying operations, a segmentation 
of the financial information reported would not be 
meaningful for the period ended 28 February 2017. A 
segmentation of the financial information for the year 
ended 28 February 2018 has however been presented.

1.16 HEADLINE EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Group has followed the recommendation contained 
in Circular 2/2015 Headline Earnings issued by SAICA and 
has published headline earnings per share in addition 
to attributable earnings per share. Headline earnings 
per share has been calculated in accordance with the 
requirements of Circular 2/2015. 

1.17 INVESTMENT AND LOANS

Investment in and loans to Group subsidiaries are stated 
at cost less any provision for impairment.

The Company assesses investments and loans for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value of an investment or 
loan may not be recoverable. If any such indication of 
impairment exists, the Company makes an estimate of the 
recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount is less than 
the value of the investment and loans, the investment 
and loan is considered to be impaired and is written 
down to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in the profit and loss account.

2. ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
 ADOPTED IMPACTING THE 
 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED STANDARDS

During the year the Group adopted the following revised 
standards for the first time;

• IAS 7 amendments to IAS 7 Cash flows.

The Group did not adopt any new or revised accounting 
standards in the current year that had a significant 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)
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impact on the amounts or disclosures reported in these 
financial statements.

2.1 IMPACT OF STANDARDS NOT YET ADOPTED

At the reporting date or signing date, the following new 
and/or revised accounting standards were in issue but 
not yet effective:

IFRS 2 – CLASSIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT

The amendments provide requirements on the 
accounting for:

• The effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on 
 the measurement of cash-settled share-based payments;
• Share-based payment transactions with a net 
 settlement feature for withholding tax obligations; and
• A modification to the terms and conditions of a share-
 based payment that changes the classification of the 
 transaction from cash-settled to equity-settled.

The amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of this 
amendment. The Group does not have any share-based 
payment transactions with a net settlement feature for 
withholding tax obligations and the Share Appreciation 
Rights utilised by the company does not currently allow 
for them to be equity settled. The Share Appreciation 
Rights currently in issue do have a minimum share price 
vesting condition attached and the effect of vesting and 
non-vesting conditions on the measurement of these 
Share Appreciation Rights will be determined at the 
next measurement date giving due consideration to the 
ruling share price in relation to this minimum share price 
vesting condition at that time.

IFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The new standard introduces new requirements for 
classification and measurement, impairment and 
hedge accounting. The new model introduces a single 
impairment model being applied to all financial 
instruments, as well as an “expected credit loss” model for 
the measurement of financial assets.

The amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of this 
amendment. The Group does not expect a material 
impact on specific or general provisions for credit losses 
on its separate and consolidated financial statements 
other than the additional disclosure requirements. 
Based on the historical loss ratios we are of the view 
that the impairment of trade receivables due to the 

change of the impairment model would not be material. 
It is not expected that IFRS 9 will significantly impact 
the accounting treatment of inter-company loans. The 
Group does not have any hedged exposures and hedge 
accounting is therefore not applicable. 

IFRS 15 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

This new standard establishes a five-step model that will 
apply to revenue arising from contracts with customers. 
The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured 
approach to measuring and recognising revenue.

The amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of this 
amendment. The majority of the Group’s sales are 
represented by the sale of plastic packaging materials 
and solutions and sales are made for cash or short-term 
credit (less than 90 days). The Group further generates 
contract revenue and where applicable the Group has 
commenced a process of reviewing and will amend any 
documentation where deemed appropriate. The Group 
does not expect a significant impact on its separate 
and consolidated financial statements. The Group does 
expect additional disclosure requirements. 

IFRS 16 LEASES

IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lessee 
accounting model.

The amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

The Group is yet to fully assess the impact of the standard 
and therefore is unable to provide quantified information 
at this time. However, in order to determine the impact, 
the Group is in process of performing a full review of 
all existing and affected lease arrangements to assess 
which would be affected under IFRS 16 new definition of a 
lease. Once the review is completed we will decide which 
transitional provisions to adopt, which optional accounting 
simplifications are available and where to apply them. We 
believe that the application of the standard will have a 
material impact in respect of specifically property rental 
agreements where these leases were previously off-
balance sheet assets and liabilities, it will now have to 
be recognised. Additional disclosure requirements will 
also be required as a result thereof.

The Group did not early adopt any new, revised or 
amended accounting standards. The accounting 
standards, amendments to issued accounting standards, 
which are relevant to the Group but not yet effective at 
28 February 2018, are being evaluated for the impact of 
these pronouncements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

LAND AND 
BUILDINGS***

R ‘000

PLANT AND 
MACHINERY****

R ‘000

MOTOR
VEHICLES

R ’000
TOTAL
R ‘000

2018
COST
Balance at the beginning of the year 23 734 249 730 2 722 276 186
Additions 39 24 964 1 249 26 252
Assets classified as held-for-sale* (8 739) - - (8 739)
Balance at the end of the year 15 034 274 694 3 971 293 699 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
Balance at the beginning of the year (343) (128 709) (1 375) (130 427)
Depreciation charge (36) (14 333) (524) (14 893)
Impairment charge** - (163) - (163)
Balance at the end of the year (379) (143 205) (1 899) (145 483)
Net book value at 28 February 2018 14 655 131 489 2 072 148 216

* Refer to note 8.
** The impairment loss relates to the impairment of an item of plant and machinery which has become redundant 
 due to investment in more current technology during the period.
*** Included in land and buildings are leasehold improvements with a carrying amount of R 0.05 million.
**** Included in plant and machinery are furniture and fittings with a carrying amount of R 0.23 million and office 
 equipment with a carrying amount of R 1.4 million. 

The instalment sale agreement and other variable rate loans are secured by the related plant and equipment with net 
book value of R 27.4 million (2017 R 12.8 million.)

2017
COST
Balance at the beginning of the period - - - -
Acquisition of business* 23 734 249 266 2 282 275 282
Additions – post restructuring - 678 440 1 118
Assets classified as held-for-sale – excess production equipment - (214) - (214)
Balance at the end of the period 23 734 249 730 2 722 276 186

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
Balance at the beginning of the period - - - - 
Acquisition of business* (343) (128 500) (1 339) (130 182)
Charge for the period - (209) (36) (245)
Balance at the end of the period (343) (128 709) (1 375) (130 427)
Net book value at 28 February 2017 23 391 121 021 1 347 145 759

* Represents property, plant and equipment acquired by Master Plastics Limited through the ‘asset-for-share’ transactions.

COST
R ‘000

ACCUMULATED
DEPRECIATION

R ‘000

NET BOOK
VALUE
R ‘000

RECONCILIATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AT 28 FEBRUARY 2018
Land and buildings 15 034 (379) 14 655
Plant and machinery 274 694 (143 205) 131 489
Motor vehicles 3 971 (1 899) 2 072

293 699 (145 483) 148 216

AT 28 FEBRUARY 2017
Land and buildings 23 734 (343) 23 391
Plant and machinery 249 730 (128 709) 121 021
Motor vehicles 2 722 (1 375) 1 347

276 186 (130 427) 145 759

Buildings are not depreciated as the residual value is in excess of the carrying value.
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2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

4. DEFERRED TAX ASSET/(LIABILITY)
Accelerated wear and tear for taxation purposes on plant and equipment (26 850) (26 661)
Estimated taxation losses 9 644 12 523
Prepayments and provisions 1 866 529
Straight-lining of leases 768 -
Income received in advance 128 -
Share Appreciation Rights 341 -
Net deferred taxation liability (14 103) (13 609)

RECONCILIATION BETWEEN OPENING AND CLOSING BALANCES:
Net deferred taxation liability at the beginning of the year (13 609) -
Acquisition of business - (13 877)
Utilisation of tax losses (2 879) -
Net originating difference on property, plant and equipment (189) -
Prepayments and provisions 1 337 268
Straight-lining of leases 768 -
Income received in advance 128 -
Share Appreciation Rights 341 -
Net deferred taxation liability at the end of the period (14 103) (13 609)

Analysed between:
Deferred taxation asset 5 309 8 648
Deferred taxation liability (19 412) (22 257)
Net deferred taxation liability at the end of the period (14 103) (13 609)

Based on the budgets and forecasts completed, management has determined the assessed loss to be recoverable.

5. INVENTORIES
Raw materials 28 260 19 209
Work-in-progress 6 508 4 649
Finished goods 18 706 17 140
Consumable stores 6 488 5 262
Total 59 962 46 260

The cost of inventory recognised as an expense during the period was recognised as R 267 million (2017 R 5.4 million).  
An expense of R 0.48 million (2017: R nil) was recognised in respect of inventory written down to net realisable value.

6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables 74 910 60 963
Provision for doubtful debt (2 030) (392)

72 880 60 571

Rates clearance prepayments 3 045 8 749
Value added tax receivable - 1 140
Prepayments relating to assets-under-construction* 16 119 -
Prepayments and deposits 4 312 -
Other 1 561 754
Total 97 917 71 214

* Represents amounts paid by the financier of the Group to machine suppliers until such time as the assets are 
commissioned and asset-based-finance agreements are entered into between the Group and the financier. The Group 
accordingly recognises both Other receivables and Other payables of equivalent value for the aggregate amounts paid.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
The carrying value of trade and other receivables approximates fair value.

Credit period on trade receivables is 30-90 days. The Group has not recognised an allowance for doubtful debts against 
certain receivables balances based on the past default experience of the counterparty and analysis of the counterparty’s 
current financial position. Certain debtors are also covered up to 80% by credit guarantee insurance. Before accepting 
any new customers, the Group uses an external credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and 
defines credit limits to customers. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed on an ad hoc basis.

Due to the short-term maturity of these financial assets, the fair value of the trade receivables approximates the 
carrying amount.

7. CLASSIFICATION OF TRADE RECEIVABLES
TRADE RECEIVABLES ARE CLASSIFIED AS FOLLOWS:
Agriculture 46 590 28 969
Bakery 817 1 027
Beverage - 849
Dairy 1 433 1 031
Food 6 356 3 190
Packaging 12 283 12 364
Retailers 1 819 4 603
Industrial 3 978 5 671
Other 1 634 3 259

74 910 60 963

TYPE OF CUSTOMER 
Private 62 347 54 631
Listed 12 484 6 332
Other 79 -

74 910 60 963

RECONCILIATION OF DOUBTFUL DEBT PROVISION
Opening balance 392 -
Add: increases due to additional doubtful debts 1 638 392
Closing balance 2 030 392

THE GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT OF ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
IS CLASSIFIED ACCORDING TO THE FOLLOWING CREDIT RISK CRITERIA:
Neither past due nor impaired 68 874 55 113
Past due but the terms renegotiated 1 902 3 919
Past due but not impaired 4 134 1 931
Closing balance 74 910 60 963

AGEING OF THE GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT OF TRADE RECEIVABLES CLASSIFIED AS PAST 
DUE OR IMPAIRED, BUT THE TERMS RENEGOTIATED AND PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED:
30-60 days - 522
60-90 days 1 435 3 113
90-120 days 798 1 515
120+ days 3 803 700
Closing balance 6 036 5 850

The group has not impaired receivable balances that are classified as ‘past due but not impaired’ or ‘past due but 
the terms renegotiated’ at the reporting date as these relate to customers for whom there is no history of default, an 
analysis of the counterparty’s financial position has been undertaken and the Group considers these receivable balances 
to be recoverable. Certain debtors are also covered up to 80% by credit guarantee insurance. Post the reporting date 
R 3.0 million of the outstanding R 6.0 million balance of trade receivables classified as past due or impaired, but the terms 
renegotiated and past due but not impaired has already been received.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)
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7. CLASSIFICATION OF TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
CREDIT RISK CATEGORISATION FOR THE GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT 
OF TRADE RECEIVABLES CLASSIFIED AS NEITHER PAST DUE NOR IMPAIRED:
Low risk 68 874 55 113
Medium risk 6 036 5 850

8. ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE
Opening balance at the beginning of the year 214 -
Assets classified as held-for-sale – excess production equipment - 214
Property* 246 -
Property transferred from property, plant and equipment 8 739 -
Assets previously classified as held-for-sale now impaired (214) -
Closing balance 8 985 214

Assets classified as held-for-sale relate to land and buildings that are being disposed of.

In November 2017, management classified owned properties which is in excess of the Group’s requirements as assets 
held-for-sale. Management is committed to a plan to sell the asset and has actively marketed the property for sale at 
a price that is reasonable in relation to the property’s current fair value. An independent broker has been appointed to 
market the properties on the Group’s behalf. 

*Property additions capitalised to assets held-for-sale.

9. ESTABLISHMENT OF THE MASTER PLASTICS GROUP IN THE PRIOR YEAR
In line with Astrapak Limited’s resolved strategy aimed at becoming a focused rigid packaging business and pursuant 
to an offer from RPC plc, the Astrapak Limited Board resolved to unbundle Master Plastics to its ordinary shareholders by 
way of a distribution in specie in terms of section 46(1)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act and section 46 of the Income Tax Act. 
In order to give effect to this and prior to the implementation of the unbundling, Master Plastics was incorporated, and a 
number of companies and/or assets were disposed of to the Company through a series of asset-for-share transactions at 
the end of January 2017 and February 2017, which resulted in the establishment of the Master Plastics Group. The Master 
Plastics Group has accordingly only traded for a period of 1 month during the comparative period.

10. SHARE CAPITAL

AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary share capital

400 000 000 no par value shares 400 000 400 000

ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary share capital

117 535 232 (2017: 135 131 250) no par value shares

Stated capital 231 323 235 404

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)

NO. OF SHARES
‘000

STATED CAPITAL
R ‘000

10. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
RECONCILIATION OF SHARE CAPITAL
Opening balance 135 131 235 404
Shares repurchased (17 596) (4 081)
Closing balance 117 535 231 323

During the year the Group repurchased a total number of 17 596 018 shares, which included 14 096 018 shares repurchased 
from the Astrapak Limited Linked Unit Trust Scheme and Astrapak Gauteng Proprietary Limited at R 0.01 per share, with 
the balance of 3 500 000 shares being acquired in the open market at an average price of R 1.12. 

AT PERIOD-END, THE RATIOS WERE:
Interest-bearing debt (17 176) (12 817)
Cash and cash equivalents 15 985 94 182
Net interest-bearing (debt)/cash (1 191) 81 365

Ordinary share capital 231 323 235 404
Retained loss (39 227) (582)
Common control reserve on acquisition of equity interest in subsidiaries (7 584) (7 584)
Adjusted capital 184 512 227 238

Net interest-bearing (debt)/cash to adjusted capital (%) (0.6) 35.8

2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

11. INTEREST-BEARING DEBT AND CASH

11.1 LONG-TERM INTEREST-BEARING DEBT

SECURED DEBT
Instalment sale agreements (variable rate) 17 176 12 817

Total long-term interest-bearing debt secured 17 176 12 817
Current portion transferred to short-term interest-bearing debt (8 059) (6 843)
Net long-term interest-bearing debt 9 117 5 974

Long-term and short-term interest-bearing debt represents asset-based finance liabilities which are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method. The instalment sale agreement and other variable rate loans are secured by 
the related plant and equipment with a net book value of R 27.4 million (2017: R 12.8 million). Refer to note 3.

The instalment sale agreements bear interest at variable rates, the majority of which are at prime less 2% and are 
payable in monthly instalments of R 819 964. Redemption is reviewed and rolled forward. Security is provided by the 
underlying property, plant and equipment.

ANALYSIS OF REPAYMENTS
Repayable: 
Within 1 year 8 059 6 843
Between 1 and 2 years 3 491 5 508
Between 2 and 3 years 2 480 466
Between 3 and 4 years 2 250 -
Between 4 and 5 years 896 -
Total capital repayments 17 176 12 817
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11. INTEREST-BEARING DEBT AND CASH (CONTINUED)

11.2 SHORT-TERM INTEREST-BEARING DEBT

Current portion of short-term interest-bearing debt 8 059 6 843

11.3 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances 15 985 94 182

Master Plastics Group facilities in aggregate are represented by the following:

R 20 million working capital facility at a prime-linked rate based on the facility utilised from time to time.
R 56 million asset-based finance facility repayable in monthly instalments based on the facility utilised from time to time 
at prime-related rate.

11.4 NET INTEREST-BEARING DEBT

Long-term interest-bearing debt 9 117 5 974
Short-term interest-bearing debt 8 059 6 843
Cash and cash equivalents (15 985) (94 182)

1 191 (81 365)

The Group evaluated numerous capital allocation opportunities during the period under review and invested to achieve 
an optimal result for ordinary shareholders. The opportunities that were pursued were funded partly by debt and partly 
by cash generated from within the Group. This resulted in net (debt)/cash of R 1.2 million (2017: R 81.4 million). The major 
capital allocations were R 26.2 million (2017: R 1.1 million) invested in property, plant and equipment, share buy-backs of 
R 4.081 million and an ordinary dividend payment of R 75.0 million.

12. LONG-TERM FINANCIAL LIABILITY

Long-term financial liability 15 528 15 528

The long-term financial liability, reflected at fair value, represents the estimated final payment that will be due to 
the vendor of Coralline Investments Proprietary Limited. This estimated amount was re-calculated at the end of 
28 February 2018 based on the actuals for the February 2017 and February 2018 financial years and the forecast for the 
financial year ending 28 February 2019 and remains unchanged from the comparative period. The original transaction 
occurred prior to the disposal of the Plusnet-Geotex business to Master Plastics by Astrapak in preparation of the 
unbundling. The final amount will be determined upon finalisation of the Group audited results for the financial year 
ended 28 February 2019, which is anticipated to be towards the end of May 2019. The amount finally due will therefore 
be re-calculated based on the agreed valuation formula and the actual results achieved over the financial years ended 
28 February 2017 to 28 February 2019 and could accordingly still vary from the amount of the financial liability currently 
reported. The final amount due will be settled over 2 financial years, with 70% being settled in May 2019 and the balance 
towards the end of 28 February 2021. Long-term financial liability is classified as a level 3 fair value in terms of the fair 
value hierarchy and has been discounted to its present value at a discount rate of 10%.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)

2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables 50 882 47 756
Inter-group creditors (note 29)** - 6 101

Other Payables
- Value Added Taxation 932 1 888
- Salaries and wages accruals 2 352 2 024
- Bonus accrual 3 197 1 346
- Leave pay accrual 3 135 2 279
- Straight-lining of leases 2 744 1 346
- Audit fees accrual 577 1 036
- Current portion of the long-term financial liability (note 12) - 6 224
- Customer receipts in advance 10 440 11 467
- Deferred income 3 566 4 214
- Pre-payments relating to assets under construction* 16 119 -
- SARs liability 1 218 -
- Other creditors*** 5 127 1 712

100 289 87 393

*  Refer to note 6 for details on nature of this amount.
The average credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 30-60 days. No interest is charged on the trade 
payables for the credit period from the date of the invoice. The Group has financial risk management policies in place 
to ensure that all payables are paid in accordance with the pre-agreed credit terms. The carrying amount of accounts 
payables approximates its fair value.

**  Astrapak Finance company is a division of Astrapak Manufacturing Holdings Proprietary Limited. Astrapak 
Manufacturing Holdings Proprietary Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Astrapak Limited. Prior to the unbundling 
of Master Plastics Limited on 24 May 2017, Astrapak Finance Company and Master Plastics company were both part of 
the Astrapak Group of companies.

*** Included in other creditors are sundry creditor accruals for rebates and electricity.

14. REVENUE
Sale of goods 516 367 9 347

Analysed as follows:

Gross sales: 516 367 9 687
- External customers (foreign) 6 469 76
- External customers (local) 509 898 9 611

Less: trade discounts allowed and rebates (11 888) (340)
504 479 9 347

15. PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS

Profit/(loss) from operations has been determined after taking into account the items detailed below:

Auditor’s remuneration – auditors fees (811) (104)

Depreciation
- Plant and machinery (14 333) (209)
- Motor vehicles (524) (36)
- Land and buildings (36) -

Staff costs (87 239) (2 908)
Foreign exchange loss realised (313) -
IFRS 2 Share-based payment rights expense (1 218) -
Impairment of plant and equipment (377) -
Profit on sale of plant and equipment 300 -
Retirement benefit (4 709) (134)
Rent expense (9 230) (438)
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16. NET FINANCE COSTS
Finance costs
-  External (1 499) (2)
Investment income
-  External 1 211 103

(288) 101

17. TAXATION
SA normal taxation  – current year 12 186 42
    – prior year (220) -
Deferred taxation  – current year 1 233 (268)
    – prior year (739)

12 460 (226)

RECONCILIATION OF TAXATION RATE
South African normal and effective taxation rate on companies 28.00% 28.00%
Non-taxable income – government grant (0.37%) -
Disallowable expenses – items of a capital nature 0.39% -
Utilisation of prior year losses (0.53%) -
Prior year adjustment (1.97%) -

25.52% 28.00%

Estimated taxation losses in Barrier Film Converters Proprietary Limited 
available to offset future profits 34 443 44 725

Taxation losses against which no deferred taxation asset was raised - -

18. EARNINGS/(LOSS) AND HEADLINE EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER ORDINARY SHARE
Earnings/(loss) per ordinary share (cents) 29.5 (13.9)
Headline earnings/(loss) per ordinary share (cents) 29.5 (13.9)

Weighted average number of shares in issue (‘000) 123 399 4 187

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders 36 355 (582)

Headline profit adjustments 55 -
Profit on sale of plant and equipment (300) -
Impairment of plant and equipment 377 -
Tax effect of adjustments  (22) -

Headline earnings/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders 36 410 (582)

Headline earnings/(loss) per ordinary share (cents)  29.5 (13.9)

 The company does not have any dilutive instruments in issue.
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19. DISTRIBUTION POLICY
The dividend policy of the Company is to distribute to its shareholders, all surplus funds to the operating and strategic 
needs of Master Plastics, as determined by the Board from time to time, with a target dividend pay-out ratio, in respect of 
each financial year, of 33,3% of headline earnings per share attributable to shareholders, but subject to the below, to the 
extent it may apply;

- the solvency and liquidity requirements in accordance with the Companies Act;
- any banking or further funding covenants by which Master Plastics may be found from time to time;
- the requirements or restrictions of the constitutional documents of Master Plastics.

The Board, however advises that it anticipates that earnings and cash generated will for the foreseeable future be re-
invested in projects and potential acquisition opportunities available to the Master Plastics group to fuel further growth. 

The Directors have declared an ordinary dividend of R 75.0 million to Astrapak Limited on 12 May 2017 prior to the 
unbundling of Master Plastics Limited.

2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

20. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Authorised, contracted and not spent* 33 316 -
Authorised, not yet contracted for - 665

*A total of R 16.119 million of this amount has been paid by the financier of the Group at the reporting date. Refer to note 6 
and note 13 in this regard.

21. LEASE COMMITMENTS
Operating leases relating to premises and equipment
- due within one year 8 060 4 033
- due within two to five years 20 685 13 012

28 745 17 045

Operating leases are for various items of machinery and equipment utilised within various divisions and are payable in 
monthly instalments. Renewal terms vary from equipment to equipment.

22. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
Profit/(loss) before taxation 48 815 (808)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 14 893 245
Investment income (1 211) (103)
Finance costs 1 499 2
Impairment 377 -
Profit on sale of plant and equipment (300) -
Straight-lining of leases 1 398 -
Deferred income – government grant (648) -
IFRS 2 share-based payment expense 1 218 -
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes 66 041 (664)

Increase in inventories (13 702) (127)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (10 584) 6 983
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other payables and provisions 1 033 (4 026)

(23 253) 2 830
Cash generated from operations 42 788 2 166

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)



66    |    MASTER PLASTICS  INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

23. ADDITIONS TO PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land and buildings 39 -
Plant and machinery 11 705 678
Motor vehicles 1 249 440
Assets held-for-sale (property)* 246 -

13 239 1 118

* Refer to note 8.

Additions to property, plant and equipment does not include assets financed through asset-based finance agreements.

24. CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest-bearing debt
Financial liabilities
Opening balance 12 817 -
Cash flows – repayment (8 900) -
New debt 13 259 -

17 176 -

25. TAXATION PAID
Amounts unpaid at the beginning of the year (1 044) -
Taxation charged to the income statement (11 966) (42)
Taxation balances acquired - (1 766)
Amounts (overpaid)/unpaid at the end of the year (543) 1 044

(13 553) (764)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group finances its operations mainly through retained profits, bank, credit borrowings and long-term bank loans. 
The risk areas the Group is exposed to are credit risk, treasury risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk. 
Compliance with the Group’s policy is reviewed at Executive Committee meetings. The policies have remained unchanged 
throughout the year ended 28 February 2018.

TREASURY RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s treasury risk is managed through the Executive Committee reporting to the Board. One of the roles of this 
committee is to decide the appropriate philosophy to be adopted within the Group regarding the management of 
treasury risk and for considering and managing the Group’s existing financial market risks by adopting strategies within 
the guidelines set by the Board.

INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT

Interest rate risk is the possibility that the Group may suffer financial loss if either a fluctuating interest rate or fixed interest rate 
position is entered into or interest rates move adversely. The risk profile of financial liabilities and assets at balance sheet 
date is detailed below, which excludes short-term receivables and non-interest-bearing short-term payables:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)

FLOATING 
RATE ASSETS

R ‘000

FLOATING 
RATE LIABILITIES

R ‘000

NET
ASSET
R ‘000

South African Rand 15 985 (17 176) (1 191)
Total at 28 February 2018 15 985 (17 176) (1 191)
South African Rand 94 182 (12 817) 81 365
Total at 28 February 2017 94 182 (12 817) 81 365

Refer to the sensitivity analysis in note 27 for further details.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the 
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as 
the impact of discounting is not significant.

LESS THAN
1 YEAR
R ‘000

BETWEEN
1 AND 2 YEARS

R ‘000

BETWEEN 
2 AND 5 YEARS

R ‘000
TOTAL
R ‘000

2018
Trade and other payables 56 466 - - 56 466
Trade and other payables – assets under construction 2 397 4 110 14 042 20 549
Long-term interest-bearing debt 9 198 4 142 5 539 18 879
Long-term financial liability - 11 661 4 998 16 659
Total 68 061 19 913 24 579 112 553

2017
Trade and other payables 87 393 - - 87 393
Long-term interest-bearing debt 6 843 5 058 466 12 817
Long-term financial liability - 15 528 - 15 528
Total 94 236 21 036 466 115 738

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT 

Foreign exchange risk is not considered to be a material risk. At 28 February 2018, the Group’s foreign exchange 
exposure was R 0.28 million, there were no foreign debtors and creditors.

27. SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
INTEREST RATE RISK

CARRYING 
AMOUNT

R ‘000

+3% 
PROFIT/(LOSS)

R ‘000

-1% 
PROFIT/(LOSS)

R ‘000

2018
Cash and cash equivalents 15 985 480 (160)
Trade and other receivables 74 441 - -
Interest-bearing debt (17 176) (515) 172
Trade and other payables (72 585) - -
Trade and other payables – assets under construction (16 119) (484) 161
Long-term financial liability (15 528) (466) 155
Total impact before tax (985) 328
Taxation 276 (92)
Total impact after tax (709) 236

2017
Cash and cash equivalents 94 182 2 825 -
Trade and other receivables 71 214 - -
Interest-bearing debt 12 817 (385) 128
Trade and other payables 87 393 - -
Total impact before tax 2 440 128
Taxation (683) (36)
Total impact after tax 1 757 92

The above table is calculated based on the following assumptions:

• Taxation is applied at a flat rate of 28%.
• The impact of each risk in the table above relates only to changes in that risk variable whilst keeping all other 

variables constant.
• Changes in interest rate risk have been calculated by applying the reasonably possible change identified above 
 to the weighted average prime rate of interest.
• The methods and assumptions are consistent across the years presented unless indicated otherwise.
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28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

LOANS AND 
RECEIVABLES

R ‘000

FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES AT 

AMORTISED 
COST

R ‘000

FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES AT 

FAIR VALUE
R ‘000

NON-FINANCIAL 
ASSETS AND 

LIABILITIES
R ‘000

2018
ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment - - - 148 216
Inventory - - - 59 962
Trade and other receivables 74 441 - - 23 476
Cash and cash equivalents 15 985 - - -
Deferred taxation asset - - - 5 309
Assets classified as held-for-sale - - - 8 985
Tax asset - - - 543
Total asset 90 426 - - 246 491

LIABILITIES
Long-term interest-bearing debt - 9 117 - -
Long-term financial liability - - 15 528 -
Deferred tax liability - - - 19 412
Trade and other payables - 56 586 - 27 584
Trade and other payables – assets under construction - 16 119 - -
Short-term interest-bearing debt - 8 059 - -
Total liabilities - 89 881 15 528 46 996

2017
ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment - - - 145 759
Inventories - - - 46 260
Trade and other receivables 60 571 - - 10 643
Cash and cash equivalents 94 182 - - -
Deferred taxation asset - - - 8 648
Assets classified as held-for-sale - - - 214
Total assets 154 753 - - 211 524

LIABILITIES
Long-term interest-bearing debt - 5 974 - -
Long-term financial liability - - 15 528 -
Deferred tax liability - - - 22 257
Trade and other payables - 47 756 - 39 637
Short-term interest-bearing debt - 6 843 - -
Taxation payable - - - 1 044
Total liabilities - 60 573 15 528 62 938

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

Amount payable
Astrapak Finance company 
(a division of Astrapak Manufacturing Holdings Proprietary Limited) - 6 101

Astrapak Finance company is a division of Astrapak Manufacturing Holdings Proprietary Limited. Astrapak 
Manufacturing Holdings Proprietary Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Astrapak Limited. Prior to the 
unbundling and listing of Master Plastics Limited, Master Plastics Limited and Astrapak Manufacturing Holdings 
Proprietary Limited were part of the same group of companies.
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30. DIRECTOR AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS EMOLUMENTS

BASIC
SALARY

R ‘000

CAR
ALLOW-

ANCE
R ‘000

BENEFIT 
FUND

CONTRIB-
UTIONS
R ‘000

TOTAL 
FIXED

 REMUNER-
ATION
R ‘000

TOTAL 
FLEXIBLE 

REMUNER-
ATION***

R ‘000

TOTAL 
FIXED 

AND 
FLEXIBLE 

REMUNER-
ATION
R ‘000

SHARE- 
BASED 

EXPENSE 
SHARE 

OPTIONS
R ‘000

CASH- 
SETTLED 

SHARE
 APPRECIATION 

RIGHTS 
EXPENSE

R ‘000

TOTAL
REMUNER-

ATION
R ‘000

REMUNERATION

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
2018
M Diedloff 2 982 160 549 3 682 1 841 5 523 - 691 6 214
S Ratlhagane 913 - 170 1 083 162 1 245 - 75 1 320

3 895 160 710 4 765 2 003 6 768 - 766 7 534

2017*
M Diedloff** 2 787 160 505 3 452 3 751 7 203 140 377 7 720
S Ratlhagane 854 - 155 1 009 144 1 153 - - 1 153

3 641 160 660 4 461 3 895 8 356 140 377 8 873

*  All remuneration paid to the Executive Directors in the 2017 financial year was paid by the relevant Astrapak 
 company in which the Executive Directors were employed prior to the unbundling.

**  Includes payments of R 1.369 million made in terms of retention agreement concluded.
*** The amount has been raised as an accrual as at 28 February 2018 and was paid in May 2018.

BASIC
SALARY

R ‘000

CAR
ALLOW-

ANCE
R ‘000

BENEFIT 
FUND

CONTRIB-
UTIONS
R ‘000

TOTAL 
FIXED

 REMUNER-
ATION
R ‘000

TOTAL 
FLEXIBLE

 REMUNER-
ATION***

R ‘000

TOTAL 
FIXED 

AND 
FLEXIBLE 

REMUNER-
ATION
R ‘000

EXPENSE IN 
RESPECT OF 
RETENTION, 

RELOCATION 
AND RESTRAINT 

OF TRADE 
AGREEMENT 
(ONCE-OFF)

CASH- 
SETTLED 

SHARE
 APPRECIATION 

RIGHTS 
EXPENSE

R ‘000

TOTAL
REMUNER-

ATION
R ‘000

PRESCRIBED OFFICERS*
2018
Officer A 1 438 168 327 1 933 123 2 056 - 151 2 207
Officer B 1 296 - 305 1 601 51 1 652 - 151 1 803
Officer C 1 079 108 145 1 332 244 1 576 - 75 1 651

3 813  276 777 4 866 418 5 284 - 377 5 661

2017
Officer A 1 340 168 297 1 805 410 2 215 500 - 2 715
Officer B** 1 769 - 309 2 078 223 2 301 - - 2 301
Officer C 906  108 125 1 139  217 1 356 - - 1 356

4 015 276 731 5 022 850 5 872 500 - 6 372

* The prescribed officers also include the three highest paid employees.
**  Basic salary includes a leave encashment amount of R 0.57 million which is non-recurring.
*** A portion of this amount has been raised as an accrual as at 28 February 2018 and was paid in March 2018.
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30. DIRECTOR AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

SHARE APPRECIATION RIGHTS – CASH SETTLED

The Group introduced a cash-settled Share Appreciation Rights (“SARs”) Scheme for key senior employees during the 
year and SARs were issued on 8 August 2017 and 28 February 2018 to selected participants. The SARs Scheme will allow 
Executive Directors and certain senior management to earn a long-term incentive amount calculated based on the 
increase in the Company share price between the grant date and the vesting and exercise of such rights. All awards 
in terms of the SARs Scheme are to be cash-settled. The vesting of the SARs is subject to specific conditions, including 
a minimum share price of R 1.67 and R 2.00 respectively and the continued employment of the participant. SARs are 
granted for a period of five years, with varying vesting periods. The Share Appreciation Rights liability as at 
28 February 2018 was R 1.218 million.

The following SARs issues occurred on 8 August 2017 and 28 February 2018 and terms associated therewith are 
highlighted below:

In terms of IFRS 2, liabilities relating to cash-settled share-based payments are adjusted to the fair value at financial 
position date. The estimated fair value of the SARs at the financial position date was calculated using the Black-Scholes 
model as set out below:

NAME SARs
GRANTED

SAR 
AWARD 
PRICE

MINIMUM 
SHARE PRICE 

VESTING 
CONDITION

SHARE PRICE 
AT DATE OF 

GRANT

DATE OF 
GRANT

SAR EXPIRY 
DATE  SAR VESTING 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
M Diedloff  5 000 000 1.36 1.67 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22 Yr 3 Grant Anniversary 100% 

S Ratlhagane     250 000 1.00 1.67 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22 Yr 1 Grant Anniversary 40%                                
Yr 2 Grant Anniversary 40%                               
Yr 3 Grant Anniversary 20%100 000 1.60 2.00 1.65 28 Feb 18 28 Feb 23

PRESCRIBED OFFICERS AND OTHER EMPLOYEES
Officer A  500 000 1.00 1.67 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22

Yr 1 Grant Anniversary 40%                                
Yr 2 Grant Anniversary 40%                               
Yr 3 Grant Anniversary 20%

200 000 1.60 2.00 1.65 28 Feb 18 28 Feb 23
Officer B     500 000 1.00 1.67 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22

200 000 1.60 2.00 1.65 28 Feb 18 28 Feb 23
Officer C     250 000 1.00 1.67 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22

150 000 1.60 2.00 1.65 28 Feb 18 28 Feb 23
Other employees     250 000 1.00 2.00 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22
Other employees 600 000 1.60 2.00 1.65 28 Feb 18 28 Feb 23
   8 000 000            

DATE OF SAR GRANT 8 AUG 2017
(CEO SARs)

8 AUG 2017 28 FEB 2018

Number of SARs granted 5 000 000 1 750 000 1 250 000
SAR award price (cents) 136 100 160
Share price at grant date (cents) 98 98 165
Share price at financial position date (cents) 165 165 165
Expected volatility expressed as % 49.36% 49.36% 49.36%
Expected life in years 5 5 5
Risk-free rate of return based vesting periods (%) 6.59% - 6.73% 6.59% - 6.73% 6.59% - 6.73%
Expected dividend yield (%) - - -
Fair Value per SAR in cents at measurement date 71.08 77.44 51.32

An amount of R 1.218 million has been expensed during the financial year in respect of these SARs.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)

2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

30. DIRECTOR AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR EMOLUMENTS
P Langeni** 76 369
PC Botha* 107 275
GZ Steffens 107 403
C McDougall 107 387
TV Mokgatlha 143 397
S Masinga*** 59 -

599 1 831

* Paid to Metier Investment and Advisory Services Proprietary Limited and its subsidiaries.
** Resigned 2 October 2017.
*** Appointed 13 October 2017.

31. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

A segmentation of the financial information has been reported for the year ended 28 February 2018.

As the financial information reported on for the period ended 28 February 2017 relates only to 1 (one) month’s trading 
and is mainly attributable to the business of Barrier Film Converters Proprietary Limited and due to the timing of the 
transactions of which Master Plastics acquired the underlying operations, a segmentation of the financial information 
reported would not be meaningful for the period ended 28 February 2017.

A segmentation of the financial information for the year ended 28 February 2018 is presented below:

FOOD AND PRODUCE
R ‘000

CONSTRUCTION
R ‘000

INDUSTRIAL
R ‘000

TOTAL GROUP
R ‘000

Revenue for segment 346 391 92 929 65 158 504 479
Revenue for external customers 346 391 92 929 65 158 504 479
Profit from operations 36 540 7 883 4 680 49 103
Profit before taxation 36 563 7 561 4 691 48 815
Total assets 233 690 40 233 62 994 336 917
Total liabilities 118 415 19 946 14 044 152 405
Capex 20 364 5 261 872 26 497
Depreciation 10 353 1 377 3 163 14 893

32. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 

The Directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial period until the date of 
their report that would require an adjustment to or disclosure in the financial statements.
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NOTES 2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 1 119 319 117 849

Investments in subsidiaries 2 22 418 25 236

141 737 143 085

Current assets

Inventories 4 48 772 36 326

Trade and other receivables 5 78 996 52 506

Cash and cash equivalents 10.3 14 841 31 108

Amounts owing by group companies 21 59 828 76 394

Shareholder loans 2 - 8 008

Tax asset 543 -

202 980 204 342

Assets classified as held-for-sale 7 8 985 214

Total assets 353 702 347 641

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Total equity

Share capital 9 231 323 235 404

Retained loss (29 120) (925)

202 203 234 479

Non-current liabilities

Long-term interest-bearing debt 10.1 6 385 5 974

Long-term financial liability 11 15 528 15 528

Deferred taxation liability 3 19 412 22 257

41 325 43 759

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 12 80 536 62 295

Short-term interest-bearing debt 10.2 7 060 6 843

Taxation payable - 265

Treasury liability 29 22 578 -

110 174 69 403

Total equity and liabilities 353 702 347 641

COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 28 FEBRUARY 2018
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018

NOTES

SHARE 
CAPITAL

R ,000

RETAINED 
LOSS

R ‘000
TOTAL
R ‘000

Balance at incorporation - - -

Ordinary share capital issued 235 404 - 235 404

Total comprehensive loss for the period - (925) (925)

Balance at 28 February 2017 235 404 (925) 234 479

Ordinary share capital repurchased 9 (4 081) - (4 081)

Total comprehensive income for the period - 46 805 46 805

Dividends paid - (75 000) (75 000)

Balance at 28 February 2018 231 323 (29 120) 202 203

COMPANY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
AS AT 28 FEBRUARY 2018

NOTES 2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

Revenue 13 385 651 272

Cost of sales (288 611) -

Gross profit 97 040 272

Distribution and selling costs (24 981) -

Administrative and other operating expenses (36 830) (4 297)

Other income - 2 742

Profit/(loss) from operations 14 35 229 (1 283)

Investment income 15 22 641 -

Finance costs 15 (2 031) (2)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 55 839 (1 285)

Taxation (expense)/benefit 16 (9 034) 360

Profit/(loss) for the year 46 805 (925)

Other comprehensive profit/(loss) - -

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the year 46 805 (925)

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent 46 805 (925)
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NOTES 2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash generated from operations 22 35 840 1 079

Net finance costs 22 (1 814) (2)

Tax paid 26 (12 687) -

Dividends paid (75 000) -

Dividends received 22 424 -

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities (31 237) 1 077

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to property, plant and equipment 24 (12 977) (1 077)

Acquisition of business – cash balances acquired - 31 108

Amounts owing by group companies received 16 566 -

Shareholder loans received 8 008 -

Payment of contingent price (6 224) -

Net cash inflow from investing activities 5 373 30 031

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Increase in treasury liability 22 578 -

Repurchase of ordinary shares (4 081) -

Repayment of interest-bearing debt 25 (8 900) -

Net cash inflow from investing activities 9 597 30 031

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (16 267) 31 108

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 23 31 108 -

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 23 14 841 31 108

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018

1. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

LAND AND 
BUILDINGS***

R ‘000

PLANT AND 
MACHINERY****

R ‘000

MOTOR
VEHICLES

R ’000
TOTAL
R ‘000

2018

COST

Balance at the beginning of the year 23 734 178 455 2 326 204 515

Additions - 21 010 1 249 22 259

Assets held-for-sale* (8 739) - - (8 739)

Balance at the end of the year 14 995 199 465 3 575 218 035

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Balance at the beginning of the year (343) (85 064) (1 259) (86 666)

Depreciation charge (35) (11 359) (493) (11 887)

Impairment charge** - (163) - (163)

Balance at the end of the year (378) (96 586) (1 752) (98 716)

Net book value at 28 February 2018 14 617 102 879 1 823 119 319

*  Refer to note 7.
** The impairment loss related to the impairment of an item of plant and machinery which has become redundant due 

to investment in more current technology during the period.
***  Included in land and buildings are leasehold improvements with a carrying value of R 0.02 million.
**** Included in plant and machinery are furniture and fittings with a carrying value of R 0.22 million and office equipment 

with a carrying value of R 1.4 million.

The instalment sale agreement and other variable rate loans are secured by the related plant and equipment with net 
book value of R 23.9 million (2017: R 12.8 million).

2017

COST

Balance at the beginning of the period - - - -

Additions 1 077 - - 1 077

Acquisition of business* 22 657 178 669 2 326 203 652

Assets classified as held-for-sale – 
excess production equipment - (214) - (214)

Balance at the end of the period 23 734 178 455 2 326 204 515

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Balance at the beginning of the period - - - - 

Acquisition of business (343) (85 064) (1 259) (86 666)

Balance at the end of the period (343) (85 064) (1 259) (86 666)

Net book value at 28 February 2017 23 391 93 391 1 067 117 849

* Represents property, plant and equipment acquired by Master Plastics Limited through the ‘asset-for-share’ transactions.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)

1. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

RECONCILIATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
COST

R ‘000

ACCUMULATED
DEPRECIATION

R ‘000

NET BOOK
VALUE
R ‘000

AT 28 FEBRUARY 2018
Land and buildings 14 995 (378) 14 617
Plant and machinery 199 465 (98 586) 102 879
Motor vehicles 3 575 (1 752) 1 823

218 035 (98 716) 119 319

AT 28 FEBRUARY 2017
Land and buildings 23 734 (343) 23 391
Plant and machinery 178 455 (85 064) 93 391
Motor vehicles 2 326 (1 259) 1 067

204 515 (86 666) 117 849

Buildings are not depreciated as the residual value is in excess of the carrying value.

2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

2. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND LOANS
INVESTMENTS CONSIST OF THE FOLLOWING:
Barrier Film Converters Proprietary Limited 19 821 19 821
Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited 2 818 2 818
Micawber 451 Proprietary Limited 2 597 2 597

25 236 25 236
Impairment of Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited investment (2 818) -

22 418 25 236

SHAREHOLDER LOANS CONSIST OF THE FOLLOWING:
Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited - 4 094
Micawber 451 Proprietary Limited - 3 914

- 8 008
22 418 33 244

As at 28 February 2018, the investment in Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited was impaired and the shareholder loans  
were repaid.

During the period, Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited declared a dividend to Master Plastics Limited, this reduced the Net 
Asset Value of Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited to R 1.00. Master Plastics Limited accordingly impaired the investment in 
Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited to equal such net asset value.
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3. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY
Accelerated wear and tear for taxation purposes on plant and equipment (21 955) 22 257
Estimated taxation losses - 257
Prepayments and provisions 1 711 (257)
Income received in advance 128 -
IFRS 2 share-based payment 341 -
Straight-lining of leases 363 -
Net deferred taxation liability (19 412) 22 257

RECONCILIATION BETWEEN OPENING AND CLOSING BALANCES:
Net deferred taxation liability at the beginning of the year (22 257) -
Acquisition of business - (22 617)
Utilisation of tax losses 257 -
Net reversing temporary differences on plant and equipment 302 -
Prepayments and provisions 1 454 360
Income received in advance 128 -
IFRS 2 share-based payment 341 -
Straight-lining of leases 363 -
Net deferred taxation liability at the end of the year (19 412) (22 257)

4. INVENTORIES
Raw materials 20 802 12 489
Work-in-progress 5 094 3 743
Finished goods 17 244 15 721
Consumable stores 5 632 4 373
Total 48 772 36 326

The cost of inventory recognised as an expense: R 198.3 million (2017 R nil). An expense of R 0.48 million (2017: R 7 000) was 
recognised in respect of inventory written down to net realisable value.

5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables 58 387 43 554
Inter-company receivables (note 29) 1 476 5 065
Provision for doubtful debt (2 030) (392)

57 833 48 227

Rates clearance prepayments 1 168 2 518
Value added tax receivable - 113
Prepayments relating to assets-under-construction* 16 119 -
Other 3 876 1 648
Total 78 996 52 506

*Represents amounts paid by the financier of the Group to machine suppliers until such time as the assets are 
commissioned and asset-based-finance agreement are entered into between the Group and the financier. The Group 
accordingly recognises both Other receivables and Other payables of equivalent value for the aggregate amounts paid.

The carrying value of trade and other receivables approximates fair value.

The average credit period on trade receivables is 30-90 days. The Group has not recognised an allowance for doubtful 
debts against certain receivables balances based on the past default experience of the counterparty and analysis of 
the counterparty’s current financial position. Certain debtors are covered up to 80% by credit guarantee insurance. Before 
accepting any new customers, the Group uses an external credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit 
quality and defines credit limits to customers. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed on an ad hoc basis.

Due to the short-term maturity of these financial assets, the fair value of the trade receivables approximates the carrying amount.

2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)
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2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

6. CLASSIFICATION OF TRADE RECEIVABLES

TRADE RECEIVABLES ARE CLASSIFIED AS FOLLOWS:
Agriculture 45 703 28 561
Bakery 817 1 028
Beverage - 849
Dairy 1 185 955
Food - 48
Retailers 1 819 4 632
Industrial 2 408 4 316
Government/municipal 4 956 -
Other 1 499 3 165

58 387 43 554

TYPE OF CUSTOMER 
Private 48 217 36 372
Listed 10 091 7 182
Other 79 -

58 387 43 554

RECONCILIATION OF DOUBTFUL DEBT PROVISION
Opening balance 392 -
Add: increases due to additional doubtful debts 1 638 392
Closing balance 2 030 392

THE GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT OF ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
IS CLASSIFIED ACCORDING TO THE FOLLOWING CREDIT RISK CRITERIA:
Neither past due nor impaired 52 351 40 968
Past due but the terms renegotiated 1 902 655
Past due but not impaired 4 134 1 931
Closing balance 58 387 43 554

AGEING OF THE GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT OF TRADE RECEIVABLES CLASSIFIED AS PAST 
DUE OR IMPAIRED, BUT THE TERMS RENEGOTIATED AND PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED:
30-60 days - 522
60-90 days 1 435 921
90-120 days 798 569
120+ days 3 803 574
Closing balance 6 036 2 586

The Company has not impaired receivable balances that are classified as ‘past due but not impaired’ or ‘past due but 
the terms renegotiated’ at the reporting date as these relate to customers for whom there is no history of default, an 
analysis of the counterparty’s financial position has been undertaken and the Group considers these receivable balances 
to be recoverable. Certain debtors are also covered up to 80% by credit guarantee insurance. Post the reporting date 
R 3.0 million of the outstanding R 6.0 million balance of trade receivables classified as past due or impaired, but the terms 
renegotiated and past due but not impaired has already been received.

CREDIT RISK CATEGORISATION FOR THE GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT 
OF TRADE RECEIVABLES CLASSIFIED AS NEITHER PAST DUE NOR IMPAIRED:
Low risk 52 351 40 968
Medium risk 6 036 2 586

NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)
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7. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD-FOR-SALE

Opening balance at the beginning of the period 214 -
Assets classified as held-for-sale – excess production equipment - 214
Property* 246 -
Property transferred to from property, plant and equipment 8 739 -
Assets previously classified as held-for-sale impaired or disposed (214) -
Closing balance 8 985 214

Assets classified as held-for-sale relate to land and buildings that are being disposed of.

In November 2017, management classified owned properties which is in excess of the Group’s requirements as assets 
held-for-sale. Management is committed to a plan to sell the asset and has actively marketed the property for sale at 
a price that is reasonable in relation to the property’s current fair value. An independent broker has been appointed to 
market the properties on the Company’s behalf. 

* Property additions capitalised to assets held-for-sale.

8. ESTABLISHMENT OF MASTER PLASTICS
In line with Astrapak Limited’s resolved strategy aimed at becoming a focused rigid packaging business and pursuant 
to an offer from RPC plc, the Astrapak Limited Board resolved to unbundle Master Plastics to its ordinary shareholders by 
way of a distribution in specie in terms of section 46(1)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act and section 46 of the Income Tax Act. 
In order to give effect to this and prior to the implementation of the unbundling, Master Plastics was incorporated, and a 
number of companies and/or assets were disposed of to the Company through a series of asset-for-share transactions at 
the end of January 2017 and February 2017, which resulted in the establishment of the Master Plastics Group. The Master 
Plastics Group has accordingly only traded for a period of 1 month during the comparative period.

9. SHARE CAPITAL
AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL
Ordinary share capital
400 000 000 no par value shares 400 000 400 000
ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL
Ordinary share capital
117 535 232 (2017: 135 131 250) no par value shares
Stated capital 231 323 235 404

NUMBER OF 
SHARES

 ‘000

STATED 
CAPITAL

R ‘000

RECONCILIATION OF SHARE CAPITAL
Opening balance 135 131 235 404
Shares repurchased (17 596) (4 081)
Closing balance 117 535 231 323

During the year the Group repurchased a total number of 17 596 018 shares, which included 14 096 018 shares repurchased 
from the Astrapak Limited Linked Unit Trust Scheme and Astrapak Gauteng Proprietary Limited at R 0.01 per share, with 
the balance of 3 500 000 shares being acquired in the open market at an average price of R 1.12.

NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)

2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000
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2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)

9. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

AT PERIOD-END, THE RATIOS WERE:
Interest-bearing debt (36 023) (12 817)
Cash and cash equivalents 14 841 31 108
Net interest-bearing (debt)/cash (21 182) 18 291

Ordinary share capital 231 323 235 404
Retained loss (29 120) (925)
Adjusted capital 202 203 234 479
Net (debt)/cash to adjusted capital (%)      (10.47) 7.80

10. INTEREST-BEARING DEBT AND CASH

10.1  LONG-TERM INTEREST-BEARING DEBT

SECURED DEBT
Instalment sale agreements (variable rate) 13 445 12 817

Total long-term interest-bearing debt secured 13 445 12 817
Current portion transferred to short-term interest-bearing debt (7 060) (6 843)
Net long-term interest-bearing debt 6 385 5 974

Long-term and short-term interest-bearing debt represents asset-based finance liabilities which are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The instalment sale agreement and other variable rate loans are 
secured by the related plant and equipment with a net book value of R 26.2 million (2017: R12.8 million). Refer to note 1.

The instalment sale agreement bears interest at variable rates, the majority of which are at prime less 2% and are 
payable in monthly instalments of R 0.75 million. Redemption is reviewed and rolled forward. Security is provided by the 
underlying property, plant and equipment.

ANALYSIS OF REPAYMENTS
Repayable:
Within 1 year 7 060 6 843
Between 1 and 2 years 2 001 5 508
Between 2 and 3 years 1 670 466
Between 3 and 4 years 1 818 -
Between 4 and 5 years 896 -

13 445 12 817
10.2  SHORT-TERM INTEREST-BEARING DEBT

Current portion of long-term interest-bearing debt 7 060 6 843

10.3  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances 14 841 31 108

The Company participates in the facilities of the Master Plastics Group which facilities in aggregate are represented by 
the following:

R 20 million working capital facility at a prime-linked rate based on the facility utilised from time to time.
R 56 million asset-based finance facility repayable in monthly instalments based on the facility utilised from time to time 
at prime-related rate.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)

2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

10. INTEREST-BEARING DEBT AND CASH (CONTINUED)

10.4  NET INTEREST-BEARING DEBT/(CASH)

Long-term interest-bearing debt 6 385 5 974

Short-term interest-bearing debt 7 060 6 843

Treasury liability 22 578 -

Cash and cash equivalents (14 841) (31 108)

21 182 (18 281)

The Company evaluated numerous capital allocation opportunities during the period under review and invested to 
achieve an optimal result for ordinary shareholders. The opportunities that were pursued were funded partly by debt and 
partly by cash generated from within the Group. This resulted in net-debt of R 21.1 million (2017: R 18.3 million, net cash). The 
major capital allocations were R 22.2 million (2017: R 1.1 million) invested in property, plant and equipment, share buy-backs 
of R 4.01 million and an ordinary dividend payment of R 75.0 million.

11. LONG-TERM FINANCIAL LIABILITY

Long-term financial liability 15 528 15 528

The long-term financial liability, reflected at fair value, represents the estimated final payment that will be due to the vendor 
of Coralline Investments Proprietary Limited. This estimated amount was re-calculated at the end of 28 February 2018 based 
on the actuals for the February 2017 and February 2018 financial years and the forecast for the financial year ending 
28 February 2019 and remains unchanged from the comparative period. The original transaction occurred prior to the 
disposal of the Plusnet-Geotex business to Master Plastics by Astrapak in preparation of the unbundling. The final amount 
will be determined upon finalisation of the Group audited results for the financial year ended 28 February 2019, which is 
anticipated to be towards the end of May 2019. The amount finally due will therefore be re-calculated based on the agreed 
valuation formula and the actual results achieved over the financial years ended 28 February 2017 to 28 February 2019 and 
could accordingly still vary from the amount of the financial liability currently reported. The final amount due will be settled 
over 2 financial years, with 70% being settled in May 2019 and the balance towards the end of 28 February 2021. This is a level 3 
fair value in terms of the fair value hierarchy disclosure and is discounted to present value at discount rate of 10%.
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2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)

12. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade payables 33 388 25 418
Inter-group creditors (note 29) 457 6 199

Other Payables
- Value Added Taxation 1 395 1 713
- Salaries and wages accruals 1 736 1 760
- Bonus accrual 3 166 650
- Leave pay accrual 2 561 1 882
- Straight-lining of leases 1 295 502
- Audit fee accrual 443 766
- Current portion of long-term liability - 6 224
- Customer receipts in advance 10 440 11 467
- Deferred income – government grant 3 566 4 214
- IFRS 2 share-based payment liability 1 218 -
- Pre-payments relating to assets under construction* 16 119 -
- Other** 4 752 1 500

80 536 62 295

*  Refer to note 5 for further detail.
** Includes creditor accruals.

The average credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 30-60 days. No interest is charged on the trade payables 
for the credit period from the date of the invoice. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure 
that all payables are paid in accordance with the pre-agreed credit terms. The carrying amount of accounts payables 
approximates its fair value.

13. REVENUE 

Sale of goods 395 846 272

Analysed as follows
Gross sales: 395 846 272
- External customers (foreign) 6 469 -
- External customers (local) 367 560 -
- Rental income - 272
- Internal customer* 21 817 -
Less: trade discounts allowed and rebates (10 195) -

385 651 272

* Internal sales represent inter-company sales between Peninsula Packaging/the company and Barrier Film Converters 
Proprietary Limited.
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2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)

14. PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS
Profit /(loss) from operations has been determined after taking into account the items detailed below:

Auditors’ remuneration
- Audit fees (677) -
Depreciation
- Plant and machinery (11 359) -
- Motor vehicles (493) -
- Land and buildings (35) -
Staff costs (67 314) (1 467)
Retirement benefit (4 063) (88)
IFRS 2 Share Appreciation Rights expense (1 218) -
Impairment - plant and equipment (377) -

 - investment (2 818) -
Foreign exchange loss realised (313) -
Rent paid (4 774) -

15. NET (FINANCE COSTS)/INVESTMENT INCOME
Finance costs (1 484) (2)
- External (547) -
- Internal (2 031) (2)

Investment income
- External 217 -
- Dividend income - Group* 22 424 -

22 641 -
20 610 (2)

* Dividend income relates to dividends received from Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited and Micawber 451 Proprietary Limited.

16. TAXATION

SA Normal taxation - current year 11 879 -
Deferred taxation - current year (2 005) 360

- prior year (840) -
9 034 360

2018
%

2017
%

RECONCILIATION OF TAXATION RATE
South African normal and effective taxation rate on companies 28.00% 28.00%
Non-taxable income-government grant & dividend received (11.57%) -
Disallowable expenses – items of a capital nature 1.71% -
Utilisation of prior year losses (0.46%) -
Prior year (1.50%) -

16.18% 28.00%
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)

17. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company finances its operations mainly through retained profits, bank, credit borrowings and long-term bank loans. 
The risk areas the Company is exposed to are credit risk, treasury risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency 
risk. Compliance with the Company’s policy is reviewed at Executive Committee meetings. The policies have remained 
unchanged throughout the year ended 28 February 2018.

TREASURY RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company’s treasury risk is managed through the Executive Committee reporting to the Board. One of the roles of 
this committee is to decide the appropriate philosophy to be adopted within the Company regarding the management 
of treasury risk and for considering and managing the Company’s existing financial market risks by adopting strategies 
within the guidelines set by the Board.

INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT

Interest rate risk is the possibility that the Company may suffer financial loss if either a fluctuating interest rate or fixed 
interest rate position is entered into or interest rates move adversely. The risk profile of financial liabilities and assets at 
balance sheet date is detailed below, which excludes short-term receivables and non-interest-bearing short-term payables:

FLOATING 
RATE ASSETS

R ‘000

FLOATING 
RATE LIABILITIES

R ‘000

NET 
(DEBT)/ASSET

R ‘000

South African Rand 14 481 (36 023) (20 305)
Total at 28 February 2018 14 481 (36 023) (20 305)

South African Rand 31 108 (12 817) 18 291
Total at 28 February 2017 31 108 (12 817) 18 291

Refer to note 18 for the sensitivity analysis.

LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period 
at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of 
discounting is not significant.

LESS THAN
1 YEAR
R ‘000

BETWEEN
1 AND 2 YEARS

R ‘000

BETWEEN 
2 AND 5 YEARS

R ‘000
TOTAL
R ‘000

2018
Trade and other payables 39 040 - - 39 040
Trade and other payables – assets under construction 3 425 4 110 13 014  20 549
Long-term interest-bearing debt 29 316 2 448 3 954 35 718
Long-term financial liability - 11 661 4 998 16 659
Treasury loan - 25 287 - 25 287
Total 71 781 43 506 21 966 137 253

2017
Trade and other payables 62 295 - - 62 295
Floating rate liability 6 843 5 508 466 12 817
Total 69 138 5 508 466 75 112

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT 

Foreign exchange risk is not considered to be a material risk. At 28 February 2018, the foreign exchange exposure was 
R 0.28 million, there were no foreign debtors and creditors.



MASTER PLASTICS  INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018   |    85

NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)

18. SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
INTEREST RATE RISK

CARRYING 
AMOUNT

R ‘000

+3% 
PROFIT/(LOSS)

R ‘000

-1% 
PROFIT/(LOSS)

R ‘000

2018
Cash and cash equivalents 14 841 445 (148)
Trade and other receivables 61 709 - -
Interest-bearing debt (13 445) (403) 134
Long-term financial liability (15 528) (466) 155
Trade and other payables (39 040) - -
Trade and other payables – assets under construction (16 119) (484) 161
Treasury liability (22 578) (677) 226
Group company loans 59 828 - -
Total impact before tax (908) 303
Taxation 254 (85)
Total impact after tax 457 148

2017
Cash and cash equivalents 31 108 933 -
Trade and other receivables 52 506 - -
Interest-bearing debt 12 817 (385) 128
Trade and other payables 62 295 - -
Total impact before tax 548 128
Taxation (153) (36)
Total impact after tax 395 92

The above table is calculated based on the following assumptions:

• Taxation is applied at a flat rate of 28%.
• The impact of each risk in the table above relates only to changes in that risk variable whilst keeping all other
 variables constant.
• Changes in interest rate risk have been calculated by applying the reasonably possible change identified above to 
 the weighted average prime rate of interest.
• The methods and assumptions are consistent across the years presented unless indicated otherwise.
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19. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Authorised, contracted and not spent* 33 316 -
Authorised, not yet contracted for - 665

* A total of R 16.119 million of this amount has been paid by the financier of the Group at the reporting date. Refer to note 5 
and note 12 in this regard.

20. LEASE COMMITMENTS
Operating leases relating to premises and equipment
due within one year 4 707 4 033
due within two to five years 16 432 13 012

21 139 17 045

Operating leases are for various items of machinery and equipment utilised within various divisions and are payable in 
monthly instalments. Renewal terms vary from equipment to equipment.

21. AMOUNTS OWING BY GROUP COMPANIES
Barrier Film Converters Proprietary Limited 59 828 59 828
Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited - 4 206
Micawber 451 Proprietary Limited - 12 360

59 828 76 394

Loans from Group companies have no repayment terms, are unsecured and do not bear any interest. 

Master Plastics Limited intends to subscribe for new shares in Barrier Film Converters Proprietary Limited for a 
subscription price equal to the fair value of the Master Plastics Limited loan.

22. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
Profit/(loss) before taxation 55 839 (1 285)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 11 887 -
Investment income (217) -
Dividends received (22 424) -
Finance costs 2 031 2
Impairment - plant and equipment 377 -

 - Investment in Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited 2 818 -
Straight-lining of leases 793 -
IFRS 2 – share-based payment 1 218 -
Deferred income – government grant (648) -
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes 51 674 (1 283)
Increase in inventories (12 466) -
Increase in trade and other receivables (10 371) (200)
Decrease in trade and other payables 6 983 2 562

(15 834) 2 362
Cash generated from operations 35 840 1 079

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances 14 841 31 108

NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)

2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000
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24. ADDITIONS TO PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land and buildings - 1 077
Plant and machinery 11 482 -
Motor vehicles 1 249 -
Assets held-for-sale (property)* 246 -

12 977 1 077

* Refer to note 7.

Additions to property, plant and equipment does not include assets financed through asset-based finance agreements.

25. ADDITIONS TO PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Financial liabilities
Opening balance 12 817 -
Cash flows – repayment (8 900) -
New debt 9 528 -

13 445 -

26. TAXATION PAID
Amounts unpaid at the beginning of the year (265) -
Taxation charged to the income statement (11 879) -
Taxation balances acquired - (265)
Amounts (overpaid)/unpaid at the end of the year (543) 265

(12 687) (764)

NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)

2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION – CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

LOANS AND 
RECEIVABLES

R ‘000

FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES AT 

AMORTISED 
COST

R ‘000

FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES AT 

FAIR VALUE
R ‘000

NON-FINANCIAL 
ASSETS AND 

LIABILITIES
R ‘000

2018
ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment - - - 119 319
Investment in subsidiaries - - - 22 418
Inventory - - - 48 772
Trade and other receivables 61 709 - - 17 287
Group company loans 59 828 - - -
Cash and cash equivalents 14 841 - - -
Assets classified as held-for-sale - - - 8 985
Tax asset - - - 543
Total assets 136 378 - - 217 324

LIABILITIES
Long-term interest-bearing debt - 6 385 - -
Long-term financial liability - - 15 528 -
Deferred tax liability - - - 19 412
Trade and other payables - 39 040 - 25 377
Trade and other payables – assets under construction - 16 119 - -
Treasury liability - 22 578 - -
Short-term interest-bearing debt - 7 060 - -
Total liabilities - 91 182 15 528 44 789
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27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION – CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

LOANS AND 
RECEIVABLES

R ‘000

FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES AT 

AMORTISED 
COST

R ‘000

FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES AT 

FAIR VALUE
R ‘000

NON-FINANCIAL 
ASSETS AND 

LIABILITIES
R ‘000

2017
ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment - - - 117 849
Investments and loans - - - 33 244
Inventory - - - 36 326
Trade and other receivables 43 554 - - 8 952
Amounts owing by group companies - - - 76 394
Cash and cash equivalents 31 108 - - -
Assets classified as held-for-sale - - - 214
Total assets 74 662 - - 211 524

LIABILITIES
Long-term financial liability - 5 974 - -
Long-term financial liability - - 15 528 -
Deferred tax liability - - - 22 257
Trade and other payables - 62 295 - -
Short-term interest-bearing debt - 6 843 - -
Taxation payable - - - 265
Total liabilities - 75 112 15 528 22 522

NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)

28. ANALYSIS OF INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES

HOLDING
%

COST
R ‘000

IMPAIRMENT
R ‘000

REPAYMENT 
OF 

SHAREHOLDER
R ‘000

CARRYING 
AMOUNT

R ‘000

2018
Barrier Film Converters Proprietary Limited 100 19 821 - - 19 281
Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited 100 6 912 (2 818) (4 094) -
Micawber 451 Proprietary Limited 100 6 511 - (3 914) 2 597

33 244 (2 818) (8 008) 22 418
2017
Barrier Film Converters Proprietary Limited 19 821 - - 19 821
Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited 6 912 - - 6 912
Micawber 451 Proprietary Limited 6 512 - - 6 512

33 245 - - 33 245

As at 28 February 2018, the investment in Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited was impaired and the shareholder loans were repaid.

During the period, Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited declared a dividend to Master Plastics Limited, this reduced the net 
asset value of Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited to R 1.00. Master Plastics Limited accordingly impaired the investment in 
Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited to equal such net asset value.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS & COMPANIES

AMOUNT 
RECEIVABLE

R ‘000

AMOUNT 
PAYABLE

R ‘000

TREASURY 
LIABILITY

R ‘000

AMOUNTS 
OWING BY 

GROUP 
COMPANIES

R ‘000

DIVIDENDS 
RECEIVED

R ‘000
SALES
R ‘000

INTEREST PAID
R ‘000

2018
Barrier Film Converters Proprietary Limited 1 426 457 22 578 59 828 - 22 230 449
Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited 10 - - - 15 395 - 42
Micawber 451 Proprietary Limited 38 - - - 7 029 - 56

1 474 457 22 578 59 828 22 424 22 230 547

2017
Barrier Film Converters Proprietary Limited 4 928 98 - - - - -

Astrapak Finance Company (a division of Astrapak 
Manufacturing Holdings Proprietary Limited) - 6 101 - - - - -

Astrapak Investments Proprietary Limited 137 - - - - - -
5 065 6 199 - - - - -

Treasury liabilities have no repayment term. A 7% interest is charged on treasury balances.

Barrier Film Converters Proprietary Limited, Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited and Micawber 451 Proprietary Limited are 
subsidiaries of Master Plastics Limited.

Astrapak Investments is a wholly owned subsidiary of Astrapak Limited. Prior to the unbundling and listing of Master Plastics 
Limited, Master Plastics Limited and Astrapak Investments Proprietary Limited were both subsidiaries of Astrapak Limited.

Amounts receivable and payable represent inter-group debtors and creditors.

RELATED PARTY COMPANIES

GROUP COMPANIES

Master Plastics Limited
Divisions of Master Plastics Limited:
 Plusnet-Geotex
 Peninsula Packaging
Barrier Film Converters Proprietary Limited
Micawber 430 Proprietary Limited
Micawber 451 Proprietary Limited
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30. DIRECTOR AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS EMOLUMENTS
REMUNERATION

BASIC
SALARY

R ‘000

CAR
ALLOW-

ANCE
R ‘000

BENEFIT 
FUND

CONTRIB-
UTIONS
R ‘000

TOTAL 
FIXED

 REMUNER-
ATION
R ‘000

TOTAL 
FLEXIBLE 

REMUNER-
ATION***

R ‘000

TOTAL 
FIXED 

AND 
FLEXIBLE 

REMUNER-
ATION
R ‘000

SHARE- 
BASED 

EXPENSE 
- SHARE 

OPTIONS
R ‘000

CASH- 
SETTLED 

SHARE
 APPRECIATION 

RIGHTS 
EXPENSE

R ‘000

TOTAL
REMUNER-

ATION
R ‘000

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
2018
M Diedloff 2 982 160 540 3 682 1 841 5 523 - 691 6 214
S Ratlhagane 913 - 170 1 083 162 1 245 - 75 1 320

3 895 160 710 4 765 2 003 4 865 - 766 7 534
2017*
M Diedloff** 2 787 160 505 3 452 3 751 7 203 140 377 7 720
S Ratlhagane 854 - 155 1 009 144 1 153 - - 1 153

3 641 160 660 4 461 3 895 8 356 140 377 8 873

* All remuneration paid to the Executive Directors in the 2017 financial year was paid by the relevant Astrapak company 
in which the Executive Directors were employed prior to the unbundling.

**  Includes payments of R 1.369 million made in terms of retention agreement concluded.
*** The amount has been raised as an accrual as at 28 February 2018 and was paid in May 2018.

NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)

BASIC
SALARY

R ‘000

CAR
ALLOW-

ANCE
R ‘000

BENEFIT 
FUND

CONTRIB-
UTIONS
R ‘000

TOTAL 
FIXED

 REMU-
NERA-

TION
R ‘000

TOTAL 
FLEXIBLE 

REMUNER-
ATION***

R ‘000

TOTAL 
FIXED 

AND 
FLEXIBLE 

REMUNER-
ATION
R ‘000

EXPENSE IN 
RESPECT OF RETEN-
TION, RELOCATION 

AND RESTRAINT OF 
TRADE AGREEMENT 

(ONCE-OFF)
R ‘000

CASH SET-
TLED SHARE 

APPRECIA-
TION RIGHTS 

EXPENSE
R ‘000

TOTAL
REMUNER-

ATION
R ‘000

PRESCRIBED OFFICERS*
2018
Officer A 1 438 168 327 1 933 123 2 056 - 151 2 207
Officer B 1 296 - 305 1 601 51 1 652 - 151 1 803
Officer C 1 079 108 145 1 332 244 1 576 -  75 1 651

3 813 276 777 4 866 418 5 284 - 377 5 661
2017
Officer A 1 340 168 297 1 805 410 2 215 500 - 2 715
Officer B** 1 769 - 309 2 078 223 2 301 - - 2 301
Officer C 906  108 125 1 139  217 1 356 - - 1 356

4 015 276 731 5 022 850 5 872 500 - 6 372

* The prescribed officers also include the three highest paid employees.
** Basic salary includes a leave encashment amount of R 0.57 million which is not recurring.
*** A portion of this amount has been raised as an accrual as at 28 February 2018 and was paid in March 2018.

SHARE APPRECIATION RIGHTS – CASH SETTLED

The Group has introduced a cash-settled Share Appreciation Rights (“SARs”) Scheme for key senior employees during 
the year and SARs were issued on 8 August 2017 and 28 February 2018 to selected participants. The SARs Scheme will 
allow Executive Directors and certain senior management to earn a long-term incentive amount calculated based on the 
increase in the Master Plastics Limited share price between the grant date and the vesting and exercise of such rights. 
All awards in terms of the SARs Scheme are to be cash-settled. The vesting of the SARs is subject to specific conditions, 
including a minimum share price of R 1.67 and the continued employment of the participant. SARs are granted for a 
period of five years, with varying vesting periods. The share liability recognised at 28 February 2018 is R 1.218 million. 



MASTER PLASTICS  INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018   |    91

30. DIRECTOR AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
SHARE APPRECIATION RIGHTS – CASH SETTLED (CONTINUED)

The following SARs issues occurred on 8 August 2017 and 28 February 2018 and terms associated therewith are 
highlighted below:

NAME SARs
GRANTED

SAR 
AWARD 
PRICE

MINIMUM 
SHARE PRICE 

VESTING 
CONDITION

SHARE PRICE 
AT DATE OF 

GRANT

DATE OF 
GRANT

SAR EXPIRY 
DATE  SAR VESTING 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

M Diedloff  5 000 000 1.36 1.67 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22 Yr 3 Grant Anniversary 100% 

S Ratlhagane     250 000 1.00 1.67 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22 Yr 1 Grant Anniversary 40%                                
Yr 2 Grant Anniversary 40%                               
Yr 3 Grant Anniversary 20%100 000 1.60 2.00 1.65 28 Feb 18 28 Feb 23

PRESCRIBED OFFICERS AND OTHER EMPLOYEES

Officer A  500 000 1.00 1.67 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22

Yr 1 Grant Anniversary 40%                                
Yr 2 Grant Anniversary 40%                               
Yr 3 Grant Anniversary 20%

200 000 1.60 2.00 1.65 28 Feb 18 28 Feb 23

Officer B     500 000 1.00 1.67 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22

200 000 1.60 2.00 1.65 28 Feb 18 28 Feb 23

Officer C     250 000 1.00 1.67 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22

150 000 1.60 2.00 1.65 28 Feb 18 28 Feb 23

Other employees     250 000 1.00 2.00 0.98 8 Aug 17 7 Aug 22

Other employees 600 000 1.60 2.00 1.65 28 Feb 18 28 Feb 23

   8 000 000          
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 (CONTINUED)

DATE OF SAR GRANT 8 AUG 2017
(CEO SARs)

8 AUG 2017 28 FEB 2018

30. DIRECTOR AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Number of SARs granted 5 000 000 1 750 000 1 250 000
SAR award price (cents) 136 100 160
Share price at grant date (cents) 98 98 165
Share price at financial position date (cents) 165 165 165
Expected volatility expressed as % 49.36% 49.36% 49.36%
Expected life in years 5 5 5
Risk-free rate of return based vesting periods (%) 6.59% - 6.73% 6.59% - 6.73% 6.59% - 6.73%
Expected dividend yield (%) - - -
Fair Value per SAR in cents at measurement date 71.08 77.44 51.32

In terms of IFRS 2, liabilities relating to cash-settled share-based payments are adjusted to the fair value at financial 
position date. The estimated fair value of the SARs at the financial position date was calculated using the Black-Scholes 
model as set out below:

An amount of R 1.218 million has been expensed during the financial year in respect of these SARs.

2018
R ‘000

2017
R ‘000

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR EMOLUMENTS
P Langeni** 76 369
PC Botha* 107 275
GZ Steffens 107 403
C McDougall 107 387
TV Mokgatlha 143 397
S Masinga*** 59 -

599 1 831

*  Paid to Metier Investment and Advisory Services Proprietary Limited and its subsidiaries.
**  Resigned 2 October 2017.
*** Appointed 13 October 2017.

31. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
The Directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial period until the date of 
their report that would require an adjustment to or disclosure in the financial statements.
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BENEFICIAL 
DIRECT
R ‘000

NON-BENEFICIAL 
DIRECT
R ‘000

SHAREHOLDING
%

INTEREST IN SHARES AT 28 FEBRUARY 2017
PC Botha* - 40 440 479 34.41
M Diedloff 533 385 - 0.39
S Ratlhagane - - -

533 385 40 440 479 30.32

NET PURCHASES FROM 1 MARCH 2017 TO 28 FEBRUARY 2018
PC Botha* - - -
M Diedloff 11 718 635 - 10.03
S Ratlhagane 99 000 - 0.08

INTEREST IN SHARES AS AT 28 FEBRUARY 2018
PC Botha* - 40 440 479 34.41
M Diedloff** 12 252 020 - 10.42
S Ratlhagane 99 000 - 0.08

*  The shares held by PC Botha are held in his capacity as principal, trustee or Director of a number of entities including 
 the Lereko Metier Capital Growth Fund.

** M Diedloff acquired the following additional shares post 28 February 2018:
• 150 000 shares on 17 May 2018;
• 100 000 shares on 7 June 2018; and
• 100 000 shares on 8 June 2018.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
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Issued Share Capital: 117 535 232

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD
NO OF 

SHAREHOLDINGS %
NO OF

SHARES %

1 - 1 000 shares 291 43.89 111 106 0.09

1 001 - 10 000 shares 209 31.52 843 027 0.72

10 001 - 100 000 shares 105 15.84 3 424 861 2.91

100 001 - 1 000 000 shares 36 5.43 9 964 359 8.48

1 000 001 shares and over 22 3.32 103 191 879 87.80

Totals 663 100.00 117 535 232 100.00

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS
NO OF 

SHAREHOLDINGS %
NO OF

SHARES %

Banks/Brokers 5 0.75 2 507 245 2.13

Close Corporations 13 1.96 136 222 0.12

Endowment Funds 2 0.30 16 698 0.01

Individuals 543 81.90 26 721 887 22.74

Insurance Companies 2 0.30 203 198 0.17

Mutual Funds 25 3.77 38 771 019 32.99

Other Corporations 4 0.60 6 860 0.01

Private Companies 16 2.41 1 136 725 0.97

Private Equity 4 0.60 40 430 479 34.40

Retirement Funds 13 1.96 6 748 728 5.74

Trusts 36 5.43 856 171 0.73

Totals 663 100.00 117 535 232 100.00

PUBLIC / NON-PUBLIC SHAREHOLDERS
NO OF 

SHAREHOLDINGS %
NO OF

SHARES %

Non-Public Shareholders 8 1.21 52 791 499 44.92

Directors and Associates of the Company Holdings 4 0.60 12 361 020 10.52

Strategic Holdings (more than 10%) 4 0.60 40 430 479 34.40

Public Shareholders 655 98.79 64 743 733 55.08

Totals 663 100.00 117 535 232 100.00

BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS HOLDING 3% OR MORE
NO OF

SHARES %

Lereko Metier Capital Growth Fund 40 430 479 34.40

Diedloff, M 12 252 020 10.42

Steyn Capital Management 9 742 401 8.29

MMI Holdings Ltd 7 439 575 6.33

Element Investment Managers 6 862 033 5.84

Nedbank Group 4 786 555 4.07

Citadel 3 935 976 3.35

Totals 85 449 039 72.70

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDERS
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SHAREHOLDERS’ DIARY

FEBRUARY Financial year ended 28 February 2018

MAY Preliminary results announcement for the year ended 28 February 2018 on 2 May 2018

JUNE Integrated Annual Report published

AUGUST Annual General Meeting 15 August 2018

SEPTEMBER Interim results announcement for the six months ending 31 August 2018
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NOTICE OF 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
For the year ended 28 February 2018

Master Plastics Limited
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
Registration Number: 2016/323930/06
JSE share code: MAP
ISIN: ZAE 000242921
(“the Company” or “the Group”)

Notice is hereby given to the shareholders of the 
Company (“Shareholders”) that the Annual General 
Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company will be held at the 
registered offices of the Company, 3rd Floor, 1410 Eglin 
Office Park, 14 Eglin Road, Sunninghill, Johannesburg, on 
Wednesday, 15 August 2018 at 10:00, to deal with such 
business as may lawfully be dealt with at the meeting 
and to consider and, if deemed fit, pass, with or without 
modification, the ordinary and special resolutions set out 
hereunder in the manner required by the Companies Act, 
No 71 of 2008, as amended (“the Companies Act”), as read 
with the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (“the 
JSE Listings Requirements”).

RECORD DATE

The record date in terms of section 59 of the Companies 
Act for Shareholders to be recorded on the securities 
register of the Company to be able to attend, participate 
in and vote at the AGM is Friday, 10 August 2018. 
Accordingly, the last day for Shareholders to trade in 
order to be able to attend, participate in and vote at 
the AGM is Tuesday, 7 August 2018. The record date for 
Shareholders to be entitled to receive the notice of AGM 
is Friday, 22 June 2018.

ELECTRONIC PARTICIPATION

Shareholders or their proxies may participate in the AGM 
by way of a teleconference call, provided that if they 
wish to do so they must notify the Company Secretary in 
writing by email at salomer@masterplasticsgroup.com
by no later than 10:00 on Wednesday, 8 August 2018 
stating that they wish to participate in the teleconference 
call and request to be issued with a pin number and 
dial-in details for that conference call.

Shareholders or their proxies making use of the 
teleconference call, will not be able to vote during the 
AGM, and the relevant Shareholders will still have to 
appoint one or more proxies to vote on their behalf at 
the AGM or attend in person for voting.

Shareholders or their proxies wishing to participate in 
this manner are reminded that they will be separately 
billed by their respective telephone service providers.

IDENTIFICATION

In terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act, any 
person attending or participating (including by way of 
proxy electronic participation) in the AGM must present 
reasonably satisfactory identification and the person 
presiding at the AGM must be reasonably satisfied that 
the right of any person to participate in and vote at 
the AGM (whether as a Shareholder or as proxy for a 
Shareholder) has been reasonably verified.

A green bar-coded identification document or a bar-
coded identification smart card, issued by the South 
African Department of Home Affairs, a South African 
driving license or a valid passport will be accepted as 
sufficient identification.

VENUE, DATE AND TIME

Please take note that the AGM will be held at the 
registered offices of the Company, 3rd Floor, 1410 Eglin 
Office Park, 14 Eglin Road, Sunninghill, Johannesburg, on 
Wednesday, 15 August 2018 at 10:00.

AGENDA

1. ORDINARY BUSINESS

1.1 Presentation of financial statements

The consolidated annual financial statements of the 
Company and its subsidiaries (“AFS”), together with the 
Independent Auditors’ Report, a Report by the Company’s 
Audit Committee and the Directors’ Report for the 
financial year ended 28 February 2018, are presented to 
the Shareholders for their consideration.

1.2 Other ordinary business

Apart from the presentation to the Shareholders of the 
AFS and other documents referred to in paragraph 1.1, the 
purpose of this AGM is for the Shareholders to:

1.2.1  consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or 
  without modification, the following ordinary
  and special resolutions in accordance with the 
  requirements of the Companies Act, the JSE 
  Listings Requirements and the Company’s 
  Memorandum of Incorporation (“MOI”); and 
1.2.2  to consider any and all matters of the Company 
  as may lawfully be dealt with at the AGM.

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

2. ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS 1 – RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Resolved that, the re-election of the following Directors 
who retire in terms of the MOI, but being eligible and 
offering themselves for re-election, be authorised and 
confirmed by a separate vote for each re-election:
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Ordinary resolution 1.1

Paul Botha, a Non-Executive Director who retires by 
rotation in terms of the MOI and being eligible, offers 
himself for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as a 
Director of the Company; and 

Ordinary resolution 1.2

Craig McDougall, an Independent Non-Executive Director 
who retires by rotation in terms of the MOI and being 
eligible, who offers himself for re-election, be and is 
hereby re-elected as a Director of the Company.

The MOI provides that one third of the Company’s 
Directors (or if their number is not three or a multiple of 
three, the number nearest to one third, but not less than 
one third) shall retire from office at each AGM, provided 
that if a Director is appointed as an Executive Director or 
as an employee of the Company in any other capacity, 
he or she shall not (i) be subject to retirement by rotation; 
and (ii) be taken into account in determining the rotation 
or retirement of Directors. The above-mentioned Non-
Executive Directors duly retire in accordance with the 
provisions of the MOI.

A brief CV of each of the Directors offering themselves for 
re-election in terms of ordinary resolution 1 appears on 
pages 22 to 23 of the Integrated Annual Report.

The performance and contribution of each of the 
Directors offering themselves for re-election has been 
reviewed by the Board of Directors of the Company 
(“the Board”), which recommends that each of these 
Directors be re-elected.

Approval 

The percentage of voting rights required for each of the 
ordinary resolutions 1.1 and 1.2 to be adopted is more than 
50% of the voting rights exercised on those resolutions.

3. ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS 2 – APPOINTMENT OF THE 
 MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

Resolved that, the following Independent Non-Executive 
Directors be individually elected as members of the 
Company’s Audit Committee until conclusion of the next 
AGM. The Board has reviewed the proposed composition 
of the Audit Committee against sections 94(2) and 94(4) 
of the Companies Act and against the King IV Report 
on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2016 (“King 
IV“)and is satisfied that the Directors recommended 
for election meet the requirements and therefore 
recommends the appointment of these members. 

It is resolved, as ordinary resolutions, that:

Ordinary resolution 2.1 

the appointment of Sibongile Masinga as Chairperson and a 
member of the Audit Committee, be and is hereby confirmed;

Ordinary resolution 2.2

the appointment of Günter Steffens as a member of the 
Audit Committee, be and is hereby confirmed; and 

Ordinary resolution 2.3 

the appointment of Craig McDougall as a member of the 
Audit Committee, be and is hereby confirmed.

Additional information 

An abbreviated CV of each of the above-mentioned 
individuals appears on pages 22 to 23 of the Integrated 
Annual Report.

Approval

The percentage of voting rights required for each of the 
ordinary resolutions 2.1 to 2.3 to be adopted is more than 
50% of the voting rights exercised on those resolutions.

4. ORDINARY RESOLUTION 3 – RE-APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS

Resolved that, Grant Thornton Johannesburg Partnership 
(Chartered Accountants) be appointed as auditors of the 
Company until the next AGM.

The Audit Committee is satisfied that Grant Thornton 
Johannesburg Partnership (Chartered Accountants) and 
the individual designated auditor, Mr Rudi Huiskamp are 
accredited as such on the JSE list of auditors.

The Audit Committee has concluded that the appointment 
of Grant Thornton Johannesburg Partnership Johannesburg 
(Chartered Accountants) as the Company’s auditors will 
comply with the requirements of section 90 of the Companies 
Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, and accordingly 
recommends Grant Thornton Johannesburg Partnership 
(Chartered Accountants) and Mr Rudi Huiskamp for re-
appointment as auditors of the Company until the next AGM.

Approval 

The percentage of voting rights required for ordinary 
resolution 3 to be adopted is more than 50% of the voting 
rights exercised on this resolution.

5. ORDINARY RESOLUTION 4 – SIGNATURE OF DOCUMENTS

Resolved that, each Director of the Company be and 
is hereby individually authorised to sign all such 
documents and do all such things as may be necessary 
for or incidental to the implementation of those resolutions 
to be proposed, considered and passed at the AGM.



98    |    MASTER PLASTICS  INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Approval

The percentage of voting rights required for this ordinary 
resolution 4 to be adopted is more than 50% of the voting 
rights exercised on this resolution.

6. ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS 5 - NON-BINDING ADVISORY 
 ENDORSEMENT OF THE COMPANY’S REMUNERATION 
 POLICY AND IMPLEMENTATION REPORT 

Shareholders are required to consider and vote on the 
resolutions as set out below, in the manner required by 
the JSE Listings Requirements as read with King IV.

6.1 Ordinary resolution 5.1 - Endorsement of the 
 Company’s remuneration policy

Resolved that the remuneration policy; as set out on 
pages 35 to 38 of this Integrated Annual Report, be and is 
hereby endorsed through a non-binding advisory vote, as 
recommended in terms of King IV.

6.2 Ordinary resolution 5.2 - Endorsement of the 
 Company’s implementation report

Resolved that the implementation report of the Company, 
as set out on pages 39 to 41 of this Integrated Annual 
Report, be and is hereby endorsed through a non-binding 
advisory vote as recommended in terms of King IV.

Reason for advisory endorsement 

In terms of King IV and the JSE Listings Requirements, 
the Company’s remuneration policy and implementation 
report should be tabled to Shareholders for separate 
non-binding advisory votes at the AGM. Failure to 
pass this resolution will not have legal consequences 
relating to existing arrangements. However, the Board 
will take the outcome of the vote into consideration 
when assessing the Company’s remuneration policy and 
implementation report. 

Shareholders are accordingly requested to endorse the 
Company’s renumeration policy and implementation 
report as set out on pages 35 to 41 respectively of this 
Integrated Annual Report.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

7. SPECIAL RESOLUTION 1 – GENERAL APPROVAL 
 TO ACQUIRE ORDINARY SHARES

Resolved, as a special resolution, that the Company and/or 
any of its subsidiaries from time to time, be and are hereby 
authorised to acquire ordinary shares in the Company 
in terms of sections 46 and 48 of the Companies Act, the 
MOI and the JSE Listings Requirements.

Explanatory note

The purpose of this special resolution number 1 is to 
obtain an authority for, and to authorise, the Company 
and the Company’s subsidiaries, by way of a general 
authority, to acquire the Company’s issued ordinary shares.

JSE Listings Requirements

The JSE Listings Requirements currently provide, 
inter alia, that:

i. the acquisition of the ordinary shares must be 
 effected through the order book operated by 
 the JSE trading system and done without any prior 
 understanding or arrangement between the 
 Company and the counter party;
ii. this general authority shall only be valid until the 
 earlier of the Company’s next AGM or the expiry of 
 a period of 15 (fifteen) months from the date of 
 passing of this special resolution;
iii. in determining the price at which the Company’s 
 ordinary shares are acquired in terms of this general 
 authority, the maximum premium at which such 
 ordinary shares may be acquired will be 10% (ten 
 percent) of the weighted average of the market value 
 at which such ordinary shares are traded on 
 the JSE, as determined over the 5 (five) business 
 days immediately preceding the date on which the 
 transaction is effected;
iv. at any point in time, the Company may only appoint 
 one agent to effect any acquisition/s on its behalf;
v. the acquisitions of ordinary shares in the aggregate 
 in any one financial year may not exceed 20% (twenty 
 percent) of the Company’s issued ordinary shares;
vi. the Company may only effect the repurchase once 
 a resolution has been passed by the Board 
 confirming that the Board has authorised the 
 repurchase, that the Company and its subsidiaries 
 have passed the solvency and liquidity test set out in 
 section 4 of the Companies Act (“Solvency and 
 Liquidity Test”) and that, since the Solvency and 
 Liquidity Test was done, there have been no material 
 changes to the financial position of any company of 
 the Group;
vii. the Company or its subsidiaries may not repurchase 
 securities during a prohibited period as defined in 
 paragraph 3.67 of the JSE Listings Requirements 
 unless they have in place a repurchase programme 
 where the dates and quantities of securities to be 
 traded during the relevant period are fixed (not 
 subject to any variation) and has been submitted 
 to the JSE in writing prior to the commencement of 
 the prohibited period; and
viii. an announcement will be published once the 
 Company has cumulatively repurchased 3% (three 
 percent) of the number of the ordinary shares in issue 
 at the time this general authority is granted (“initial 
 number”), and for each 3% (three percent) in 
 aggregate of the initial number acquired thereafter.
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Disclosure in terms of paragraph 11.26 of the 
JSE Listings Requirements

The JSE Listings Requirements require the following 
disclosure, which is contained in the Company’s Integrated 
Annual Report to which this notice of AGM forms part:

i. major Shareholders of the Company – on page 94 
 of the Integrated Annual Report; and
ii. share capital of the Company – on pages 79 to 80 
 of the Integrated Annual Report.

Material change

The Board records that, save as set out in the Integrated 
Annual Report, there have been no material changes in 
the affairs or financial position of the Company and its 
subsidiaries since the Company’s financial year-end and 
the date of this notice of AGM.

Directors’ responsibility statement

The Directors, whose names are given on page 42 of the 
Integrated Annual Report, collectively and individually 
accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the 
information pertaining to special resolution number 1
and certify that to the best of their knowledge and 
belief there are no facts in relation to special resolution 
number 1 that have been omitted which would make any 
statement in relation to special resolution number 1 false or 
misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain 
such facts have been made and that special resolution 
number 1 together with this notice of AGM contains 
all information required by law and the JSE Listings 
Requirements in relation to special resolution number 1.

Statement of intention

It is the intention of the Directors of the Company to use 
the general authority under special resolution 1 should 
prevailing circumstances (including tax dispensations 
and market conditions) in their opinion warrant it.

Adequacy of working capital

At the time that a repurchase contemplated in terms of 
the general authority under special resolution 1 is to take 
place, the Directors of the Company must ensure that 
the Company has satisfied the Solvency and Liquidity 
Test and, in addition, must in terms of the JSE Listings 
Requirements ensure that, after considering the effect of 
the maximum repurchase:

i. the Company and its subsidiaries will be able to, in 
 the ordinary course of business, pay its debts for a 
 period of 12 (twelve) months after the date of this 
 notice of AGM;

ii. the consolidated assets of the Company and 
 its subsidiaries, fairly valued in accordance with 
 International Financial Reporting Standards, will be in 
 excess of the consolidated liabilities of the Company 
 and its subsidiaries, fairly valued for a period of 12 
 (twelve) months after the date of this notice of AGM;
iii. the issued share capital and reserves of the Company 
 and its subsidiaries will be adequate for ordinary 
 business purposes for a period of 12 (twelve) months 
 after the date of this notice of AGM;
iv. the working capital of the Company and its 
 subsidiaries will be adequate for ordinary business 
 purposes for a period of 12 (twelve) months after the 
 date of this notice of AGM; and
v. a resolution by the Board that it will authorise the 
 repurchase, that the Company and its subsidiaries 
 will have passed the solvency and liquidity test and 
 that, since the test was performed, there have been 
 no material changes to the financial position of the 
 Company and its subsidiaries.

Approval

The percentage of voting rights required for special 
resolution number 1 to be adopted is at least 75% of the 
voting rights exercised on this resolution.

8. SPECIAL RESOLUTION 2 – APPROVAL OF 
 NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FEES

Resolved as special resolution 2, that in terms of section 
66(9) of the Companies Act, the following fees be 
approved as the basis for calculating the remuneration 
of the Non-Executive Directors of the Company for their 
services as Directors of the Company for the financial 
year ending 28 February 2019:

   Annual Director Fees
Chairman of the Board 210 000
Other members of the Board 131 250

The proposed fees are exclusive of VAT.

Additional information 

The fees payable to Non-Executive Directors are 
based on an annual fee irrespective of the number of 
meetings attended by such Directors, or the number of 
committees served.

Approval 

The percentage of voting rights required for special 
resolution 2 to be adopted is at least 75% of the voting 
rights exercised on this resolution.
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IMPORTANT NOTES REGARDING 
ATTENDANCE AT THE AGM

1. General

Shareholders wishing to attend the AGM have to ensure 
beforehand that their shares in the Company are in fact 
registered in their name with the transfer secretaries of 
the Company. 

2. Certificated shareholders and “own name” 
 dematerialised shareholders

2.1 Shareholders who have not dematerialised their 
 shares or who have dematerialised their shares with 
 “own name” registration are entitled to attend and 
 vote at the AGM and are entitled to appoint a proxy 
 or proxies to attend, speak and vote in their stead.
2.2 The person so appointed need not be a shareholder 
 of the Company. The form of proxy attached 
 to this notice of AGM must be dated and signed 
 by the Shareholder appointing a proxy and 
 forwarded to reach the Company Secretary 
 (salomer@masterplasticsgroup.com) by 10:00 on 
 Wednesday, 8 August 2018. Any form of proxy not 
 returned to the Company Secretary by the stipulated 
 time may be handed to the Chairperson of the AGM 
 any time before the appointed proxy exercises any of 
 the Shareholder rights of the AGM.
2.3 Before a proxy exercises any rights of a shareholder at 
 the AGM, such form of proxy must be so delivered.

3. Dematerialised shareholders other than with 
 “own name” registration

3.1 Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares, 
 other than those Shareholders who have 
 dematerialised their shares with “own name” 
 registration, should contact their Central Securities 
 Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker in the 
 manner and time stipulated in their agreement:
 3.1.1 to furnish them with their voting instructions; and
 3.1.2 in the event that they wish to attend the AGM, to 
   obtain the necessary authority to do so.

9. SPECIAL RESOLUTION 3 – APPROVAL OF GENERAL 
 AUTHORITY TO PROVIDE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 
 TO RELATED AND INTER-RELATED PARTIES 

Resolved that, as a special resolution, in terms of section 
45(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, the Shareholders 
hereby approve the Company providing, at any time 
and from time to time during the period of two years 
commencing on the date of this special resolution 3,
any direct or indirect financial assistance (which 
includes lending money, guaranteeing a loan or other 
obligation, and securing any debt or obligation) as 
contemplated in section 45(1) of the Companies Act to 
a Director or prescribed officer of the Company, or to a 
related or inter-related company or corporation of the 
Company (“related” and “inter-related” will herein have 
the meanings attributed to those terms in section 2 of 
the Companies Act), on such terms and conditions and 
for the amounts that the Board, or any one or more 
persons authorised by the Board from time to time for 
such purpose, deems fit, and subject to all statutory and 
regulatory requirements being met.

Additional information 

Generally, this special resolution is intended to provide a 
general authority to the Board to grant direct or indirect 
financial assistance to any company or corporation forming 
part of the Company’s group of companies, including in the 
form of loans or the guaranteeing of their debts.

The main purpose of this authority is to grant the Board 
the authority to provide inter-group loans and other 
financial assistance for purposes of funding the activities 
of the subsidiaries of the Company. In this regard, the 
Board undertakes that it will not adopt a resolution to 
authorise such financial assistance, unless the Directors 
are satisfied that:

• immediately after providing the financial assistance, 
 the Company would satisfy the Solvency and 
 Liquidity Test.
• the terms under which the financial assistance is 
 proposed to be given are fair and reasonable to 
 the Company; and
• written notice of any such resolution by the Board 
 shall be given to all shareholders of the Company 
 and any trade union representing its employees:
• within 10 business days after the Board adopts the 
 resolution, if the total value of the financial assistance 
 contemplated in that resolution, together with 
 any previous such resolution during the financial year, 
 exceeds 0.1% of the Company’s net worth as at the 
 date on which the resolution was passed; or

• within 30 business days after the end of the 
 applicable financial year, in any other case.

Approval 

The percentage of voting rights required for special 
resolution 3 to be adopted is at lease 75% of the voting 
rights exercised on this resolution.
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4. Voting

Voting will be by way of a poll and every Shareholder 
present, whether in person or represented by proxy, 
shall have one vote for every ordinary share held in the 
Company by such shareholder. Treasury shares, shares 
held by a share trust or scheme, and any unlisted 
securities, will not have their votes taken into account for 
any JSE regulated resolutions.

5. Summary of shareholder rights

5.1 In compliance with the provisions of section 58(8)
 (b)(i) of the Companies Act, a summary of the rights 
 of a shareholder to be represented by proxy, as 
 set out in section 58 of the Companies Act, is set out 
 immediately below.
5.2 A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM 
 may appoint any individual (or two or more 
 individuals) as a proxy or as proxies to attend, 
 participate in and vote at the AGM in the place of the 
 Shareholder. A proxy need not be a Shareholder.
5.3 A proxy appointment must be in writing, dated and 
 signed by the Shareholder appointing the proxy, and, 
 subject to the rights of a shareholder to revoke such 
 appointment (as set out below), remains valid only 
 until the end of the AGM.
5.4 A proxy may delegate the proxy’s authority to act on 
 behalf of a shareholder to another person, subject to 
 any restrictions set out in the instrument appointing 
 the proxy.
5.5 The appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time 
 and to the extent that the Shareholder who 
 appointed such proxy chooses to act directly and in 
 person in the exercise of any rights as a shareholder.
5.6 The appointment of a proxy is revocable by the 
 Shareholder in question by cancelling it in writing, 
 or making a later inconsistent appointment of a 
 proxy, and delivering a copy of the revocation 
 instrument to the proxy and to the Company. The 
 revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a 
 complete and final cancellation of the proxy’s 
 authority to act on behalf of the Shareholder as 
 of the later of:
 5.6.1 the date stated in the revocation instrument, 
   if any; and
 5.6.2 the date on which the revocation instrument 
   is delivered to the Company as required in the 
   first sentence of this paragraph 5.6.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

SALOME RATLHAGANE

Company Secretary

29 June 2018

TRANSFER SECRETARIES

Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited

Rosebank Towers

15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank

2196

5.7 If the instrument appointing the proxy or proxies 
 has/have been delivered to the Company, as long as 
 that appointment remains in effect, any notice that is 
 required by the Companies Act or the MOI to be 
 delivered by the Company to the Shareholder, must 
 be delivered by the Company to:
 5.7.1 the Shareholder; or
 5.7.2 the proxy or proxies, if the Shareholder has:
  5.7.2.1 directed the Company to do so in writing; and
  5.7.2.2 paid any reasonable fee charged by the 
    Company for doing so.

6. Notes to the form of proxy

Attention is also drawn to the notes to the form of proxy.
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FORM OF PROXY
For the year ended 28 February 2018

Master Plastics Limited
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
Registration Number: 2016/323930/06
JSE share code: MAP
ISIN: ZAE 000242921
(“the Company” or “the Group”)

This form of proxy is only for use by:
1. registered shareholders of the Company who have not yet dematerialised their shares in the Company; and
2. registered shareholders who have already dematerialised their shares in the Company and are registered 
 in their own names in the Company’s subregister.

For use by registered shareholders of the Company at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at the 
registered offices of the Company, 3rd Floor, 1410 Eglin Office Park, 14 Eglin Road, Sunninghill, Johannesburg, 
15 August 2018 at 10:00 (“the AGM”).

I/We (please print full names)

of (address) (contact number)

being the holder of ordinary shares in the Company, hereby appoint

1. or failing him/her,

2. or failing him/her,

3. the Chairman of the AGM,

Signed at                             on this                 day of 2018

Signature/s

Assisted by me (where applicable)

as my/our proxy to attend, speak and vote for me/us and on my/our behalf or to abstain from voting at the meeting or at 
any adjournment thereof, as follows:

Please indicate in the space below how you wish your votes to be cast by inserting the number of ordinary shares in the 
appropriate space. If you return this form duly signed, without any specific instructions, the proxy shall be entitled to vote 
as he/she thinks fit.

Insert the number of votes exercisable
(one vote per share)

For Against Abstain

Ordinary resolution number 1.1: Re-election of Director retiring by rotation – Paul Botha

Ordinary resolution number 1.2: Re-election of Director retiring by rotation – Craig McDougall

Ordinary resolution number 2.1: Appointment of the members of the 
Audit Committee – Sibongile Masinga

Ordinary resolution number 2.2: Appointment of the members of the 
Audit Committee – Günter Steffens

Ordinary resolution number 2.3: Appointment of the members of the 
Audit Committee – Craig McDougall

Ordinary resolution number 3: Re-appointment of external auditors

Ordinary resolution number 4: Signature of documents

Ordinary resolution number 5: Non-binding advisory endorsement of the Company’s 
remuneration policy and implementation report

Ordinary resolution 5.1: Endorsement of the Company’s remuneration policy

Ordinary resolution 5.2: Endorsement of the Company’s implementation report

Special Resolution 1: General approval to acquire ordinary shares

Special resolution 2: Approval of Non-Executive Director fees

Special resolution 3: Approval of general authority to provide financial assistance to related 
and inter-related parties
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Please read the notes to the form of proxy and 
instructions below:

1. Satisfactory identification must be presented by any 
 person wishing to attend the AGM, as set out in the 
 notice of AGM.
2. Every shareholder present in person or by proxy and 
 entitled to vote at the AGM of the Company shall, on 
 a poll, be entitled to one vote in respect of each 
 ordinary share in the Company held by the shareholder.
3. Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares in 
 the Company and are registered in their own names 
 are shareholders who appointed Computershare 
 Custodial Services as their CSDP with the express 
 instruction that their uncertificated shares are to 
 be registered in the electronic sub register of 
 shareholders in their own names.
4. Unless revoked, the appointment of proxy in terms 
 of this form of proxy in respect of the AGM shall 
 remain valid until the end of the AGM, even if the 
 AGM or a part thereof is postponed or adjourned, to 
 a date that is 2 (two) months after the date on when 
 it was signed. This form of proxy in respect of the 
 AGM shall not be used at the resumption of the AGM 
 (if adjourned), if it could not have been used at the 
 AGM from which the adjournment took place for any 
 reason other than that it was not lodged timeously 
 for the AGM from which the adjournment took place.
5. This form of proxy in respect of the AGM shall, in 
 addition to the authority granted under the 
 Companies Act, be deemed to confer the power 
 generally to act at the AGM, subject to the specific 
 direction as to the manner of voting in this form 
 of proxy in respect of the AGM or on separate written 
 instructions which accompany this form of proxy 
 in respect of the AGM. A proxy is therefore entitled to 
 exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting right 
 of the shareholder without direction, except to the 
 extent that the voting instructions are indicated on 
 the form of proxy in respect of the AGM or on separate 
 written instructions which accompany this form of 
 proxy in respect of the AGM.
6. The Chairperson of the AGM may reject or accept any 
 form of proxy in respect of the AGM which is 
 completed and/or received, other than in compliance 
 with these notes and instructions or with the MOI of 
 the Company, provided that the Chairperson is 
 satisfied as to the manner in which the shareholder 
 wishes to vote.

Instructions on signing and lodging the form of proxy:

1. A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the 
 names of two alternative proxies of the shareholder’s 
 choice in the space/s provided above, with or without 
 deleting “the Chairperson of the AGM”, but any such 
 deletion must be initialled by the shareholder. Should 
 this space be left blank, the Chairperson of the AGM 
 will exercise the proxy. The person whose name 
 appears first on the form of proxy and who is 
 present at the AGM will be entitled to act as proxy to 
 the exclusion of those whose names follow.
2. A shareholder’s voting instructions to the proxy must 
 be indicated by the insertion of the number of votes 
 exercisable by that shareholder in the appropriate 
 spaces provided. Failure to do so shall be deemed 
 to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from 
 voting at the AGM, as he/she thinks fit in respect of 
 all the shareholder’s exercisable votes. A shareholder 
 or his/her/its proxy is not obliged to use all the votes 
 exercisable by his/her/its proxy, but the total number 
 of votes cast, or those in respect of which abstention 
 is recorded, may not exceed the total number of votes 
 exercisable by the shareholder or by his/her/its proxy.
3. A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or 
 guardian unless the relevant documents establishing 
 his/her legal capacity are produced or have been 
 registered by the transfer secretaries..
4. To be valid, the completed form of proxy must be 
 lodged with the transfer secretaries of the Company, 
 Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, 
 Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 
 2196, South Africa, or posted to the transfer secretaries 
 at PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107, South Africa, 
 to be received by them by not later than 10:00 on 
 Wednesday, 8 August 2018. Any form of proxy not 
 received by this time must be handed to the 
 Chairperson of the AGM immediately prior to the AGM.
5. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of 
 a person signing this form of proxy in a representative 
 capacity must be attached to this form of proxy 
 unless previously recorded by the transfer secretaries 
 or waived by the Chairperson of the AGM.
6. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy shall 
 not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending 
 the AGM and speaking and voting in person thereat 
 to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms 
 hereof, should such shareholder wish to do so.
7. The completion of any blank spaces need not be 
 initialled. Any alterations or corrections to this form of 
 proxy must be initialled by the signatory/ies.
8. The Chairperson of the AGM may accept any form of 
 proxy which is completed other than in accordance 
 with these instructions, provided that he is satisfied as 
 to the manner in which a shareholder wishes to vote.

NOTES TO FORM OF PROXY
For the year ended 28 February 2018
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

MASTER PLASTICS LIMITED

(Previously K2016323930 (South Africa) Proprietary Limited)

Registration number:  2016/323930/06

Date of incorporation:  26 July 2016

Place of incorporation:  South Africa

Date of conversion to a public Company:  3 February 2017

COMPANY SECRETARY, REGISTERED OFFICE AND BUSINESS ADDRESS

Salome Ratlhagane (Bcom (Accounting) (Hons), CA(SA))

1410 Eglin Office Park, 14 Eglin Road, Sunninghill, Johannesburg, 2191, South Africa

CORPORATE ADVISOR AND DESIGNATED ADVISOR

Merchantec Proprietary Limited

(Registration number 2008/027362/07)

2nd Floor, North Block, Hyde Park Office Towers

Corner 6th Road and Jan Smuts Avenue

Hyde Park, 2196

(PO Box 41480, Craighall, 2024)

TRANSFER SECRETARIES

Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited

(Registration number 2004/003647/07) Rosebank Towers

15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 2196 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107)

INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANTS AND AUDITORS

Grant Thornton Johannesburg Partnership (Chartered Accountants)

Wanderers Office Park, 52 Corlett Dr, Illovo, Johannesburg, 2196

LEGAL ADVISOR

Webber Wentzel

90 Rivonia Road, Sandton, Johannesburg 2196

Website: www.masterplasticsgroup.com
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